


























= '. '/ s // /
e /f’(r/// f3 //// 7,«"4/«://,,

WEMAYNARID GOMM, G C.J1

Lonel or'the (/’/,’/»\'f//'_/'LI/‘// /r//;/,’"r/:)'



LETTERS AND JOURNALS

OoF

FIELD-MARSHAL

SIR WILLIAM MAYNARD GOMM, G.C.B.

COMMANDER-IN-CHIEF OF INDIA, CUONSTABLE OF THE TOWER OF LONDON

&e. &e.

FROM 1799 TO WATERLOO, 1§15

EDITED

By FRANCIS CULLING CARR-GOMM

H.M.'S MADRAS CIVIL SERVICE

¢ How youngly he began to serve his country .
How long continued’ CORIOLANUS

With Portraits

LONDON
JOHN MURRAY, ALBEMARLE STREET
1881

All rights reserved















(8] Preface.

under five, a few weeks after joining his regiment, in the bloody
engagement with the French among the sand dunes of Holland.
The same coolness and courage carried him through every
campaign, almost every battle of the war, from the Helder,
Walcheren, and Corunna, to Torres Vedras, Bayonne, and
Woaterloo, all of which are more or less fully described in
these pages.

My own part in this compilation as editor has been but
small. My chief difficulty has been selection. I have intro-
duced words of my own only when 1 feared the continuity of
{he narrative might be spoilt without a few connecting links.
The history of the great war is so well written by historians,
and so intimately known to every intelligent Englishman, and
especially to every soldier, that little more than a few touches
scem necessary to recall the whole subject to the reader, so
as to obviate the necessity of refreshing the memory by taking
down the history from the shelf.

1 am indebted for these letters, and the excellent preser-
vation in which I find them, to two loving women who took
complete charge of them at the earlier and later part of the
honoured writer’s life. First to her to whom most of them
were originally addressed, and who preserved, copied, and
docketed them with all a sister’s pride and love; and secondly
to her to whom those old yellow bundles, well known and often
talked about during forty-five years of wedded life, seemed the
most sacred and precious of manuscripts, since they told how he
had won his spurs in the years before they met. From her
they have now passed to other hands, in which they are esteemed
a sacred trust, and are valued for their own intrinsic merit. I
hope and believe they will be similarly valued by the public.

F. C. Carr-Goxm.
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LETTERS AND JOURNALS

OF

SIR WILLIAM MAYNARD GOMM.

CHAPTER 1L

INTRODUCTORY,

Tue Lire of Sir William Gomm covered ninety years; his
public and active life commenced at an age when most boys
are leaving a private and entering a public school, and that
life continued to be not only active but public for three
quarters of a century.

It may be divided into four distinct periods, each of about
twenty years:— _

I. From 1799 to 1816, a purely active military life in the
great war against France in Holland, Portugal, Spain, and
Belgium ; of which period I will speak more in detail here-
after.

I1. From 1817 to 1839, home military life; when he
advanced from the rank of lieutenant-colonel in the Coldstream
Guards to that of major-general. It was during this period that
he married—first, Sophia Penn, the granddaughter of William
Penn, of Pennsylvania, who died in 1827 ; and, secondly,
Elizabeth Kerr, the eldest daughter of Lord Robert Kerr, who,
after forty-five years of wedded life, during which husband
and wife were hardly for a day separated, survived him only
two years. He had no issue by either of these marriages.

B
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During this period he lost the protectors of his yout.h—viz.
his cot:xsin, the Rev. W. Gomm, of Bramdean, and his aunt,
Miss Gomm, who had supplied to him the place of the parents
that he had lost in infancy. Owing to the death of his
brother and sister, he succeeded to all his aunt’s property upon
her death in 1822, and became lord of the Manor of Rother-
hithe, inheriting a property which had come through the
Goldsworthys, with whom the earlier part of his life was
so intimately associated. During this period of his life he
travelled in different parts of Europe, devoting a considerable
portion of his spare time to literature. )

III. From 1839 to 1856, colonial administrative life.
From 1839 to 1842 he held the chief command and was
Member of Council at Jamaica, during the Administration of
Sir Charles Metcalfe. During the short time he filled that
post, by his urgent representations to the Colonial Office he
succeeded in establishing the mountain barrack of Newcastle;
which, from the salubrity of its situation, led to a wonderful
improvement in the health of the European troops. For
nearly a quarter of a century a succession of British regiments
enjoyed there an absolute immunity from yellow fever. Sub-
sequently the charm seemed broken, and the- troops at
Newcastle became as liable to the scourge as if they had been
dwelling in the plains; a calamity which was brought about
solely by a cruel neglect of most obvious sanitary precautions.
On his return in the spring of 1842 he was gazetted to the
command of the Northern District; but in November of the
same year he was appointed Governor and Commander-in-
Chief in Mauritius, in the place of Sir Lionel Smith, Bart.,
which appointment he held till 1849. The seven years of
his administration of the island were chiefly marked by great
financial difficulties, caused by the utter destitution of the
labour market and a most unsound system of banking. In
dealing with these difficulties the Governor was well sup-
ported by the loyal co-operation of the servants of the Crrown
but he. was much opposed by the unofficial members of the
Council. When he resigned office the verdict of the Lords of
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the Treasury at home was, that he had deserved credit for
bis proceedings in carrying into effect the instructions he had
received for disengaging the Mauritius Government from the
transactions and responsibilities of the banks in which the
Colonial Treasury and Funds had been implicated by his pre-
decessors in the administration of the Government.” He pro-
ceeded from Mauritius to Calcutta, having received from
the Horse Guards the intimation that her Majesty had been
pleased to appoint him Commander-in-Chief in India. On
arrival at Calcutta on June 2, he found that—owing to the
panic at home, which resulted from the second Sikh War and
the battles of Chillianwallah and Goojerat, and to the jealousy
of the Court of Directors of the direct patronage by the
Crown—his appointment from the Horse Guards had been
superseded, and that Sir Charles Napier had just arrived in
Calcutta before him as Commander-in-Chief, and had at once
proceeded to the Punjab, Sir William found at Calcutta
ample explanations from the Duke of Wellington and I.ord
Fitzroy Somerset.! His disappointment was heightened by

! Such a bitter disappointment can have rarely befallen any man. He left
Mauritius with her Majesty’s orders in his hands, appointing him to the highest
military command out of England, and his journal on the long sea voyage shows
with what delight he looked forward to such a congenial sphere. He had no idea
of his supersession until the vessel was in the Hooghly. How he met the blow
may be seen from a memorandum found in his handwriting, dated Calcutta,
July 1849.

¢ Others may have had, and I doubt not had, better reasons than myself for
regarding this matter chiefly in its private bearings, and as it affected them-
selves. I have the satisfaction of recording that from the first the publicconsidera-
tion was not only uppermost but paramount and all-controlling with me. I saw
myself, the youngest Lieutenant-General in the army, advanced impromptu and
most unexpectedly by myself—since two geperal officers, my seniors, and consider-
ably so, were already holding stations in India—to the highest military trust
which it is in the power of the sovereign to confer. But an emergency had sud-
denly arisen, or was believed to have arisen,in which if the services of distin-
guished military prowess already given proof of could be at once obtained, the
ministry would be unpardonable, I thought, which should hesitate for a moment
to apply them, to the quashing of all other dispositions on foot, and the more
inexcusable in proportion to the magnitude of the successes already obtained
through the exercise of such powers, and the firmness of hold thus fastened upon
public opinion. Such an opportunity presented itself most prominently in the
person of Sir Charles Napier, and India had been the very scene of his successes.

B2
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the serious illness of Lady Gomm, contracted, it was supposed,
while nursing a sick friend. It was not till SePtember that
they were able to leave Calcutta ; they .remamefi for two
months the guests of Lord and Lady Torrington, 1n Cey{on,
and arrived in England in January 1850. In the following
August he was appointed Commander-in-Chief of Bombay ;
but on the eve of starting was appointed to the chief command,
owing to Sir Charles Napier suddenly resigning his command,
in consequence of differences between himself and Lord
Dalhousie. On December 6, he landed in Calcutta, and was
<worn in as Member of Council and Commander-in-Chief. The
five years of his military command in India were comparatively
uneventful, a calm occurring between the Sikh War and the
great Mutiny of 1857 ; and that calm was hardly ruffled by
the distant storm which was raging during two of those years
on the shores of the Baltic and Black Seas: a suggestive
thought for us who have seen in our own day how even a

Could I have descended to the private consideration, even in the first moments of
my acquaintance with my disappointment, I might have found consolation in the
fact of my supersessor being considerably my senior in the army, and as such
entitled to the preference in limine, although this would afford, of course, no
adequate satisfaction for the cancelling, under ordinary circumstances, of my
appointment once conferred. Au reste, it was notorious that Napier's quarrel with
the Court of Directors had been the only bar to his appointment, in the ordinary
course, in succession to Lord Gough, an obstraction which the panic of the hour at
once swept away. (Signed) ‘W. M. Gomm.”
Here, if anywhere, is a proof that the metal tried in this fire was gold. This
was genuine loyalty, a rarer virtue than is sometimes thought. It was at one time
asserted that it was the Duke himself who had sent out Napier. ‘If you do not
go, sir, I must,’ was said to have been the sententious compliment by which the
Prince of Waterloo overpersnaded the reluctant Napier to go. This now is aec-
knowledged to be pure fiction. The Duke was not frightened by Chillianwallah ;
he himself publicly declared that he was frightened neither for India nor fox,'
India’s heroic army, for its safety or its laurels; and that he never doubted the
next intelligence would bring tidings of brilliant triumph and glorious success
The Duke of Wellington believed Sir William Gomm quite fit for the exigenc; :
competent to deal with its complications and to terminate its crisis. Had he begr;
left to himself he would not have superseded Sir William Gomm in the command
to wlfich he had been named, but he was overruled. Agquam memento rebus in
arduis servare mentem is an old piece of advice, but it is few who can follow it
The Duke did when the news of Chillianwallah staggered England. Sir Willia :
Gomm did when the news of his supersession was his welcome to C;alcutta. .
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threatened rupture with Russia will now throw our Indian
borders into disorder. The cordial relations which existed
between the civil and military authorities of that period were
due as much to the wise kindheartedness of the Commander-
in-Chief as to his intimate personal friendship with Lord
Dalhousie. Commenting upon this in a review of his life,
one of the leading London journals in 1875 wrote: ¢ Sir
‘William Gomm’s work was always thoroughly and smoothly
done, and he had no enemies. The great proof of a person’s
real worth is to be found in the attachment of those brought
into private intercourse with him. Now, all Sir William’s
associates, especially those who at various times constituted
his military family, loved and respected him. In India, where
he succceded the eccentric, impetuous, and prejudiced genius,
Sir Charles Napier—who held that every one who was not his
partisan was either a fool or a knave, preferably the latter,
and most probably both—-Sir William was extremely popular,
and his popularity was much promoted by his wife, who pre-
sided over society with much grace and perfect success. None
save those who have been in India can realise the fact that
the purity and refinement of Anglo-Indian society depend
greatly on the qualities of the lady who is at the head of it.
At Simla, especially, personal influence and example work
wonders; and never was the society of the Capua of India
i so healthy a state as when it was presided over by Lady
Gomm. IHer social, moral, and mental qualities admirably
fitted her for the position which she assumed when her friend
Lady Dalhousie, after a short stay in India, returned home-
wards, only to die on the passage; and many an old Indian
looks back with affectionate recollection to the time when
Lady Gomm was the centre and queen of the society in the
beautiful British settlement in the Himalayas.’

1V. From 1856 to 1875. Dignified and honoured old age.
During this period he resided either at his cottage in Bram-
dean, Hampshire, or at Brunswick Terrace, Brighton, or at
his house at Spring Gardens, looking into St. James’s Park.

In 1863 he succeeded Lord Clyde as Colonel of the Cold-
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stream Guards, the regiment to which he had been transferred
from the 9th half a century before for distinguished service
through the Peninsular war. OnJanuary 1, 1868, he received
his baton as Field-Marshal, and on the death of Sir John
Burgoyne in 1871 he was appointed Constable of the Tower.
He quietly rested from his long and arduous services on
March 15, 1875, in the ninety-first year of his age, after
eighty years passed in the service of his country.

Of the public estimation in which he was held, no further
comment would seem necessary than the above enumeration of
the distinguished positions for which he was selected, and in
all of which he achieved a success which, being quiet rather
than brilliant, was the more concordant with his simple but
manly character. One or two incidents, however, may here
be added. In notifying to Sir William his appointment, with
the sanction of her Majesty, as Constable of the Tower, Mr.
Gladstone writes that < his motive in making this proposal is to
secure for a post of honour the name best qualified by service
and distinetion to adorn it.’

The following memorandum, in Lady Gomm’s handwriting,
13 the record of a distinguished compliment paid to him on the
occasion of the Emperor of Russia’s visit in 1874 :—

¢ Sir Charles Ellice sat next me at dinner yesterday. I
was pleased at the way he described to me the scene at the
Duke of Cambridge’s table last May, of which, oddly enough,
T'had not heard any account, exeept from Sir William and
Prinee Teck; although the Duke of Cambridge told me how
gratifying it was to him that it had happened at his table. Tt
seems there are never any speeches on these occasions. The
Duke gave the Emperor of Russia’s health standing. The
‘]“];‘n}f)eror gave the Queen’s, He the'n stood up and proposed

e Peninsular hero present, the Field-Marshal.” All seem
tf) have been taken by surprise, no one more so than Sir Wil-
liam himself, who was seated between Prince Teck and Sir
Charles E.llice. He did the right thing ; in the most digni-
fied and‘smple manner, he got up and bowed most gratefully
to the Czar, and then to the Duke of Cambridge. Sir Charles
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Ellice spoke of it quite with emotion, and considered that
every one present felt gratified by the compliment to the oldest
soldier in the army. The Emperor of Russia afterwards sent
Sir William the Order of St. Vladimir, which, however, the
rule of our service does not permit him to wear. He has the
Order of St. Ann (also Russian), and Lord Derby offered to
exchange, through the two Governments, the Vladimir for
the highest order or class (Grand Cross) of St. Ann’s, but Sir
William said he would prefer to retain in its present form the
St. Ann, which he received at Waterloo under peculiar cir-
cumstances, with a little band who are now no more, and to
retain the Vladimir, though not permitted to wear it, as a
personal compliment from the present Czar.’

Thus, having attained the highest honours possible in the
army, esteemed and beloved by all who knew him, from the
chief over whose military education he had been once selected
to preside, to the private of the Coldstreams, who was glad to
salute as his colonel the veteran whose breast was covered
with medals of the battles most famous in his country’s history,
and from the monarch, whose privileged and trusted servant he
had been throughout her long reign, to his humblest tenant at .
Rotherhithe, where his charities and good deeds were broadcast,
he ended in perfect peace a life whose boyhood and early man-
hood had been passed in such Titanic war.

To quote again from the essayist mentioned above, who
evidently knew him intimately : ¢ In appearance Sir William
Gomm was short and slight, but though slight he was wiry,
and-preserved his bodily and mental activity almost to the last.
When nearly ninety he worked as briskly as many men of
threescore, while the clearness of his intellect seemed to be
unaffected by the lapse of years. The chief sign of age was
his deafness, which prevented him taking so active a part in
conversation as both he and his friends would have liked.
Sir William, though he never appeared before the public as
an author, was from his earliest youth up fond of literature ;
wrote several pieces of poetry of more than average merit, and
possessed a most cultivated and refined mind. His passion for
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music was extreme, and he may indeed be descril.)ed as a
thoroughly accomplished English gentleman: _In dlSpOS-ItIOIl
he was genial, polished, and kindhearted, and his circle of friends
comprised every one who had known the good old man. It
would be an exaggeration to pretend that he was an eminent
general, or that his abilities were of the highest class. In no
one office that he held did he leave the mark of genius; but
geniuses frequently do less good work than a conscientious
modest man of experience, common-sense, good abilities, and
diligence. Such a man was Sir William Gomm.’

His love of reading was great, and his note-books abound
in abstracts and in criticisms on the books which he read.
These books were generally the best, and were carefully
studied ; for instance, during the course of the summer of 1855,
at Simla, he read Grote’s ¢ History of Greece,” and his
elaborate résumé and intelligent criticism of the whole show
that it was made a real study. Nor were lighter books dis-
regarded. His love of Homer was lifelong; the follow-
ing note was found in his handwriting, dated 1871:—¢ Early
in 1794, the undersigned, then ten years of age, was first
down in the breakfast-room one morning, and spying his
father’s favourite volume of Pope’s ¢ Homer” high up on the
mantelpiece above him, he drew a chair and climbing up
reached it, and drank in for the first time the story of the
death of Hector before interruption arrived, and never left his
hold of the Iliad from that day to this, consigning over ¢ Sand-
ford and Merton,” then just out, for the scrutiny of other
tastes.” This love of Homer was all-pervading, and creeps out
in his early letters from the battle-fields of Spain, and in his
writings and diaries all through his life.

As stated above, his love of music was intense. His
diaries are full of musical notes, and it was fortunate that the
deafness, which alone marked the decay of his physical powers,
did not, up to the last, affect his musical enjoyment. In his
diary, at the end of 1855, when, after his five years’ command
in India, he was looking forward to what he ealled his ¢ Ticket
of Leave, he writes: ¢ Dear England, shall T again hear the
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revel of thy woodlands? Alas! my poor ears are growing
very unworthy of it all ; but not of the harmonies and thunder-
music of thy great Concert Halls; the temples of Handel and
Mendelssohn ; nor of the great choirs that might well call down
the seraphim to listen.” His love of music was strong to the
very end. A week or two before his death, his niece (now
Mrs. Carr-Gomm) mentioned that she was going to hear the
¢ Messiah.” He at once brightened up at the name of the
oratorio, sent for the book, sat up in bed, and, turning over
its pages, hummed over with strong voice many of his favourite
airs, and spoke with delight of the beauties of different pas-
sages. Many will recollect seeing at the Exeter Hall Sacred
Harmonic réunions the handsome and happy face of the gallant
veteran who for years was their constant attendant.

No notice of either Sir William or of Lady Gomm
would be complete which did not mention their great love of
animals. To their last days every anecdote of wonderful
animal sagacity or instinct was eagerly treasured up. From
his early years, when first a mounted officer in the Peninsular
war, to his latest days, his attachment to his horses was heart-
felt. With no ordinary love does he speak of his little ¢ Phan-
tom,” who carried him like lightning over the field of Vittoria ;
of ¢ George,” who carried him at Quatrebras and Waterloo,
and spent a green old age in Stoke Park, where he was
buried with honour at the ripe age of thirty-two ; and of all the
horses which formed an integral part of his family wherever
he was.

The following extract from bis diary in 1856, when leaving
India, speaks for itself. He is writing of the sorrow of say-
ing farewell to all his old servants. ¢ And then our horses—
oh! our horses; dear “ Fatty,” my favourite bearer of more
than twelve years, and friend for more than fourteen, too old
to risk his taking home, though hale and hearty, with much of the
colt about him still, made over to General Johnstone, worthily
bestowed in every sense; his title is to be raised in importance
to that of “The Chief.” Honest and showy little ¢ Rosy,”
George Berkeley’s present to Elizabeth on leaving India,
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made over also into good hands. ¢ Gholdb Sing,” the prince of
ponies, and Burmese Woonghee ” happily provided for too;
but all how reluctantly parted from! And would we could close
the catalogue of regretted ones here! Our four horses that we
intended taking home, the three pet Arabs, < Simkin,” ¢ Pekin,”
and * Bedouin,” and “ Momus” (dear Momus !), were led doyn
this morning to the Raj Ghat for passing on board the steam
vessel that was to take us. Before we arrived some grievousmis-
management occurred. The Arabs passed each in turn over
the too negligently pr0v1ded causeway of loose planks extended
between shore and boat, with their wonted docility. But not
so our precious “ Momus.” The unsteady motion of the planks
beneath him, the vibration, increased, perhaps, by his heavier
weight, alarmed him ; he hesitated in mid-passage, and would
have turned back. His hind-quarters dropped instantly over
the plank edge, and he was precipitated, disappearing. for
moments in the depth of water running along the low sand
cliff bordering the river, his head presently raised by the Syce
who kept hold of the halter, and the noble creature was hauled
to land in sore amazement, incapable of standing, and too
surely suffering though no outward wound was visible.. Jones,
our butler, galloped back to meet us as we were coming on ele-
phants, and apprised us of what had happened. His announce-
ment will long ring heavily in my ears; brief, and like that of
Antilochus in import. On my arrival there lay outstretched
broadside, along the strand of the Chenab—¢ Like the tall
bark whose lofty prow shall never stem the billows more ”—the
ruined frame of one of the noblest horses that ever trod the
soil of India or any other. Hopes were tried to be entertained
for a time ?f eventual revival; the eye was still bright as
when carcering in his pride, and the pulse healthy, but the
spasmodic tremor of the limbs betrayed too surely to the prac-
tised eye how all was faring with him—and with me. The
spine had been memedlably ruptured by the fall; he could
never rise afram ; and although we still hoped that there was
E;)S ::ICaut‘;er :)a‘slr:a étgzuﬁgyth‘f:: was, %Eii?ed, so much of vhc?roic.in
y possibly have been suffering in-
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tensely while “looking tranquillity,” and responding by his
sidelong gaze to all the terms of endearment I was lavishing
upon him), the symptoms of fatal injury became gradually
more palpable. Too well convinced of this, I made prepara-
tions for departure, leaving it to our good friend Mr. Allgood
to see the stern necessity properly carried into effect, antici-
pating a lingering suffering, by some worthy hands of the
Irregular Cavalry. And may few part with as heavy hearts
from this shore through coming time as we have borne away
with us this day.

¢ Of the twelve years of our Mauritian and Indian lives, and
the brief period intervening, that horse has been a principal
delight. Wherever I presented myself, * Grey Momus,” the
pride of every field, sure victor in the race on the ¢ Champ de
Mars ” of Port Louis, and where he was not “ecrying Ia!
ha! among the trumpets,” looking it to the life wherever there
have been musterings of troops and rustlings of arms for my
inspections throughout India. Even fuller of years, perhaps,
than his worthy compeer ¢ Fatty ”—both having accompanied
us from the Cape in 1842—he also bore them, like the oak
of ages bears his leaves, greenly still; and while at a loss
to find hands into which I might safely confide him, if left
behind, I trusted that he might be spared to me for years of
further enjoyment of vigorous life, the ¢ observed of all ob-
servers” at home: sed dis aliter visum.

¢I have since received assurance that all was most humanely
carried through. Intense suffering was coming on shortly
after I left him ; but the sun went down upon the calm repose
and deep-delved and well-protected grave of a hero. For of
such material was not the noble creature’s nature full?’

While speaking of their love of animals, no one who re-
members Sir William and Lady Gomm during the years 1840
to 1851 would willingly pass unnoticed the splendid mastiff,
Coonah, who during those twelve years was by sea and land
their constant companion. Lady Gomm writes about him:
¢ Coonah was given to me when a puppy in Jamaica in 1840.
He was, I believe, a Cuban mastiff; a fine dark brindle colour,
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with white breast and forepaws. He stood about thirty )inches
high, broad chest, with the appearance of great strength and
power. His heavy silver collar measures seven inches in
diameter; his face was full of intelligence, and T named him
on the spot after the range of mountains where he was born.
It is natural to suppose that a dog, living so much in the
society of human creatures, would become: attached and
domestic; but Coonah seemed from the first to know that he
had been given to me for my special solace and amusement.
At first, considering him too large for a lapdog, I merely
used to have him for my out-of-door companion, and he slept
in the stables; but T gave him his food myself every day.
The first instance I remember of his particular attachment to
myself was, when he was still a very young dog, on the
occasion of Sir William being suddenly called on military
business from the mountain cottage where we lived to town,
and my remaining alone at Prospect. Our servants (even my
own maid) slept in neighbouring huts, and the Staff had
accompanied Sir William; probably, therefore, I sat on the
terrace rather later than usual with Coonah. At all events, at
bedtime he refused to leave me; and the more I told him to
go and the servant called him, the more he crouched at my
feet, looking up into my face most imploringly. The result
was that when the servants left me and shut up the house, I
turned the key on myself and Coonah as sole occupants ; and
I thought the dog seemed to know the comfort he would be to
me in my novel situation. From this time to the end of our
stay in Jamaica he slept at the door of our room. His bound
of delight at seeing me after every separation, however slight,
was once very mnearly the cause of serious accident to him,
It wa.s on the beach near the Hétel Pharoux at Rio, in early
morning. 1 went out, and desired the servant to unfasten
him and le.t him follow me. The dog when loosed, seeing me
?:asslr;iz)ot:stiici,h ;m;]te ns::;ight f"or me, and with sut:h fo.rce
y threw me down. This being

::zelg’:i hﬁ())’kt:li boatmen, 1:,hey rushed up with oars, paddles,
o destroy him; and I had some difficulty, by
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clasping him round the neck, to show that we were friends—
not strangers to each other. This probably saved his life.

On our two voyages to India Coonah was our com-
panion, and always accompanied us on our Indian journeys.
He travelled either in a palkee-gharri or marched with the
horses. I had a dhooly for him on the Hills and two bearers,
of which mode of conveyance he highly approved. But he
did not long survive our second journey to India, nor did he
die of old age. Poor Coonah was taken ill at Barnes Court,
Simla, on Saturday, May 10, 1851 ; one day of severe illness,
when hot baths and everything that could be thought of were
tried to give him ease, but without effect. He died the same
evening ; and Sir William buried him in the garden, under a
sweetbriar, the next morning. From that day we called the
place Coonah’s Terrace. For twelve years he had been my
faithful and affectionate companion.’

It may seem to some trivial in so slight a sketch of a long-
continued and eventful life to dwell so long upon horses and
dogs; but such anecdotes are really more indicative of the
character than many more weighty matters would be, and
both with husband and wife love of and kindness to all animals
was almost a religious feeling. Nothing more quickly roused
the anger of this man, whose youth had been spent among the
most terrible scenes of bloodshed, than to see the slightest
cruelty to any animal ; for the suffering of dumb creatures he
had more than a woman’s tenderness. His was the true love of
animals which not merely extending to a few favoured pets,
resents all unnecessary severity to the animals which are
especially the servants of man, and does not take delight in
the needless death of any.

Sir William kept a regular diary during the latter half of
his life, and an irregular one the greater part of it. At the
more interesting part of his life—as while he was in Jamaica
and India—and whenever he travelled on the Continent, the
diary expanded into a full narrative ; whereas in futter times
it fell off into an occasional note or memorandum, entered at
varying intervals, He wrote much in verse, and on many
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important public questions corresponded with those who had
made such subjects their specialty. He wrote. valuable com-
ments on many books, and maintained interesting correspond-
ence with many authors and poets. Het cal:efully preserved
all papers which he thought of special 1nt.ere.st, and of
much of his official correspondence he kept a private copy.
From the above it may readily be inferred, considering the
length of his life and the number of important offices which
he held, that his papers are exceedingly voluminous.

The present papers consist almost entirely of—(1st) Notes
of his family and early recollections, put together by Sir
William himself; and (2ndly) letters written to his sister and
aunt, principally the former, during his absence on the different
campaigns. They extend from 1799-—he was born in 1784—
to 1816. During this period he was employed first under the
command of the Duke of York and Sir Ralph Abercromby,
in the unprofitable campaign to the Helder against the French
under General Vandamme. Next his regiment went in 1800
on a somewhat purposeless cruise along the Portuguese coast,
and then to Gibraltar and Lisbon ; but there was not much
fighting to be done, and the regiment came home at the end of
the year, being nearly lost at sea. .

In the following year (1801) he was aide-de-camp to the
General commanding the Northern Division; and in 1803 he
got his captaincy, at the age of eighteen, and did duty with
his regiment in Ireland. In 1805 he studied at the Royal
Military College at High Wycombe, where he was under the
instruction of Sir Howard Douglas, who from that time was
his attached friend. In 1806 he again joined his regiment,
when it went over to Hanover in another somewhat futile ex-
pedition; and in the following year (1807) was employed
under Lord Cathcart in an exploit which reflects no credit
upon our country’s arms or honour—viz. the destruction of
Copenhagen. He was then upon the Quartermaster-General’s
Staff, on which; with some interruptions, he remained until the
te.rmination of the Waterloo campaign. In 1808 he went
with Sir A, Wellesley to Portugal, and was engaged in the
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battles of Roliga and Vimiera. In October, 1808, he advanced
with Sir John Moore into Spain, and with him made his
masterly but disastrous retreat to Corunna. He was almost
the last man of the force to embark, and having done so was
nearly lost on his way to England. His ill-fortune seemed
still to continue, for in the summer of 1809 we find him told off
to accompany the melancholy Walcheren expedition under the
great Minister’s brother. Here he contracted in the trenches
of Flushing a malarious fever, of which he could not shake
himself clear for four years; but, considering the number of
men left behind in those dismal swamps, he may be reckoned
fortunate to have come away even though in evil plight.
Here the tide of his fortunes may be said to have turned,
for in these first ten years his most glorious achievement was
sharing in an arduous retreat under the illustrious Moore ;
while the only success of our arms was at Copenhagen, and
was the most inglorious act of his long career.

The next year (1810) he was again with the army in Spain,
having through his absence at Walcheren missed sharing the
glories of Talavera—almost the only great Peninsular battle
at which he was not present. From that day forward till the
close of the great war he found himself under his former
chief, and his friend for the next forty years, the great Duke ;
and though opposed to the mightiest of those famous mili-
tary leaders—Massena, Ney, Marmont, Sounlt, and finally
Napoleon himself—he was thenceforward on the winning side,
unless we should except the unsuccessful siege of Burgos, and
the disastrous though well-managed retreat therefrom. His
battle-roll thenceforward is an epitome of the Peninsular
war.

He was in the rapid advance to and battle of Busaco,followed
by the quick but orderly retreat over the Mondego, through
Coimbra, Leyria, and Santarem, drawing Massena on till he
found himself confronted by the impassable and hitherto un-
suspected lines of Torres Vedras, behind which from the
heights of Sobral the English—in comparative comfort dur-
ing the winter months—watched Massena and the French
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becoming gradually reduced, till they in their turn had to re-
treat in the spring from point to point, fighting continually till
they were completely routed at Fuentes d’Onor.  He bore his
part in the terrible sieges of Ciudad Rodrigo and Badajoz, and
in the battle of Salamanca, for his conduct in which battle the
Duke specially recommended him for promotion, and he be-
came a lieutenant-colonel before he was twenty-eight years of
age. Thence followed the bright advance into the capital
of Spain, driving Joseph from his ill-fitting throne; and the
march through Valladolid to Burgos, where for once Wel-
lington had to own himself foiled after many brave assaults,
and the siege had to be raised, while another odious retreat
had to be conducted and the army placed in safety on the
other side of the Agueda. Perhaps this was one of the most
arduous and trying manceuvres in which Gomm ever bore a
part. It was a retreat after a failure, in the face of an over-
powering foe led by a general more skilful than he who
allowed himself to be defeated at Salamanca (for Soult never
allowed his hand to be forced like Marmont); the army was
disorganised and almost mutinous,and throughout disheartened;
the weather was most unfavourable ; the Ministry very tardy
in their support ; while the newspapers and the public at home
were then, as ever, loud in their denunciation of those who
are not ostensibly and continuously successful, and utterly in-
appreciative of able generalship under difficulties. It was in
these circumstances that Gomm most truly appreciated the
force of his leader’s character. This is fully seen in his letter
of November 22, 1812, written ere the sad march was con-
cluded. That young Gomm’s letters were not the usual
military comments of the day is most noticeable if reference be
made tothe English journals of that time, and notice be taken
of the carping ignorance with which the conduct of Wellington
was therein condemned upon the authority of officers who were
indeed with the army, but to whom the complicated and
f‘ki]f“11y prudent movements of the General were quite un-
¥ntelligib1e. It is easy to be wise after the event, and nothing
18 more remarkable in these letiers than the correctness of
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Gomm’s judgment of the great deeds which were enacted be-
fore him. During the winter, while the army rested in North
Portugal, Gomm’s time was busily employed in surveying the
roads and passes over the Douro and through Tras-os-Montes:
in the spring the knowledge thus acquired was able to be
turned to good effect, and it was owing to this knowledge
that —much to the astonishment of Jourdain—Graham’s wing
of the army at the battle of Vittoria had the support of artil-
lery. Then followed the long siege of San Sebastian, and the
driving of the French out of Spain—a feat the accomplish-
ment of which the home-croakers had all along declared to be
beyond the power of our general and our army. Our passage
of the French frontier was warmly opposed ; and almost daily
battles were fought on the banks of the Bidassoa, the Nivelle,
the Nive, and the Adour, where Gomm says that he had never
been exposed to so many risks as during those few days.

In 1814, while investing Bayonne, he was encamped at
Biarritz, a village then so insignificant as not to be marked in
the maps, and there was received in April the news of the
restoration of the Bourbons and Napoleon’s retreat into Elba.
Peace being restored, he travelled through France, and
reached home in the autumn. He then reaped the reward of
his good service, being transferred to the Coldstream Guards
and made a K.C.B.

The following year (1815) saw him once more beside his
old chief, once more in his old Staff appointment, as the
Quartermaster-Greneralof Picton’s division (the Fighting Fifth),
and once more opposed to the French—this time under the
great commander himself. Both at Quatre Bras and Waterloo
he was, as he says, € in the hottest of all this glorious business.’
Then he followed up the French to Paris itself, where he saw
the King’s return.

It will thus be seen that in all the great events of that
great time he bore his part—a part quite as great as was con-
ceivable for a man of his age, if not born in the purple.
Through all these murderous battles he had seemed, as he says,
to bear a charmed life; it may almost be said that he escaped

C
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unhurt through them all, for the slight wound he receiyed in
the leg at the Nivelle was not enough to incapacitate him for
work, and the touch he had at Bergen, when only fourt.een
years of age, was to his sorrow only a scrateh, and too rapidly
imperceptible. In fact, he personally suffered less in a score
of hard and bloody and long-contested battles than many a lad
does in a single footoall match. It is, of course, impossible
to say how many hairbreadth escapes he had, many of them,
curiously enough, from drowning, both in sea and in flood. He
frequently had to lament that the beloved horses which he was
riding did not escape equally well with himself. At Busaco, at
Vittoria, at the Nive, and at.Quatre Bras, his horses were shot
under him. The narrowness of his own escape at Vittoria was
little short of miraculous. .

His brother Henry, of whom so frequent mention is made
in these letters, was only eighteen months his junior. He
does not seem to have shared either his brother’s good luck
or brightness of temper; nor, to judge from his letters,
was he a man of the same rare culture as William Gomm.
He wasin the 6th Regiment and was wounded in the battle
of the Pyrenees on July 24, 1813. The wound was not at
first considered dangerous, but it refused to close, and his
health was soon undermined, although he returned to England
and received all the care that a tender sister’s nursing could
supply. In the hopes of restoring him to health, Sir William
Gomm, after the conclusion of the war, and as soon as he could’
get leave, took him abroad in 1816, intending to let him have
the benefit of the winter in Northern Italy. They only got,
however, as far as near Geneva, when Henry Gomm suddenly
grew worse, and died in a wayside inn. His brother, terribly
breken-hearted, buried him in the cemetery at Geneva, and
returned alone.

. In the following year (1817) a still greater trial awaited
him : his only sister Sophia, to whom nearly all the following
letters are addressed, faded away, and before the close of the
year left him to mourn his sadly desolate condition. Some-
thing may be known of the love between this brother and
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sister from the letters; but to the close of his life, though he
survived her by nearly sixty years, he could hardly speak of
her without his eyes filling with tears. The tone of his letters,
the care with which he preserved to his old age her latest
letters to him as some of his most valued treasures, the way in
which he always spoke of her as he looked at her miniature,
showed the singular love which he bore to her ; and it is through
her appreciation of him, and the careful way that she preserved
and arranged, and partly copied out, all his letters to her, now
three-quarters of a century ago, that we are to-day enabled to
read this simple, manly narrative of the events of those days,
written at the time with all the personality and brightness
of the actor, and yet with all the reverence due to her
gentler nature, avoiding both the indelicate and self-conceited
detail of ‘our own special’—that hideous emanation of
our day—and the cold balancing of the historian who writes,
years after, of past events when all the freshness has faded out
of them.

One or two things are chiefly noteworthy as we read these
letters; ome is, how excellently just a view the writer took of
the affairs which were unfolding themselves before him, although
he was an actor, and they were affairs ¢big with destinies
of realms,” and it is not always easy even with our modern
appliances of telegrams and summaries rightly to estimate the
significance of our present position. Another point is, how
singularly modest the writer was; he was but a youth, writing
to a sister who worshipped him; he was an actor in all the
great doings of the time, yet not even in the earliest letters is
there the faintest word of * brag’ or ¢tall writing’; he writes
of what he saw, rarely of what he did. As an instance of this,
I may mention that, speaking to me of these early letters, an
officer who has himself borne high command said, ¢ Do you
find any notice of those two guns Gomm brought up at a
critical point in one of the early Peninsular battles?” On my
telling him I found no mention of the circumstance, he said,
‘That is singular, for I always heard that that was what first

brought him to the Duke’s notice, and the Duke was so pleased
c 2
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with him for this that he never .lost .sigh.t of .}}im from jcha't
day.” He had genuine loyalty in his dlSpOSltl'On, and it is
apparent in all his correspondence—a loyalty which means .not
a mere acknowledgment of and attachment to the sovereign,
for this is the natural inheritance of every respectable member
of the community, but in its higher and fuller sense ?, consta-nt
and faithful disposition to uphold constituted. authorlty.. Dis-
loyalty was not unknown among our oﬂ-icers }n th.e Pgmnsul:}r
war, who questioned and set at nought in estimation, 1‘f not in
practice, all the plans of their leaders; and such disloyalty
spreads now, like a noxious weed, through every rank and
every profession in our country. In schools and in the c.zhurch,
among country yokels, and even in the Houses of Parliament,
as well as in the services, authority is now contemmned, and
has difficulty to uphold its very existence.! From the time
when Gomm was a subaltern in camp he was always prompt
to render a willing and cheerful obedience to the powers that
be, and was always truly and faithfully loyal. Further, note
what a cultivated mind he had, so full of classical allusions,
so appreciative of the highest forms of architecture and
music and poetry, so well-informed on all points, so good
a linguist—and yet his schooling was in days we are apt to
consider the dark ages of education, and he left school before
he was fifteen years old, and was from that day in camp
and on duty. It istrue, and this perhaps is the secret, that
though an orphan, he was lovingly and tenderly brought up;
he never lost any opportunity, whether in home canton-
ment or on foreign and active service, of trying to improve
himself; he read the best books, and made careful criticisms
on them; he associated with and always seems to have
been a favouriie in the best society, wherever he was. Add
to this that he was a singularly pure-minded and religious
man, and we have a picture of what from his earliest days, as
far as we can judge from his writings, Sir William Gomm

! Disloyal persons were thus described many centuries ago by a sacred writer :

‘They despise government ; presumptuous are they, self-willed; they are not
afraid to speak evil of dignities.’
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seems to have been, and of what we certainly know him to
have been in later years—a perfect English gentleman.

And it was to an officer’s feeling as a gentleman first, and
as a soldier afterwards, that Sir William Gomm, when he him-
self came to power, used always to appeal whenever he had to
reprimand ; and this is in entire accordance with the anecdote
told of the Duke of Wellington at page 373. We have a good
specimen of this style of dealing on an occasion wheu, as Com-
mander-in-Chief in India, he had to prohibit the practice of
anonymous newspaper correspondence. The following is from
a circular letter addressed to commanding officers from the
Adjutant-General’s Office in Simla, 1853 :—

¢ The Commander-in-Chief in India noticed some time ago
in the “ Lahore Chronicle” a very unbecoming anonymous
letter, apparently emanating from a Queen’s regiment, and
full of murmurs at the prospect of a move.

¢ 2. Distressed as his Excellency was to suppose that any
officer of that corps could so far have forgotten what is due to
his service, his regiment, and himself, as to have written this
letter, the Commander-in-Chief abstained from inquiry; but
a few weeks later another letter appeared in the ¢ Delhi
Gazette,” written in the name of another regiment, and also
anonymous. This second letter was still more improper and
unsoldierlike than the first, and personally insulting to the
Commander-in-Chief.

¢3. His Excellency, not as General Sir William Gomm,
but as Commander-in-Chief in India, responsible for the
discipline and character of her Majesty’s service in this
country, felt that he could no longer be passive, and directed
inquiry to be made.

‘4, The result is that a captain in the service, with be-
coming contrition, at once confessed himself to be the author
of the letter.

5. In consequence of this candid and prompt avowal, the
Commander-in-Chief has overlooked the particular offence, but
his Excellency feels it his duty to put the officers of the
Queen’s service upon their guard.
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CHAPTER II.
1794-1799.

PARENTAGE—FIRST COMMISSION—-WOOLWICH — JOINS 9TH REGIMENT—
EXPEDITION TO THE HELDER—BATTLE OF BERGEN.

FroM a manuscript memoir of his family drawn out by
Sir William Gomm in 1834, it appears that the Gomms were
an Oxfordshire family, and that his great-grandfather, William
Gomm, who died at Nethercote in 1780, had considerable
estates there. His second son (Sir William’s grandfather),
William, resided in Russia, marrying a Russian lady of good
family ; he embarked in very large commercial enterprises,
constructing the port of Onega in the White Sea, and opening
an extensive commerce and navigation in a previously obscure
and unproductive corner of the Russian empire. The contracts
made by the Czar Peter were, however, perfidiously broken
by his successor, and Mr. Gomm’s enterprise was ruined. He
was then appointed secretary to the embassy, first at the court
of St. Petersburg, and then at the Hague, by his friend Sir
James Harris, afterwards Lord Malmesbury.

His eldest son, William (Sir William Gomm’s father),
entered the army, and served with distinction through the
American and West Indian wars from 1776 to 1794. While
in the West Indies, he married, in 1782, Mary Alleyne
Maynard, whose family resided in Barbadoes and had large
estates there. He was an officer of great merit and distinction,
and was frequently mentioned in the despatches of the time.
He was wounded at the battle of St. Lucie in 1779, and the
following interesting mention of the circumstance is found
among his son’s papers:—
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¢ I remember, while aide-de-camp at Liverpool to one of my
father’s truest and worthiest friends, General Benson, in the
year 1801, entering the reading-room of the Athenzum, and
carelessly taking up a volume of the Gentleman’s Magazine
of the year 1793, and running my eye for a few moments over
its pages without any definite object, my attention being on a
sudden fixed by the following anecdote. It will be found at
page 880 of that year:—

¢« . . . While I extol the bravery of the Guards, let
the Line have the merit due to them, which, at least, I will
say nothing can exceed. As a single instance I must just
mention a spirited reply of an officer, in the West Indies last
war, to Sir William Medows. Captain G , of the 55th
Regiment, being wounded in the eye at the taking of St.
Lucia, Sir William, passing by in the heat of action, just
stopped to regret his misfortune. ¢Do not mind me, sir,
says he. ‘I have one eye left, with which I hope to see you
beat the French army.” Such a speech, made by one in ex-
cruciating pain, deserves to be recorded.”

¢ The blank following the initial to the name I was happily
at no loss to fill up, and busied myself, con amore, in copying
off the passage. The pleasurable feeling of a youth of sixteen,
excited by accidentally stumbling upon such a memento, will
be easily understood.’

The esteem in which he was held by his superiors may be

appreciated from the following letter from Sir Charles Grey
to Lord Amherst :—

Sir Charles Grey to Lord Amherst.

¢ Fort Bourbon : March 25, 1794.
¢ S1r,—I have another recommendation to offer, to which I
solicit your Lordship’s attention most earnestly, being the par-
ticular situation of Major William Gomm, of the 55th Regiment,
who was put in orders at Barbadoes by the Honourable Major-
General Bruce on June 20, 1793, as lieutenant-colonel com-

mandant of a corps of French emigrants, and did duty as such,
but has never been confirmed at home.
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S,

¢TI can assure your lordship that he is an officer of infinite
merit, being also deputy-adjutant-general to the forces in the
‘West Indies, and six years in the rank of major. At the time of
my embarking on this expedition, I found the situation in which
T was to leave Barbadoes required an officer of great experience,
activity, and ability, as well as of local knowledge of this
service ; and knowing Major Gomm to answer this description,
I appointed him to the command at Barbadoes, although he
wished to have come on this expedition, in which difficult
situation he has acquitted himself most admirably, and fully
answered my expectation, having had near 1,200 sick, with all
the women and children, under his management, besides the
care of forwarding the recovered men, all kinds of stores, etc.,
to the army. I then promised him that I would represent his
claims and merit to your lordship, for his Majesty’s considera-
tion, to obtain for him the brevet rank of lieutenant-colonel
from June 20, 1793, when he was promoted by the Honour-
able Major-General Bruce; and it will be a high gratification
to me if his Majesty should be pleased to confer the favour
of lieutenant-colonel’s rank on him from the date above-
mentioned. (Signed) ‘CH. GREY.

He was lieutenant-colonel in the 55th Regiment, when
he was killed while still serving under Sir Charles Grey at the
storming of Point-a-Petre in the island of Guadeloupe on July
2,1794. At the time of his death his wife and four children
were in England, and Sir William Gomm records that it is

-stated in his father’s last letter that:—

¢ Through Sir Charles Grey’s regard for him, and under a
lively sense of obligation—personal obligation to him, he,
unsolicited, availed himself of his privilege of presenting my
father with an ensign’s commission for myself. Through
Colonel Fisher’s zealous intervention, although not improbably
in equal measure from his own kind impulse, he appointed
Henry to an ensigncy in the 6th Regiment shortly after my
father’s demise.

¢ But these appointments, to be confirmed, needed a higher
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sanction from home, and mot only their confirmation was
needed, but a steady protection from the highest quarter from
assaults not unreasonably urged from time to time against the
retainers of appointments, the active duties of which they were
incapacitated as yet, through extreme youth, from fulfilling.
Indeed, we both engaged in these as early as most youths have
done, similarly circumstanced; but, as I have already said,
our position in the interim required a warm and earnest pro-
tection; and we found it all in the full heart and paternal
consideration of the good Duke of York ; and not only so, but
in grateful memory of our father’s services, he scrupled not to
confer a like mark of favour upon little Richard several years
before he died.’

The military careers of the three little brother ensigns, so
uniformly begun, were eventually as diverse as is possible.
Richard died in 1801, aged fourteen years, almost before he
could have begun to learn his drill. Henry rose in the 6th
Regiment, and served in Canada and through the greater part
of the Peninsular campaign with his regiment; in July 1813
he had for a time temporary command of his regiment in the
Pyrenees, and, as his brother’s diary says, ¢he proved his
title to it in every way. I received many letters from his
friends when I was before Sebastian, informing me of all that
had taken place ; all giving me the best consolation a soldier
ought, perhaps, to require on such an occasion. He was
wounded, and fell at the head of his regiment encouraging his
men.’

That division of the army under Sir Rowland Hill, being
hard prfassed by the French, were retreating, and Henry
Gomm insisted on being brought away with the retreating
a}'my, although General Hill had left with him a recommenda-
tion t{o the French general as honourable to himself as to
Henry Gomm. In spite of his wounds, as soon as he heard
thfe.army was about again to advance, he left Bilbao and
I:eJomed hl'S regiment, although the weather was then most
mclement. m.the Pyrenees ; but his exhausted condition did
not permit him to remain there long, and he was compelled to
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forego the chances of distinction and promotion which then
appeared just within his reach. For three long years he re-
mained alive in great suffering and in enfeebled health, latterly
travelling in the south of Europe, accompanied by his brother
William. At last, on their way to Geneva, he died at Pont
de Beauvoisin, on December 5, 1816, aged thirty. His brether
removed the body to Geneva, and buried him in the cemetery
of Plein Palais, where a marble monument still marks the
spot.

‘William was the eldest of the three brothers, and his name
remained on the Army List till 1875, 'What a singular con-
trast to the fate of his two brother ensigns, one of whom did
not live beyond boyhood, the other who died in his early man-
hood ! — whereas William attained every distinction that
the army had to offer, occupying the highest commands, and
died full of age and honour, in full possession of all his facul-
ties to the last—eighty-one years after he had, with his little
brothers, received his first commission in the army.

Some of the newspapers which, on his installation as Con-
stable of the Tower of London in 1872, gave a brief summary
of his career, were quite incredulous when recording from the
Army List the date of his commission, and Sir William himself
wrote in the margin that it was accounted for by the incidents
narrated in the despatch of Sir Charles Grey from Berville
Camp recording the death of his father Colonel Gomm at the
battle of Point-a-Petre, in consequence of which a benign
Government had given commissions to the three orphaned
sons of an officer of high rank who fell in battle.

After their mother’s death in 1796 the children were under
the care of their father’s sister, Miss Jane Gomm. This lady,
and her most intimate friend, Miss Martha Caroline Golds-
worthy, the sister of General Goldsworthy, aide-de-camp to His
Majesty George III., were associated as sub-governesses to
the princesses the daughters of George III. and Queen
Charlotte. The care and education of the three younger
children, viz. the Princesses Mary, Sophia, and Amelia,
fell almost entirely to the lot of Miss Gomm, who, until her
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death in 1822, retained the affection and esteem, not of her
pupils only, but of all the Royal Family. After the death or
her sister-in-law, Mrs. William Gomm, in 1796, she assumed-
the charge of the orphan children, and filled for them a
mother’s part. She was a lady of exalted piety, and possessed
a powerful mind, richly stored with sound learning.

It is doubtless to her estimable training that William
Gomm owed that good education and genuine piety which
were so marked in the boy officer, whose schooling lasted
only till his fifteenth year.

The kindly feeling exhibited by the Royal Family to Miss
Gomm and her nephews is shown by the fact that William
Gomm received his first sword from the hands of H.R.H. the
Princess Mary, while many pieces of plate, still retained in
the family, were gifts to Miss Gomm from different members
of the Royal Family.

William Maynard Gomm, then not quite ten years of age,
was in 1794 gazetted ensign in the 9th Regiment, and in 1795
a lieutenant ; he, however, remained at Woolwich prosecuting
his studies for some years, but in the summer of 1799 the
British Ministry came to a resolution to send an army into
Holland, in order to drive out the French and to"overturn
the Republican Government which the French had set
up, and to bring the country once more under the dominion
of the House of Orange. An arrangement for this purpose
was made with the Emperor Paul I. of Russia, who, in
consideration of a large subsidy from England, furnished
some 18,000 men, while the English were to supply a con-
tingent about half that number, and to support the com-
bined forces with their fleet. The 9th was one of the regi-
ments selected to go, and William Gomm, who heard of this
while working in the Military Academy, became most anxious
that the leave which enabled him to be absent from the regi-
ment and to attend the Academy should not, as his friends
proposed, be extended, but that he should be allowed to go
with his regiment on service. His letter to his aunt, Miss
Gomm, on the subject is full of youthful enthusiasm.
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To Miss Gomm, Queen’s Lodge, Windsor.
¢ Woolwich : July 8, 1799.

‘Dear AuNT,—I bave heard that the 9th Regiment is
ordered to go upon the expedition,and is now at Southampton.
1 am very much afraid Colonel Fisher! will find means to get
me further leave of absence, therefore I cannot help troubling
you with another letter to beg you when you write to him to
say that he will make me the happiest being alive by letting
me go with it. If he does not grant me this request, I
assure you it will quite dishearten me, and render me totally
indifferent whether I join it soon or late. I know your kind-
ness, and am afraid you are averse to my going ; but if my
happiness is in the least to be regarded, pray gratify me in
this one desire, and I shall look upon it as the greatest kind-
ness you can do me. I shall never have the least inclination
to go on with my studies here, not through obstinacy (for I
hope I shall never be so ungrateful as to forget that my
friends’ kindness is the sole motive of their endeavouring to
get me leave of absence), but through disappointment; for I
have fixed my mind upon joining my regiment when this last
leave is expired, and I am still more desirous now of going as
the regiment is appointed for the expedition : not that I think
I shall be of any service, for that is out of the question; but
that I may learn to be of service, if possible, some future day.
But if my friends insist upon my remaining at Woolwich, and
succeed in endeavouring to get me further leave, I shall of
course be obliged to comply. I shall thank them sincerely
for their attention to me, but I shall be unhappy. The 55th
Regiment ? is also going on the expedition. I was very agree-
ably surprised yesterday by a visit from Mr. Philpot. He
took me out to dinner with him. T told him that the 9th was
ordered on the expedition, and that I intended writing to you.

! In his mother’s will Colonel Fisher is named as one of the executors and

guardians of the children, with Miss Jane Gomm and the Rev. William Gomm.

2 This was his father's old regiment. It, however, did not go on this occasion
to Holland.
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He begged me to let him know how it was to be settled as
soon as I could. I suppose you know that my aunt and Miss
Philpot are at Southampton. I beg you will excuse me
sending you this second letter, but I am quite upon the fidgets
to know whether you and Colonel Fisher and some other good
folks will be so merciful as to grant my request. I hope
you and Sophia continue in good health. = Pray let me know
as soon as you can whether you are merciful. With love to
Sophia, I remain, dear Aunt,
¢ Your dutiful and affectionate Nephew,
(Signed) ‘W. M. Gomu..

¢If Colonel Fisher asks whether I am willing to join my
regiment now, as he did in April, pray tell him I shall be un-

happy if I do not.’
¢ Woolwich : July 26, 1799.

‘Dear Aunt,—Words are too weak to express the happi-
ness which your letter has given me. A sudden dread struck
me when I received it. I knew it was either to make me happy
or wretched ; but when I read Colonel Fisher’s determination
I was something more than happy. I shall have a still greater
regard for him, and all my friends if possible, than I had be-
fore for this last kindness to me. You have been the chief
instrument in.it, and I shall remember it as long as I live.
Colonel Benson came to Woolwich last Sunday. He called
upon me, but unluckily I was not at home. He wrote on
Monday to one of the officers whom he saw the day before,
and desired him to tell me that he had heard from you; that
you had been so kind as to inform him of my desire for join-
ing my regiment, and that he would endeavour to have my
wishes gratified.

‘ I'heard this morning from my uncle. He goes into Wales
on Thursday next, and wishes to see me on Monday in Ken-
nington Road (where, I suppose, you know he ig) if con-
venient. My masters have given me permission, provided I
return as soon as I can, as I have so short a time to stay. I
shall have an opportunity of calling upon Colonel Benson.
I feel extremely obliged to all who are so kind as to be in-
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terested about me, but I cannot help hoping my regiment may
go abroad. It certainly will if there is no further alteration,
as it is among the list of those who are to go; and it is to be
completed with militia. I am very well aware of the fatigues
and dangers which are likely to occur; but believe me, when
1 assure you that my attachment to the service shall enable
me to surmount the former, great as they may be, and my
duty to my king and country shall never let me shrink from
the latter. I am rewarded by being in the service, and
surely the utmost in my power is not too much. If I am to
return, I shall enjoy the comfortable reflection ¢ that I have
done my duty”; if I fall, I shall at least fall gloriously—
which always has been and always will be the summit of my
desires. ‘

¢But think not that whilst I strive to discharge my
military duties I shall forget my religious ones. I have always
thought that he who observes the former and disregards the
latter is at best but a civilised brute. He who wishes to be
styled “a great man” must, in my opinion, look upon his
religion as the foundation of his greatness. Courage, humanity,
clemency, and all other virtues that constitute the ¢ hero”
will necessarily follow. The character of Rolla in ¢ Pizarro ”
(which I suppose you have read) is that which I should choose
tofollow. I can never enough admire it. I have troubled you
with a great number of letters lately, but I believe I need not
beg you to excuse me. Now that you have made me happy
1 shall not be so troublesome.. Every day till I join my
regiment will appear to me almost a week. I hope you and
Sophia are both quite well. Pray give my love to Sophia,
and tell her I thank her very much for her wishing me to stay
at home, but I must be a soldier as well as a brother. It is
now time for me to conclude, with assuring you that I remain,
dear Aunt,

¢ Your dutiful and affectionate Nephew,
W Gomm.”!

1 All Tetters which are not entered as being written to others, are addressed to
his sister Sophia,
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Sir William Gomm’s attachment to the 9th Regiment con-
tinued to the end of his life. In 1872, when his old friend
and former aide-de-camp, Sir Henry Bates, was given the
regiment, he received the following note!:—

¢ My much-esteemed and regarded successor to the
coloneley of the corps which called itself, and with universal
acclaim from without, in my juvenile days “ The Old Ninth,”
pray accept the united congratulations of Lady Gomm and
myself on the appointment.

¢ For “ auld lang syne ” I feel tempted to send you a few
notes of my own début under the same august banner, copied
verbatim from my journals of the period (ztat. 14).

¢« August 13, 1799.—Joined the 1st Battalion 9th Regi-
ment, encamped on Barham Downs, as lieutenant.

¢« September 13.—Sailed for Holland. 16.—Landed at
the Helder. 19.—Battle of Bergen and the Sandhills.

¢ ¢ Qctober 2.—Do., do., before Alkmaar. ,

¢« Qctober 28.—Adventuring homeward again ; landing at
Yarmouth.”

¢ The regiment enjoyed also the cognomen of ¢ The Holy
Boys "—an addition of doubtful origin, however: tradition
tracing it on one side to a liberal distribution of ‘the best of
books ” among the men by their exemplary commandant and
lady ; ironically obtained, I fear, on the other by the prodigal
sale of these goods presently after in exchange for creature
comforts by the graceless recipients.

¢ Again, every paladin of the corps in my time was very
proud of the figure of Britannia (see ¢ Hart’s Army List ”)
reposing on the breast of each, melodiously chimed upon and
the lay entered, I believe, in its archives by some lady pre-
sumably young, regrettably before my time.

¢ When you go to inaugurate your accession to the throne
of the 9th, T hope you will inquire of the elders of the corps,
for my especial satisfaction, how far these titles of honour have
been preserved in the family.

! T am indebted to the kindness of Sir Henry Bates for this interesting and
characteristic note.
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¢ Lady Gomm unites with me, my dear Bates, in subscribing
myself, as of old, ¢ Most sincerely yours,

‘W. M. Gomm.’

In the next letter to his aunt, dated Barham Downs,
September 9, 1799, he says:—

¢ As I think it will give you pleasure to hear that I have
seen Sir Charles Grey, I send you a few lines to inform you
that I called upon him a few days ago. He was excessively
kind to me, and invited me to dine with him yesterday, which
I did. I had the honour of being introduced to Prince Wil-
liam of Gloucester, who inquired very kindly after Henry,
and wished to see him if he could go over to Deal before
H.R.H. embarked, which, however, I am afraid he cannot do,
as the Prince it is supposed embarks to-day. The Duke of
York embarked yesterday evening.

¢ I hope now that I shall go over as a lieutenant, as I have
heard nothing further about it since I received your letter.
We were in hopes that we should have left Barham Downs
last night at twelve o’clock. 'We are now in hourly expec-
tation of departing, and are only waiting for the transports.
I may not be able to write to you again before I am trans-
ported. Colonel Fisher has been at Barham Downs, and I am
now provided with everything necessary. He does not go
with us, being in the 3rd Battalion. We are all (roin'cr on
very well here, and are only wishing to face the enemy.
You probably know that General Manners commands the an
Battalion of the 9th, and is now with us. . . .

¢ Pray give my best love to Sophia, and tell her she shall
hear some Dutch when I return from Holland,?

Previous to this, in August, the first division of the
English force, under Lieut.-General Sir Ralph Abercromby,
had landed in Holland, and had effected their landing in spite
of the opposition of the Dutch under General Daendels; and
the Dutch fleet, under Vice-Admiral Storz, had surrendered
at the Texel to Admiral Mitchell. "The British thus having

D



34 The Earlier Letiers and Fournals of  [1799.

the free navigation of the Zuyder Zee were enabled to estab-
lish themselves on the peninsula of the Helder, having the
town of Schagenburg as headquarters; while the Dutch
troops were concentrated between Rustenberg and the Koe
Dyke; and the French troops, hitherto stationed in the pro-
vince of Zealand, were directed to move towards Haarlem.

Such was the position of the hostile armies in the beginning
of September; Sir Ralph Abercromby acting on the defensive
and waiting for the Russians and for the British reinforce-
ments under the Duke of York, who was to take the supreme
command. General Daendels had been unsuccessful in his
attempts to force the British position, and on his part was
looking for French reinforcements.

It was on September 12 that the Russian contingent,
7,000 strong, under the command of Lieut.-General D’Her-
mann, arrived at the Helder from Revel, and were at once
disembarked and marched down to strengthen the right of the
position ; while on the following day his Royal Highness the
Duke of York and Lieut.-General Dundas also landed at the
Helder from the Amethyst frigate, being followed in a few days
by the third and last division of British troops, consisting of
eleven battalions of infantry, one regiment of cavalry, the 7th
Light Dragoons, and a body of artillery. The infantry had em-
barked at Deal, to which place they had marched from the
camp at Barham Downs. After disembarking at the Helder
these troops marched up to Schagenburg, where the men were
quartered in the churches and the officers billeted on the
private houses. The newly arrived regiments were brigaded
as follows :—

7th Brigade, under Major-General the Earl of Chatham.
Ist, 2nd, and 3rd battalions 4th King’s Own, and the 31st
Regiment.

8th Brigade, under Major-General H.R.II. Prince William
of Gloucester. 1st and 2nd battalions of the 5th, and 1st and
2nd battalions of the 35th Regiments.

9th Brigade, under Major-General Manners. The Ist
and 2nd battalions 9th Regiment, and the 56th Regiment.
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The 9th Regiment, which had come in the autumn
from Grenada, had received 2,695 volunteers from the
Gloucester and other Militia corps in the vicinity of London,
and had been formed into three battalions, one of which had
been left in England. William Gomm was attached to the
1st battalion. Two flank battalions, one of ten companies of
Grenadiers, and the other of Light Infantry, under Lieut.-
Colonel Shairpe, of the 9th, had been formed before leaving
Barham Downs.

The Cavalry were under command of Lieut.-Colonel
Paget, and consisted of his own regiment, the 7th Dragoons,
the 11th Light Dragoons, under Lieut,-Colonel Childers, and
two squadrons of the 18th, in all about 1,200 sabres.

The position of the allied British and Russian army thus
reinforced was considerably extended, the Russians being on
the right, while the position from which the Duke of York
had to drive the enemy was one of no ordinary strength ; their
left wing, composed entirely of French troops under General
Vandamme, was strongly posted on the first ridge of the lofty
sandhills known as the Heights of Camperdurger, whence it
was expected that our right would dislodge them, and would
be able to occupy Bergen, a considerable village in the
Nassau Principality, four miles north-west of Alkmaar,
Manners’ brigade supported the Russians. The battle com-
menced on the early morning of September 19 ; and the Russian
attack was at first brilliantly successful, the enemy being driven
back into Bergen, and Manners’ brigade advancing to Schorel
dam ; at Bergen, however, the enemy being reinforced, rallied,
and in their turn beat back the Russians. It was at this
juncture, when the fugitive Russians from Bergen appeared
outside Schorel, the French following close after them, and
when after a last effort to stand they were driven pell
mell into and out of the village, that the 9th Brigade,
under Major-General Manners, advancing by the road from
Schoreldam, engaged the French, and an obstinate encounter
took place. The 1st Brigade, under Prince William of

Gloucester, and the Guards, brought up by the Duke of York,
D 2
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came up in support of Manners, but they were eventually
obliged to retreat, which they did in an ord.erly manner—
guns, ammunition, waggons, and wounded being brought off
in the face of the enemy. The other wing, under Lieut.-
General Sir James Pulteney, was successful in defeating
General Daendels; but the ill-success of the right wing
rendered it impossible for the Duke of York to profit by this
success, and it may therefore be said that no result whatever
was obtained from the thirteen and a half hours’ incessant
fighting which constituted the battle of Bergen. That was
indeed no child’s play when the young William Gomm, a boy
of only fourteen, received his ¢baptism of fire.” Out of the
Gallo-Batavian army on that day some 2,000 of all ranks
were killed and wounded, while the loss of the British and
Russian troops was equally severe—of the former nearly 1,500,
including forty-nine officers, and of the latter 3,000 were killed,
wounded, and missing.

By the official return the loss on that day in the 9th
Regiment was as follows:—

1st battalion—1 subaltern, 1 staff killed; 3 subalterns
wounded; 10 sergeants, 1 drummer, 203 rank and file
missing.

2nd battalion—1 captain, 1 sergeant, 16 rank and file
killed; 1 lieutenant-colonel, 1 subaltern, 4 sergeants, 46 rank
and file wounded ; 1 sergeant, 97 rank and file missing.

His diary of the events of the time is as follows :—

¢ Sept. 18, 1799.— At ten o’clock at night the two battalions
of the 9th marched, according to orders, towards the villages
of Schorel and Schoreldam, where the French had intrenched
themselves, and arrived at the post occupied by the Russians,
close to the village above-named, at about two o’clock in the
morning of the 19th, after a march of about fourteen miles.
Here we halted.

¢ Sept. 19.— At daybreak, about 3 .M., the Russians began
the .attack e the village of Schorel, and after a pretty
ggitﬁ?:ssrisf:;ncgt }(xlro(xlre the enemy from-thence. The two
o de advanced gr.adually in the rear of the

, Joined by the. 56th Regiment, under the command
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of Major-General Manners, being the brigade destined to the
Reserve of the Russians that day. About 6 A.M. the 9th and
56th Regiments mounted the sandhills behind the village of
Schorel in order to drive from thence any enemy that might
remain in that part. Having met with none, we descended
from the hills, and everything seemed again perfectly quiet.
We marched through the village of Schorel and marched on
to the plain, when the enemy opened a very heavy fire of
musketry and grape upon us. The Russians were now gone
off in different directions, and consequently the brigade, con-
sisting of the two battalions of the 9th and the 56th Regiments,
was at this time engaged alone ; the two battalions of the 9th
being each about 600 men, and the 56th Regiment about the
same number. For about two hours the heaviest fire of
musketry possible was kept up on both sides, the British
advancing by degrees, but not very regularly ; the plain being
intersected every twenty yards nearly with small canals, many
of which could not be passed without wading through, being
too wide to leap, and at the same time very deep. At length
the British advanced with the bayonet. The enemy were
unwilling to stand the charge, and retreated very precipitately
through Schoreldam, which they were obliged to evacuate, the
English still advancing, but in the greatest disorder; for being
very much fatigued by the night march, and still more so by
the former part of the action, most of the troops were scarcely
able to walk. We were therefore ordered not to advance any
farther, but to form in the plain between Schorel and Schorel-
dam, where the action had commenced.

¢ We remained here about half an hour, when we received
intelligence that the enemy were at that time in the very same
part of the sandhills behind Schorel where we had been
searching for them before we entered into the action on the
plain, so that they could never have been driven completely
from the sandhills, but must have been in some part of them
even at the time we were searching for them.

¢ Upon this intelligence we were obliged to march against
them immediately, notwithstanding our fatigue, to prevent
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being cut off, for they were then getting in our rear. WV.e got
up the hills as quickly as possible, and the enemy lrr,lme'dmtely
opened a fire upon us from all sides. The enemy’s riflemen
had got into the woods about Schorel, and by that means fired
upon our officers and men on the hills without being themselves
seen or exposed.

¢ The Russians were now returned to our assistance, but
our numbers were even then far inferior to those of the enemy,
who were now stronger than ever. Had our numbers been
known, it is generally believed that we should have been made
prisoners, but we were so dispersed about the hills that it was
impossible for the enemy to judge of our strength. For about
two hours and a half an unceasing fire of musketry was kept
up. The enemy had several pieces of cannon upon the hills,
with which they played upon us during the whole time. By this
time it was nearly one o’clock. Great numbers of our men
began to want ammunition. We were ordered to descend from
the hills and rally once more, determining to make another
vigorous attempt to drive the enemy from the woods and hills.
H.R.H. Prince William of Gloucester had now joined us with
the 1st battalion of the 35th Regiment. A battalion of the
Guards also arrived and advanced upon the sandhills. The 2nd
battalion of the 9th, the 1st battalion of the 35th, and the 56th
Regiments, after having formed a continued line, began a
vigorous fire upon the enemy in the woods, and in a short time
drove them a considerable distance along the hills and woods.
The Guards lost great numbers upon the hills. Small parties
of the Russians were still with us upon the hills.  The firing
continued till four o’clock, great slaughter being made on both
sides. The enemy had now been able to make a stand for the
space of about two hours. N early the whole of our ammu-
nition was now exhausted, and numbers of our troops being
absolutely useless from the excessive fatigues of the day, at
ab(fu_t 4.30 P.). a general retreat was made. While we were
retiring a body of the enemy’s Hussars came up with the rear
of the 9th Regiment (for we happened to be hindmost of those
who retreated on that side). They cut down and took
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prisoners a few stragglers, but advanced no farther, being
unwilling to encounter our Dragoons. The whole of the army
took up their former position as soon as possible. Part of the
9th returned to their quarters at Grotskerk the same night.
The remainder went only as far as Petten that night. Both
our battalions lost nearly the same number in killed and
prisoners, our whole loss consisting of about 370 men, or per-
haps more.’

The noticeable feature in this diary is, that though it was
the young writer’s first practical experience of soldiering and
fighting, there is no personal allusion, but a broad, general,
and sensible view of the day’s action; and this perfect absence
of egotism characterised all his military writings.

The boy’s own account of this affair in his letter to his
aunt, written in the following week, is also singularly fresh and

characteristically modest.
¢ Zante: September 28, 1799.

¢ MY pDEAR AUNT,—I am afraid you have long been ex-
pecting to hear from me, but it has been quite impossible for
me to write before. We landed at Helder the 16th of this
month, and marched forwards immediately into cantonments.
On the 19th the Russians began the attack upon the French,
intrenched in several small villages before Alkmaar, at three
o’clock in the morning. General Manners’ brigade, consisting
of the 9th and 56th Regiments of Foot, was not engaged till
about six o’clock the same morning, having a march of fifteen
miles to effect before we reached the enemy. We drove the
French from the villages, but they knowing the several roads
and passages retreated to some very extensive sandhills
behind us, by which they kept us at bay, and being reinforced
made a dreadful havoc amongst us. We continued in this
manner from about eleven till four o’clock, when, for want of
ammunition and fresh reinforcements, we were obliged to
retreat. The 9th and 56th have received all the thanks from
H.R.H. the Commander-in-Chief due to their distinguished
activity and exertions that day. In the beginning of the
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action the Russians behaved with the greatest intrepidity, but
in the latter part, being very much weakened and fatigI}ed,
they for the most part quitted the field, and for a long time
the 9th and 56th were the only regiments that faced the enemy.
Such is the sketch of the affairs of this horrid day. The 9th
has suffered considerable loss, both in men and officers; the
first battalion, which was 800 strong, is now scarcely 400. I
had the honour of being in the advanced guard, and was
engaged the first. T was prepared to die, and assure you that
T had so made up my mind to every undertaking that I felt
as cool and cheerful as ever I did in my life. The fear of
death shall never move me, but the sight of the brave fellows
who sank by my side in defence of their King and country
was almost too much for me. I cannot express to you what I
felt. Colonel De Berniere and Major Gore have proved them-
selves true friends to me. They have applied to H.R.H. the
Duke of York to get me a captain-lieutenancy, which I under-
stand H.R.H. has been graciously pleased to grant. I have
not yet received my commission, and I suppose I have notyet
been gazetted. Scarcely any of our officers escaped without
some slight hurt, and many were killed. A bullet just grazed
the corner of my left eye near the beginning of the engage-
ment; it gave me a little headache, but I soon found it was
but a scratch. It is now quite well, and there is not even the
least mark remaining, which I am very sorry for. I do not
mind how many wounds I receive nor how I am disfigured,
so as it is all in front. I suppose it was the enchanted sword
that saved me. It will not be so elegant when H.R.H. the
Princess Mary sees it again as when I had the honour of re-
ceiving it from her, but I trust it will not have been disgraced.
Our most experienced officers confess that they never were in
a more obstinate engagement, nor where they experienced
more personal danger. I never thought I could have borne
the fatigue I did that day.! To render it still more dis-
agreeable, it rained most part of the time. We are now can-

" In a memorandum written in after-life, I find it stated that so great was his
fatigue that he slept for thirty hours after the battle.
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toned in the little village of Zaunte. We live upon beef and
mutton, and so cheap that we cannot spend our pay. We
shall all return quite rich. The French are now intrenched
upon the sandhills behind the villages of Schoreldam and
[torn], where we engaged them before. A general attack is
to be made upon them in a day or two. May Heaven afford
me sufficient strength to assist my desires! This is all I ask.
I will write to you after we have beat the rascals. I hope
Sophia and yourself are in good health. Sophia, I dare say,
will be very inquisitive about the battle, but pray tell her that
when I return she shall know all about it. We embarked at
Deal; and I, unluckily, had not an opportunity of seeing my
brothers. I hope my unext letter will be from Alkmaar. I
wish I could see some old newspapers when I return, to find
what account they give of our adventures here. I intend to
keep a journal of all the principal occurrences during the
campaign.
¢ And believe me, my dear aunt,
¢ Your dutiful and affectionate nephew,
‘W. M. Gomm.

‘P.S. I have just learnt that the captain-licutenancy has
been given to a very old lieutenant in the 56th Regiment, but
that the next vacancy I shall certainly have it. Iam notat all
disappointed, knowing that the promotion has been given to a
much more experienced officer than myself. There will be
many more opportunities.’

What a model letter for the young soldier to have written
in the midst of the discomforts of camp life !

On October 2 another battle was fought at Alkmaar, and the
Gallo-Batavian army was driven back. The 9th Regiment was
not, however, actively engaged on that day, having been em-
ployed as a reserve to the main body under Sir Ralph Aber-
cromby. The obstinate nature of that engagement is shown by
the heavy return of killed and wounded in the 92nd Regiment
alone, 1 colonel, 5 captains, 8 subalterns, 9 sergeants, and 268
rank and file being killed and wounded. Nor in the engagement
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near Egmont, on October 6, was the 9th Regiment actively
engaged. On October 18 the Duke of York effected a conven-
tion with the enemy, engaging to retire from the Helder im-
mediately, and to give up all the prisoners and guns which had
been taken during the campaign. An armistice was concluded,
and the whole of the British and Russian forces, together with
the Dutch loyalist deserters, left the coast or the Batavian
Republic and returned to England.

¢ Helder : October 19, 1799.

¢ My pDEAR AUNT,—I have at length found an opportunity
of writing to you, which I have often wished for since my last
letter, but have not till now been able to attain. You must
be acquainted with all the particulars of our proceedings since
our landing, and therefore it will be needless to give any ac-
count of them.

¢ Since September 19 the 9th has not been engaged, though
we have often been upon the point of going into action. We
are now encamped close to Helder, for the purpose of assisting
in raising some works begun here. From the appearance of
things at present, we shall soon see old England again, I
believe.” You need not doubt me when I say I shall be happy,
but I confess that if we had been more successful I had rather
have gone forward, and had a few more scuffles before I re-
turned. If we return, I hope at least our brigade may cover
the retreat, that we may smell gunpowder once more. I have
not time to send you a long letter, but can only say that I am
as well as it is possible to be, and that I like my profession if
possible better every day. I have heard from my brother.
Henry asks me whether I have yet been in battle! I hope you
and Sophia are both well, and that you received my last letter
of .the 21st of last month. I am afraid this writing is scarcely
legible, but I am so cold in my tent that I can scarcely hold
my pen. I hope I shall see all my friends soon, but I am
quite prepared to go where the regiment is ordered.’

. It was, however, on the previous day that the convention
ad been finally concluded at Alkmaar, and hostilities entirely
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ceased. The 9th Regiment embarked on October 25, and on
the 28th landed at Yarmouth and marched to Norwich.

Thus, before he was fifteen years of age, he was back again
in England, ¢an old soldier,’ with the experiences of a campaign
hard-fought and not inglorious, even though not actually suc-
cessful, nor definite in its results.

Looking back over his boyish journal, some years after-
wards, he writes the following ¢ Recollection of September 19,
1799 :—

“The apell of parted years is on my dream,
And hazards, more intense than wont to live
In boyhood’s chronicle, around me gleam :
And, for the stripling’s jocund narrative
Of perils wag'd around some rifled hive
Or ambush ’scaped of pedagogue in arms,
Mine breathes of host’s array, and memory warms
‘With her first glance on lists where nations strive.
Hymn'! of the Muscovite ! that roused the morn,
Thou wert a stern and awful orison
On my boy-ear :—and dread, ye echoes! borne
Upon the breezes of the coming day :
Dread, but exalting :—and my musings run
Back upon those throng’d hours, nor wake dismay.
¢W. M. G., 1836

A pamphlet, written ¢ by a subaltern,’ called ¢The Campaign
in Holland in 1799,” and published in 1861, to which I am
indebted for some of the above details, thus sums up the con-
clusion of the expedition :—

¢On their return home the thanks of Parliament were voted
to Vice-Admiral Mitchell, Lieut.-General Sir Ralph Aber-
cromby, and the officers and men employed under them; and

1 At the battle of Bergen, or of the Sandhills, as it is sometimes called, fought
under the Duke of York in Holland, the Russians advanced their batteries through
the deep and difficult ground, with their characteristic energy, to the attack of the
French intrenchments at daybreak, as is their custom, with hymns and inspiriting
choruses, and worthily emulated the recent successes of Souvaroff in Italy, in the
intrepidity of their first assault. Not so in their conduct after success—they dis-
persed to plunder, and were in their turn routed presently after; and the British
Brigade, under General Manners, appointed as their sustaining force, bore the
brunt of the conflict through the remainder of the day, till reinforced by the
Guards and other portions of the line,
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CHAPTER IIIL
1800-1805.

COAST OF PORTUGAL—VIGO BAY—GIBRALTAR—LISBON—RETURN HOME—
AIDE-DE-CAMP TO GENERAL COMMANDING N.W. DISTRICT—IRELAND—
JOINS STAFF COLLEGE, HIGH WYCOMBE—COMES OF AGE—CORRESPOND-
ENCE WITH HIS AUNT.

UNTIL the middle of the year 1800 the 9th Regiment was
quartered in Norwich, but in July they were ordered to em-
bark on foreign service, which they did, not knowing their
destination.

From Diary.

¢ August 1, 1800.— Embarked on board the Brailsford
transport at Southampton.

¢ The regiments embarked are Major-General Manners’
Brigade—viz. the three battalions of the 9th Foot; Major-
Geeneral Coote’s Brigade—viz. the 13th and 54th Regiments ;
Major-General Lord Cavan’s Brigade, 79th and 52nd Regi-
ments, together with the Royals and 27th Regiments, under
Major-General Morshead.” -

To his Aunt.
*Vigo Bay : August 30, 1800.

¢This is the first opportunity I have had of writing
to you since I left England. We sailed from Southamp-
ton on the 6th. On the 16th we arrived at Quiberon Bay,
off the island of Belle Isle, with full expectation of
attacking it. This, however, we afterwards found was not
our destination. We sailed from Quiberon on the 22nd, and
arrived on the Spanish coast, near Ferrol, on the 25th. Here
we landed the same day without opposition, except from a
small fort, which was soon silenced. We then advanced up
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the country as soon as we were landed towards Ferrol, which
was about six miles from the shore. The rifle corps were
engaged a little in the evening, but very slightly. The in-
tentiop in landing here was to get possession of six or seven
Spanish sail of the line in the harbour, which, they say, are
loaded with immense treasure. We slept on our arms in the
night, and at about 5 A.M. a firing was commenced by the
Spanish. The 52nd and 79th Regiments were engaged, and,
I believe, another regiment or two, for about half an hour,
when the Spaniards retreated ; indeed, there never were more
than a thousand of them together, so that you may easily
conceive the fire could not be very heavy. The 9th was not
actually engaged, though we were close in the rear ready to
blaze if required. I have not yet told you that this part of
the country is very hilly, indeed mountainous. Everything
was now done but the taking Fort St. Philip, a very strong
work, which prevented our men-of-war from sailing into the
harbour and attacking the shipping, as it commanded the
channel. To take the fort we only wanted to get our cannon
to bear upon it ; but to our great disappointment we found it
impossible to get it up the heights, so that all our plans were
frustrated. We were close to Ferrol the whole day, upon an
eminence which commanded the whole town. We were in
hopes of being able to storm the fort, but this was pronounced
impracticable by the engineers from its very strong situation.
It was a great disappointment to us when we reflected that
town, shipping, dollars, and everything else were ours if it had
been possible to bring our cannon into the country. Nothing
was now left but to relinquish our enterprise, and the troops
were re-embarked the same afternocn. Though the old 9th
have not an opportunity of being engaged yet, the 1st batta-
lion had the honour of covering the retreat of the whole army.
We were left oun the heights till the rest were embarked,
to resist the enemy should they attempt to follow; but the
poor fellows were very glad to let us off without any obstruc-
tion; indeed, I believe they would have lent us boats to row
s to our ships if it had been necessary. They seem to Le
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very poor soldiers; the French would have made it much
warmer work for us. We marched a single battalion® six
miles along their country, and even saw them on the adjacent
heights kindling their fires (for it was quite dark), and the
fellows were afraid to assault us in the least, when they might,
in our opinions, have cut us to pieces had they shown the least
spirit. I assure you we thought ourselves in a much more
disagreeable situation than they chose to make it for us. Ou
the 27th we sailed from Ferrol, and are now in Vigo Bay.
The country is, indeed, more beautiful than I can describe it
to you. We are close in shore. We have heard this morning
that we are now going to Gibraltar, there to meet with Sir
Ralph Abercromby’s army and to attack Cadiz. Another
report is that we are going to different parts of the Mediter-
ranean. . . . The best direction I can give you is Lieut.-
General er J ames Pulteney’s Floating Army, off the coast
of Spain. ’

The journal entries for some days are only € at anchor in
Vigo Bay, which is soon increased by ¢ tired of Vigo Bay.’

On September 6 there was a violent hurricane, in which
some of the vessels were driven ashore, but the Brailsford,
though she dragged her anchor, managed to hold, running foul
of a frigate or two.

The Brailsford sailed for the Straits of Gibraltar, and
anchored for some days at Tetuan Bay, on the Morocco
coast; and the diary records how, though forbidden to go
ashore on account of the ¢ plague,’ the young officers ¢ used to
disguise ourselves as sailors when the boats go for water and
smucrrrle grapes, figs, fowls, and everything that we can catch
hold of :

In the beginning of October they went across to Cadiz.

¢ October 5, 1800.—The ships belonging to Sir Ralph Aber-
cromby’s army, which did not join us at Tetuan, joined us in
coming through the Straits. We lay about two leagues off
the shore. Flags of truce are passing and repassing from the
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shore to our fleet during the whole day, but we can leax"n nothing
of the proceedings. We expect signals for land.mg every
moment. We hear to-day that Greneral Manners is removed
from our brigade, which is a great disappoin'tment, for we
hoped to be again on service with a commanding officer who
had gained the love and esteem of his brigade. He sent us a
shoulder of mutton and six bottles of wine.’

The three battalions of the 9th Regiment were then put
under command of Major-General Fisher, and a general order
was issued by Sir James Pulteney on October 5 detailing the
landing which was to be effected that night. The wind,
however, rose, and the surf was so high they were unable to
land, but had to put out again to sea. On October 12 they
were once more in Tetuan Bay, after encountering contrary
winds, as usual, in the Straits. The journal says: ¢ The old
tub Brailsford has the singular property of making about
twice as much leeway as headway.” They remained off and
on at Tetuan till the end of the month.

¢ October 31.— Anchored in Gibraltar Bay. We understand
that the three battalions of the 9th are to go to Lisbon.
Several other regiments to go with us. The remainder to go,
under the command of Sir Ralph Abercromby, up the Medi-
terranean. We are permitted to go ashore at Gibraltar, on
account of our having no sick, being the healthiest ship in the
fleet.

¢ November 1.—Land this morning and see the guard mount.
We go round the works. Find the town a miserable hole.
They have no fresh provisions, on account of the plague
raging in Barbary, from whence they get all their fresh pro-
visions. We lock upon ourselves as the luckiest fellows
existing in not remaining here, which we had long been afraid
would have been the case.’ ‘

At the same time he writes to his aunt from Gibraltar,
showing how weary the troops were of doing nothing but
knocking about on board ship. He says:—

‘ILhave been in as good health since I have been on
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board this « elegant ship,” the Brailsford, as ever I was in
my life, though, God knows, it is not from the comforts we
have enjoyed. If we were doing our country service in
lying on board transports in the manner we have done, that
alone would remove all the inconveniences we labour under.
We should then live sumptuously on salt junk ; but rolling
about in this way for no earthly purpose whatever, I own,
does not suit with my taste. However, I believe we shall
still remain loyal subjects. The army will not always be
lying on board transports. I hope for the credit of the
British army that something will soon be done worthy of them.
I am afraid that the business of Ferrol and other occurrences
are represented in a very disadvantageous light ; but, however,
I hope soon ““ you shall see what you shall see.” We expect
to winter in Portugal—at least everybody tells us we shall.
We are all heartily glad that we are not destined to garrison
Gibraltar, which we were once afraid of. I have been told
that this is the place to make an officer, but at the same time
it is a bad place for a young officer. The field is a much
better school for him than a garrison—as our colonel often
tells me. The town is a wretched hole. They have scarcely
anything in it, having no intercourse with Barbary, from a
report that the plague rages there. Everything they have is
at an enormous price, and there is never any amusement for
an officer but gaming and drinking. We have some prospects
before us in going to Portugal ; we shall have everything in
plenty there, and may see a little service.’

To his Aunt.

¢ Off Lisbon: November 14, 1800,

‘In my last letter from Gibraltar I told you we expected
to sail for Lisbon every hour, but we were obliged to go back
to Tetuan Bay again to get a supply of water. We sailed from
Tetuan on the 5th, and got in sight of the rock of Lisbon on
the 12th, with a fine breeze most of the time. On the 12th
the wind came against us, and separated the fleet, which con-

E
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sisted of about twenty-fivesail convoyed by a frigate. ~Yester-
day a lugger hove in sight about 6 A.M. From her appear-
ance we supposed her to be an enemy. There was only one
transport with us, so that we should cut a very poor figure
against a lugger, which in general carries heavy metal. She
hoisted English colours and passed us about twelve, though not
within gunshot. We did not admire her hoisting English
colours, which looked rather suspicious. She hovered round us
some time, and at last went out to sea, when we perceived that
she took down all her sails and put up fresh ones, which gave
her quite a different appearance. This confirmed us in our
opinion that she had some evil designs, and we expected a visit
from her in the night. About four o’clock a pilot came on
board us, who said she was a Spaniard, who had been cruising
off Lisbon for three or four days past. Upon this we prepared
ourselves as well as we could, resolved to do our best, and
stand out to the last. During the whole fourteen weeks we
have been at sea, we have been generally separated from the
rest of the fleet off the Spanish coast, for we are one of the
slowest sailers in the fleet. After having been so long exposed
to the mercy of any enemy that chose to appear, it would be
hard indeed to be taken in sight of Lisbon, where we expected
our cruise would be at an end. The evening was very dark,
so that it was difficult to perceive a ship unless very near.
About 8 p.m, the lugger passed close across our hows, with
the intention we suppose of seeing what we were. We deter-
mined the next time she came near us to fire into her, and find
out what she was, but we did not see her afterwards. Most
likely seeing us to be a troopship, she did not like attacking us
as she would perhaps lose a number of men, and could not gain
much if she took us.

¢ Thus ended the premeditated achievements of the Brails-
Jord transport off Lisbon !

‘ This morning the wind came fair, and we are now at
anchor in the harbour. The greatest part of the fleet are a
great way to the leeward, and will most probably not get in for
several days. It has always been a recommendation to the regi-
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ment, as well as a satisfaction to all the officers, that since we
embarked from England we are the healthiest regiment in the
whole army. Some regiments have two or three hundred sick,
and their ships are perfect hospitals. I do not believe we have
twelve men sick in the whole three battalions. In our ship
we have not one.’ ‘

To his Aunt.

¢ Lisbon : December 10, 1800.

<1 told you in my last that we expected to land every day,
but barracks could not be got ready till about a fortnight ago.
All the officers are in lodgings, as there are no barracks for
us. We are allowed lodging money, so that we are very well off.
I have got into a very comfortable box, with two other officers,
which, however, 1 believe we shall not keep long, as we have
had orders to réturn to England. You no doubt heard this
long before us. It is reported that we are going to war with
Russia. I hope this is far from being the case.

¢ Weare very well pleased with our quarters here; Lisbon
is a very fine city, but I never was in a dirtier place, We
have not seen all the lions yet, but as our stay is so uncertain,
I have determined to have a peep at everything worth seeing
before I leave the place. I have received the most flattering
encouragement and marked attention from Sir James Pul-
teney and General Manners. Pray tell Colonel Benson when
you see him that Sir James Pulteney inquired very much after
him when I dined with him last Sunday. I cannot help men-
tioning that it is entirely to him that I owe all the attention I
have been honoured with. I have forgot to tell you that Colonel
Fisher is appointed Brigadier-General, and commands the 3rd
battalion of the 9th. 'We lost General Manners when we were
lying off Cadiz. Never were fellows more disappointed, for
though I have the greatest respect for Colonel Fisher, yet we
could not help regretting the loss of a commanding officer with
whom we had been on service before, and who we all hoped
would have headed us when we expected to attack Cadiz. He

was beloved and respected by men and officers.’
E 2
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His notebook entry about the same time is—
¢ Lisbon would appear to much greater advantage were th_e
streets kept clean, which is far from being the case. ’ljhexr
churches are magnificent ; the altar-piece in St. Roque is said to
be the richest in Europe. The aqueduct which supplies all Lis-
bon with water, situated about three miles from the town, is re-
ported to be the grandest of the kind in the world. This stood
unshaken during the great earthquake (1755) which convulsed
the whole country round, as appears from its rugged appear-
ance and the ruins. The people seem an indolent race ; quiet
if unmolested, but once provoked revengeful to excess. It is
looked upon as a prodigy if three or four murders are not com-
mitted every week. They are bigoted to the Catholic religion.
They seem to have a great aversion to the English.

¢ Several men have been murdered since we came here. Their
soldiers (such as we have seen) appear sluggish and ill-
disciplined. We suppose that our coming has raised the
price of provisions, for they are very dear. The weather is
fine, and the heat sometimes oppressive, even at this time of
year. Their principal amusements are on Sunday. The opera
is very good, though perhaps inferior to that of London.’

In December orders for returning home were received, and
on the 20th the 9th Regiment were once more on board the old
Brailsford. They sailed out of the Tagus on the 29th; but
the new century began for them inauspiciously, as they en-
countered very heavy weather, which on the 3rd increased to
a gale. The diary says :(—

€At 7 .M. gale more violent than ever, with heavy rain.
The old Brailsford sprung a leak; we are now worse off than
ever; they have three feet of water in our hold; however, we
manage to stop it up pretty well, but not completely.

“4th.—The gale increases at night; we are in danger of
running aboard a ship, the man at our helm being drunk—
bad work !’

On the 21st they reached Portsmouth, but after the ship
had been fumigated they were re-embarked for Jersey.
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¢ Heard of the news- of the death of General Goldsworthy,
January 8.

¢ February 1.—We land at St. Aubins and march to St.
Heliers. We are in the Granville barracks, the 2nd and 3rd
battalions in the town. This is a very fine island, and we are in
the pleasantest part of it. Our men are falling sick every day,
on account of having been on board ship so long.

¢24.—We have now scarcely 200 effective men in the
battalion, which was 700 strong. The other battalions are very
sickly, though not so bad as we. It isreported that the French
intend attacking the island. We should at this moment muster
a very small force, but they are British soldiers !

¢ Recruiting parties are ordered to be sent to England im-
mediately from each battalion. I am appointed aide-de-camp !
to General Benson.

¢ March 10.—Embark on board the packet with my recruit-
ing party, landing next day at Southampton, and send my
party on to Liverpool.

¢ April 1.—Arrive at Liverpool. 1 was unsuccessful, in
common with nearly the whole army, in raising men.’

In June 1802 Gomm rejoined his regiment in Silverdale,
and in August they went to Chatham ;in October to Plymouth.

1803.—Early in this year he raised men for rank, and there-
by got his promotion to a field officer’s company in June.

In September the regiment embarked for Ireland, ¢landed
at Kinsale, a wretched hole. March through Cork to Kil-
kenny, county Tipperary, very highly cultivated: Cork,
mountainous and barren. Kilkenny, very flat, but rich and
well cultivated. The regiment is reviewed here by the Com-

! That the duties of aide-de-camp were discharged to the satisfaction of the
public is testified by the fact that, at a common council, held on January 6, 1802,
on the motion of the Mayor, Peter Whitfield Berncher, Esq., Lieutenant William
Gomm was presented with the freedom of the City of Liverpool, for his general
attention to the duties of his office as aide-de-camp to Major-General Benson,
commanding officer of the North-Western District, during the time of his residence
in the town,
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mander-in-Chief, Lord Catheart. Two of our sentries were
fired at by some mischievous persons—a trick much practised
in Dublin at this time by the disaffected—chiefly upon the
yeomanry, at night; one of them was wounded in the ham, t}.xe
offender never discovered. Some of us fall in love with Kil-
kenny.’

¢ 1804.—In the beginning of January the regiment marched
to Kilbeggen, Moat, and Clara, county Westmeath. A very
flat country all the way ; the roads remarkably good ; provisions
much cheaper than in England ; the people indignant to excess.
Accommodation on the roads indifferent. The country is
quiet now ; invasion by the French, or rather an attempt at
invasion, daily expected. The regular force in the country
is supposed to be about twenty-six thousand, militia included.

¢We found Portarlington the only town worth noticing on
our route; it is much smaller than Kilkenny, and appears to
have little to do with trade, but there are many excellent
houses, and consequently I suppose there is a very genteel
society.’

It is no doubt matter for some surprise to find that William
Gomm, who joined his regiment as a mere boy, and at once
went abroad on active service, should have found time and
opportunity to make himself a well-educated man, both in
history, classics, and modern languages ; for in those days our
regimental messes were not supposed to represent a high state
of mental culture. One of the secrets of his success is given
in aletter to his sister from Kilbeggen, January 17, 1804.

‘I generally pass my mornings, when not engaged in regi-
mental duty, with which by-the-bye, we are far from bein g
overburdened at present, in reading history.” In the same
letter occurs the following amusing story: I do not know if
you have ever heard of the famous Lady Cuffe. She keeps
the inn at this place ; we have been not a little entertained at
the story of her obtaining and retaining the title. It is first
of all necessary to tell you that the Lord-Lieutenant of Ireland
has, or had, the power of knighting whom he thought proper.
The Duke of Rutland, while presiding in this country, hap-
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pening to pass by Kilbeggen, was so well pleased with the
entertainment afforded him by Mr. Cuffe, the innkeeper—no
less in regard to drinking than eating, we may reasonably
imagine—that his Grace,in the plenitude of his power, conferred
the rank of knighthood upon his noble host the same evening.
Disapproving the next morning of the hasty step he had
taken, His Grace expressed his wishes to Sir Peter that the
business should be considered null and void. Sir Peter is
said to have replied that being a man of moderate desires, and
an enemy professed to all pomp and vanity, he for his part
would cheerfully resign his new-fledged honours, but that he
had consulted ¢ Lady Arabella” on the subject, whose senti-
ments were far from being so humble as the knight’s, in con-
sequence of which His Grace gave up the point, and Lady
Couffe has been acknowledged by all ranks and sizes of people.
She appears now to be about seventy years of age, and is in
high health and beauty.’

In March the 9th Regiment was moved to Dublin, where
he writes :—¢ The garrison is supposed to consist of 5,000 men ;
we have eight regiments of infantry and two of cavalry.
Lord Cathcart reviews the greater part of us in general three
times a week ; this employs us nearly the whole morning, so
you may perceive his lordship intends, if possible, to rid our
characters of the charge of idleness, for which failing the army
is 80 notorious. The Lord-Lieutenant invited the garrison to
the Castle ball on St. Patrick’s night, and in consequence of
our very recent arrival His Excellency very graciously waived
the ceremony of a formal presentation, and requested our
attendance also that evening; we availed ourselves of the
opportunity, and were highly gratified with a display of every-
thing that Dublin can produce in the way of elegance and
fashion. Since then we have attended the Drawing-room, and
had the honour of being presented to Lady Hardwicke.’

As an instance of how well they were kept employed he
says in his letter of June 18, 1804: ¢ A few mornings ago
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Lord Cathecart ordered the entire garrison under arms a little
after twelve o’clock, and after marching us about ten miles
tawards Drogheda and taking up several positions, we returned
home a little before three the following afternoon, so that we
were kept in motion nearly fifteen hours, the greater part of
which was under a broiling sun; but this is a superior sort of
drill, which, as it affords us instruction of the most necessary
kind, so from its novelty there is a sort of amusement attending
its fatigue.’

A subaltern of the present day would scarcely write so
pleasantly of a fifteen hours’ march.

While at Dublin he applied for leave to join the Military
College at High Wycombe. This college had been established
about the year 1801, and had been placed under the superin-
tendence of General Jarry, who had been aide-de-camp to
Frederick the Great. At that time Howard Douglas was
superintendent of the senior department, and he eventually
succeeded Jarry as commandant. In Mr. Fullom’s ¢ Life of
Sir Howard Douglas,’ a just tribute is paid to the excellent
influence exercised by him over the young officers who studied
there.  Shortly after his joining the college he writes to his
aunt :—

‘I have managed to get over this formidable examination,
which resembled, however, in many points that which you
gave me an account of, and indeed I am very glad you had
prepared me for a question similar to Pontius Pilate, for the
mathematician attacked me with such an air of importance
that I really began to doubt whether T was master of long
division. From what I have hitherto been able to collect, [
do not see a prospect of carrying myself a mile out of the town,

except on a Sunday, which is a day of rest.

¢ . . . . .
The hours of fagging are from nine in the morning until

four in the afternoon ; they will shortly commence at eight and
end at three. The time is divided in this manner: the two
first hours are given up to French and German; the two

following hours are applied to mathematics, and drawing is
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taught from two to four. There are six classes for each of
these studies, but very few go beyond the fifth, and it is so
managed that each of the branches should keep pace with the
other; for which purpose when an officer has attained the
knowledge necessary for the class he belongs to in one branch
of his study he is made to apply more immediately to those in
which he is not so forward, and is not promoted until he has
made equal progress in all. 1 am fortunate to begin with the
fourth class of French, which I find to be a great advantage.
The study of German is optional, but of course I shall not
hesitate a moment in offering myself for it; but this is not
permitted to be taught until the fourth class of French is
attained, so that there are officers here who have been a
twelvemonth preparing themselves, and are only now begin-
ning the German grammar.

¢ The teachers seem all perfectly masters of their task, and
show great attention.

¢ The expense I shall incur here will be very little more
than with the regiment, after paying the subscription, which
is thirty guineas annually, and the purchase of a horse, which
last, however, will not be necessary for the present, as the
sketching does not commence till April 1, and there is a great
deal of drudgery to get over before I can be admitted as a
candidate for this part of the study; however, I mean to fag
hard at the dry part, and get over it as soon'as I can. The
mess is regulated upon the same plan with that of a regiment,
excepting that the quantity of wine is limited, as I explained
to you the other morning. I am fortunate in meeting an old
Woolwich acquaintance here ; we are both beginners.

¢ The officers are a very genteel set, and I assure you they
seem in general very tolerably disposed to work hard. I shall
write to you or Sophia again shortly, and have only to add
now that I am very much pleased with my situation. I had
forgot to tell you about my lodging. I pay 14s. a week for
it, and am allowed 8s. I believe it is actually the cheapest in
the town, and at the same time a very good one.’
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As illustrative of this period of his life, the following note
written by Sir William to Sir Archibald Alisonis interesting :—

+33, Brunswick Terrace, Brighton : December 12, 1864.

¢ My pEAR SIR ArcHIBALD,—I rejoice to gather from
public report that you are engaged in writing a  Life of Lord
Hardinge.” There could be no worthier employment even for
your pen.

¢I do not presume, unbidden, to offer details for your
acceptance in furtherance of the good work, and few they are
that I could furnish from my own experience—so widely sepa-
rated have been the scenes of our respective callings from the
period of youth upwards—but there is one anecdote of his
early life always a favourite one with me, which it is possible
may not have reached you through any other channel-—so
many of our compeers in age having passed from this scene—
an anecdote, however, which I feel persuaded you would not
willingly let die while engaged in setting forth the true
nobility of the character.

¢ We were fellow-students at the Royal Military College
of High Wycombe in the years 1805-6, and I recollect Deare,
a fine young ensign of the 3rd (now Fusilier) Guards, giving
us while seated round the mess-table one day after dinner an
animated account of the landing in Egypt, in which operation
the Guards, as was ever their wont, bore no mean part, and in
the course of which he was wounded; and I see Hardinge, at
this moment seated opposite to me, bursting into tears at the
stirring recital, inveighing bitterly against the jade Fortune
who suffered that young fellow to have already seen and done
so much while she kept him still a laggard from the real field
of action !

¢ I recollect, too, that the incident brought to my mind at
the moment the parallel bearing recorded of the yet unlaurelled
Casar while contemplating the exploits of the young Alex-
ander, Yand I drew a happy augury from the circumstance.

‘We were very intimate at Wycombe, I have always been
proud to feel, and the affection was lasting, uninterrupted
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by personal estrangement to the close of his brilliant career ;
and I may thus hope for your indulgence while intruding npon
you as I am here doing.—Believe me to be, my dear Sir
Archibald, ¢ Faithfully yours,

‘W. M. Gomm.’

From a memo in hishandwriting it appears that the follow-
ing were some of his fellow-students at High Wycombe in
1805-6 :— .

Captain Douglas, afterwards General Sir James Douglas, K.C.B.

»  Herries, % General Sir William Herries, K.C.H.

and C.B.

o Hardinge, ,, General Viscount Hardinge, G.C.B.

% Brotherton, ,, General Sir Joseph Brotherton.

e Langton

»  Dickson, o Sir J. Dickson.

5 Scovell, @ General Sir George Scovell, K.C.B.

2 Campbell, ,, Major-General Sir James Campbell,
Bart.

s  Thorn, 5 Major-General Thorn, K.H.

P Frankland, ,, Killed at Rolica.

s . Le Messnier, ,, Killed at Albuera.

»»  Murray, o Sir George Murray.

All the above served on the staff of the Quartermaster-
General through the Peninsular war, in charge of divisions of
the army. Colonel Lie Marchant (afterwards Sir Gaspard Le
Marchant), who was killed at Salamanca, was governor of the
college, and Lieut.-Colonel Douglas (afterwards General Sir
Howard Douglas) was superintendent.

On November 10, while at High Wycombe, Captain
Gomm came of age. How sensible a woman his aunt and
guardian, Miss Jane Gomm, was, is shown by the following
letter which she wrote to him on the occasion :—

¢ Lower Lodge, Windsor: November 11, 1805,

‘My pEArR WiLLiaM,—Had it been in my power I
should have made your birthday yesterday as merry as possible,
but I cannot give fétes. However, it was impossible for me
rot to feel more than usual on your twenty-first birthday. It
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is the period at which all men are called upon, rich or not rich,
to act for themselves. You will therefore forgive me, I hope,
if I say something on the occasion. You, my dear William,
will not be encumbered with riches or a great income to
manage, but you have, in my opinion, fully as great a task
before you, and that is to maintain the good character you
have already obtained by your early entrance into life. You
have been endowed by the Almighty with a greater facility
of apprehension and a greater desire of improvement than
falls to the share of most young men of your age. You must
therefore naturally feel a superiority in that respect which is
very pardonable; but as you value your fame, never allow
these sensations to carry you away. Self-conceit and assurance
disfigure the most transcendent merit, and are odious in every
rank. It is as unbecoming to a prince as it is in any other
situation of life. Modest merit is always amiable; and people
will always be more ready to acknowledge eminent qualities
in those that do not put them forward themselves, and their
excellence will be beloved as much as admired.
¢ There is, beside, another though more trifling subject on
which you and every military man should be put on his guard,
and that is with respect to manners. Living much with men
makes people boisterous, noisy, and inattentive to what they
say and do.  Situated as young men are in the army, nothing
but the most scrupulous attention on this score can prevent
their contracting these habits, and as you will most probably
live still more with men than ever, I cannot help giving you
this caution. I am anxious to see you good and great, and I
wish that, in addition to all these qualities, your manners may
have the polish those of a gentleman ought to have. Alas!
human nature 1s 5o prone to contract bad habits, and especially
the habits of those we are sometimes foreed to live with, that
the safest is to be upon our guard at every age, and never to
relax on that point. A
. ¢ Upon a more essential subject than any I have yet men-
tioned, 1 flatter myself your principles are fixed. Yet I can-
not help beseeching you to be on your guard against the
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wretched casuistry and the levity you may meet with at home
and abroad. For that reason never enter into jokes upon
religious subjects ; nobody can tell how far a joke may carry
one. You cannot pretend to reform the unprincipled men
that may fall in your way ; but you may show them you do
not like to listen to them. I say this more for what you may
meet with abroad than in England; for, thank God ! irreligion
is not the vice of the age with us, but I am afraid you will find
that it is so on the Continent.

¢ As this is not written to reproach you with any defects
you may have, my dear William, but to warn you from catch-
ing the many errors you will find floating in society, I hope
you will not take it as a reproof, but as the advice of onewho
has lived much longer than you in the world, and who is most
anxious about you. May the Almighty bless you and pre-
serve you from the many faults human nature is subject to, is,
and will be, my constant prayer. Do not answer this letter,
but let your whole life be a proof that you have attended to
these injunctions, and I cannot experience a greater satisfac-
tion; and believe me ever, my dear William,

‘ Your truly affectionate aunt,
¢ Jane Gomm.’

This letter, which he evidently prized highly, is found
carefully stored among his papers, put into a separate cover
and docketed by him. His reply was unusually brief, being
merely a sentence in a note written the following day about a
projected visit to his aunt at Windsor. ’

My DEAREST AUNT,—I received yesterday morning
your letter. You have pointed out to me the manner in
which you would have it answered. I think you will believe
me sincere when I promise you I have read it more than once,
and that if I am ever fortunate enough in the least to resemble
the model it presents me with, I shall have attained the first
ambition of my soul. With my best love to Sophia, and kindest
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CHAPTER 1V.
1805-1808.

EXPEDITION TO BREMEN—RETURNS TO STAFF COLLEGE—PASSES ExAM1-
NATION—EXPEDITION TO STRALSUND-—~BOMBARDMENT OF COPENHAGEN
—ARMY RECEIVES THANKS OF PARLIAMENT.

TowARrDS the end of the year 1805 William Gomm’s studies
at the Military College were broken in upon by a call to arms.
He had heard that his regiment was under orders for India, and
was to embark almost immediately. He therefore hurried up
to London and saw General Brownrigg, the Adjutant General;
but as the destination of the regiment was so uncertain, he was
divided between his anxiety to effect an exchange so as to
avoid going to India, and his extreme desire not to exchange
if there was a chance of his regiment being ordered on active
service in Europe. .
¢ London : November 21, 1805.
¢ It is impossible, my dear aunt, for anything to have been
more kind than General Brownrigg’s behaviour to me this
morning. . . . To cut the matter short, I must tell you
plump that I am neither going to India nor going with the
Guards ; but I hope I am going to the Mediterranean. Before
I go any further I must tell you a good thing, which is, that I
have. positively let General Brownrigg into the secret of the
regiment being destined for India. Who would ever have
thought that Captain William Gomm should have been before-
hand with the Quartermaster-General in news about his own
regiment? I shall tell this asa triumph some time hence ; but,
unfortunately, when it would go down so much better, it is
probably more prudent that I should be tongue-tied upon the
subject. But, to proceed. As I was going to say, he pro-
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tested to me that he knew nothing of the regiment being
destined for India. At the same time, he thought it a very
likely thing that the Duke of York, out of kindness to bim,
would take such a measure, as it was always considered advan-
tageous to the colonel; and from what his Royal Highness
had mentioned to Princess Mary, there could be no doubt of
his intentions. I then begged of him to consider that my only
wish was to avoid going to India in making an exchange, and
that as T was convinced the regiment was not destined for that
quarter immediately, being at present under orders for em-
barkation, it might possibly be intended for more active ser-
vice. In this case I begged of him, for God’s sake, not to
suffer me to take any steps towards a removal from the regi-
ment till it was released from any engagement of this sort.
He told me they had certainly been destined for the Mediter-
ranean, but that so many changes had lately taken place (and
he mentioned the situation of Portugal) that, upon his honour,
he knew not at this moment their destination. Until I know
more, I shall have nothing but golden dreams when I sleep. I
hope you will not construe this unworthily into any allusion to
prize money. Then we came more immediately to the subject
of exchange. He said it would be the height of madness to
think of it. I was a little surprised at his telling me I had
better have asked the Duke to give me a majority, instead of
leave to exchange. I should as soon have thought of asking
for the Gold Stick when it became vacant. He then made
another proposal to me, which I confess I should have been
afraid to have made to him, which was to apply for leave of
absence, and by that means to remain with the 2nd battalion,
and he thought no reflection would attach to me for this mode
of proceeding; but I confess that much as T respect his eanc-
tion for any step I may take, I had rather go any other way
to work than this. The fact is, he sees the exchange with the
same eyes that Doctor Johnson did the enlisting a boy into the
{mvy—viz. nobody would go there who had interest to get
into Nex.vgate. This other plan I have great hopes of getting
accomplished. There is now only one captain above me who,
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he thinks, will not purchase, and as one of the lieut.-colonels
is upon the point of leaving the regiment and selling out, I may
stand a chance of coming in for the majority by purchase,
which will, of course, bring me into the 2nd battalion. . . .’

His quiet studies at High Wycombe and his doubts about
applying for an exchange were alike put an end to on finding at
the beginning of December that his regiment was ordered to
embark at once on foreign service. He posted up to Londoa,
but, finding that the regiment had already sailed, he posted
down to Ramsgate, where he found the Isis, with part of the -
9th on board, forced in by the weather ; he, therefore, secured
a passage in her. The fleet had sailed so suddenly that I
am not the only one left behind. Colonel de Berniere, and
three or four other officers, have not joined. I have heard or
seen nothing of them.’

A few days afterwards, December 21, 1805, he writes from
Deal to his aunt, reporting that the Ariadne was missing.
¢ She is the headquarter ship of the regiment; the flower of
the regiment is on board her. Colonel de Berniere arrived
here while she was weighing her anchor, and sailed with her.
She is one of the largest and finest ships in the fleet. The
number on board is near 300, including my own company,
with which I should have sailed, had I been in time. This
is sometimes a painful reflection to me. Yo6u will not be sur-
prised at our being a little, or more than a little, anxious on
the subject. Possibly she has reached her destination. She
is a very fine ship. I sail on board the Harriet, which is at
present the headquarter ship, and beyond comparison one of
the finest in the fleet in every respect. Orders arrived yes-
terday by express for the fleet to put to sea immediately.

*22nd. There was no post yesterday. Nine o’clock: the
signal is just made for sailing. The wind quite fair and very
moderate. We are just going on board. No accounts of our
Ariadne. I shall write to youin a day or two from Emden or
the Weser.’

F
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¢« Bremen Lehe: December 28, 1805.

«My DEAR Soprmia,—I feel the highest satisfaction at
being able at length to tell you that we are safely arrived on
this shore. Nothing could have been more fortunate than our
passage, and all our calamities were to begin after having
anchored in the Weser. We reached it on the afternoon of
Christmas Day, but the passage is rendered so intricate by the
number of sands which are found on either side, that the con-
voy did not consider it prudeut to attempt this without the
assistance of pilots. These (for what reason we at present
know not) have never made their appearance, notwithstanding
repeated signals, by which means we have been put to our
shifts. The night before last was a most unpleasant one, or
rather the morning. We were roused about two o’clock by
the confusion occasioned by our having dragged our anchors
and run foul of another vessel. The negligence of our honest
crew suffered the business to proceed to this extremity before
they were apprised of the vessel having drifted. The wind
had risen unpleasantly high, and the snow nearly deprived
us of our sight, the faculty we are on such occasions most in
need of. However, we parted after giving each other two
or three hearty hugs, which did not materially hurt either
of us; at the same time both vessels drove, till we were
fortunate enough to find her anchors hold. This was cer-
tainly fortunate, for the breakers were not at the time
above three cables’ length astern of us—no great distance,
I assure you—and as the surf was beating high from the
violence of the weather, we should certainly not have been
well received on the shoals. But we rode it out in close
society during the remainder of the night. In the morning
we found that our anchor had fixed upon the cables of the
vessel we had so wrongly handled. You may judge how
agreeably I was surprised on hearing from some men of the
artillery who had jumped on board us during the fray, we
being the larger and possibly the stronger vessel, that James !

! His second cousin, James Alexander Gomm, son of the Rev. William Gomm,

of Bramdean. He was the same age as William Gomm, and was in the Artillery.
He died at Bramdean in 1816. ’
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was with them. I have as yet only had an opportunity of
hailing him. We were both of us well pleased at having
parted when we did. 'We had some difficulty in getting into
this harbour, which is about ten miles up the river from the
place we anchored at. We were obliged to cut our cable to
avoid the fate of a larger vessel which had just run upon the
sands. As the morning was fine and without wind, there is
no doubt of the crew, which consisted of 500 men, being saved;
but the vessel may be lost or much damaged if the wind rises.
I shall not say anything more on the subject of our little ad-
ventures, which, however, interested us at the moment. They
only serve to convince us that it has been rather owing to
a good Providence than to our own wits that we are here in
safety. In the weather we have had it was almost impossible
to err, notwithstanding which one of our fleet, the Helder,
ran on shore near the Texel; we have heard nothing further
of her. . It was a fine night, and we have great hopes that the
crew have not only been saved but preserved for the King’s
service by our frigates, She had half the 5th Regiment on
board. The truth is that the greater part of the vessels em-
ployed on this service, at least a very heavy proportion of
them, are perfectly unacquainted with these seas, and the crews
which have generally been employed to the westward are as
well acquainted with the Straits of Magellan or the river of the
Amazons as with the North Sea and the Weser, Certainly
our vessel is‘a very fine one, but I can say nothing for the
crew. But enough of this, We have reached the shore much
more happily, I believe, than England expected we should,
and I admire the firmness and enterprise of the Government in
not giving way at the first ill-success, if we are at all in
request here. I am afraid to speak to you yet of our poor
Ariadne ; we have as yet had no communication with the shore
or harbour. She may be here, and we may still be the same
regiment we have long had the reputation of being. May
Heaven grant it be so!

¢ P.S.—31st. There has not been a possibility of my send-
ing this off since we arrived. . . . The ship with the 5th

F 2
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on board has just got off the sands. We expect to land to-
morrow. It was very cold when we arrived; it has since
thawed, and the country is a sea of mud. While I am
writing (10 p.:.) it blows a gale, or rather a hurricane ; but
we are very safe in the harbour. I trust none of our friends
are off the Dutch coast. The Hambro’ papers mention to-day
the loss of several vessels of our fleet. You may, of course, have
heard it all. Not a word of the Ariadne. Adieu! May you
all spend as happy and merry a Christmas as I wish you. . .

¢Bremen Lehe : January 7, 1806.

¢ MY DEAR SorHI1A,—At length I am allowed the satis-
faction of telling you that we are all landed ; but it was only
yesterday that the brigade of which the 9th forms a part
came on shore. Since I last wrote to you circumstances have
taken place for which we are even now at a loss to account.
We received the order five days ago to disembark, but were
shortly after directed to remain on board. At the same time,
all the shipping which had secured itself as much as possible
from the weather, by running every vessel dry upon the shore,
has received orders to furnish itself immediately with a fresh
supply of water, and to be ready to return to England at the
first notice. 1t has been reported that this is in consequence
of the further successes of the French, of which we have re-
ceived no authentic accounts. But it is scarcely doubted by
any one here that everything is as bad as it can be in Bohemia.
Itis said that the Emperor of Germany has made peace,!
the Emperor of Russia retired in consequence, and that the
King of Prussia has undertaken to prevent the French from
approaching the Elbe or Weser, for the purpose of course
of allowing the British Army to return unmolested. God
forbid that any of this report should be founded upon truth !
We are unfortunately the youngest brigade; that is,

! On December 15, 1805, was concluded the treaty of Vienna between Austria
and Prussia ; one condition of which was that Prussia was to take possession of
Hanover; and on December 26, 1805, France and Austria concluded the treaty of-
Presburg.
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the general officer who commands us—General Hill—is the
youngest in the army here, consequently we have been the last
to disembark. At the same time, we have hopes that we shall
shortly move up the river, and that we shall experience no
disadvantage from this circumstance. The army is all on the
right bank of the Weser, and we are the right of the whole—
that is, the furthest from the scene of action. This is so far
fortunate, as 1 believe nothing has been done yet; and, pro-
vided it does not continue too long, as our men will have time
to recruit themselves after their long confinement. They have
been on board nine weeks. They are, however, very healthy.
I am sure you will all partake in our joy at hearing (which
you must have done before this time) of the safety of our
friends of the Ariadne. They are every one of them prisoners
of war at Valenciennes. Thisis the only authentic intelligence
we have as yet received. What has become of the ship,
whether they were wrecked, or how taken, we know not. It
is a grating reflection to us, that we have lost the flower of our
regiment—QColonel de Berniere—and the principal officers be-
fore we enter the field, for they certainly cannot join us again for
a long time, if at all, while we are in Germany. The whole
of the Grenadier Company is taken. At the same time, in
comparison with the accounts we had too much reason
hourly to expect, we were overjoyed at this intelligence. You
must have seen in the papers, after the first sailing of our
division, an account of two vessels having been wrecked upon
the Noorder Sands, near the Texel, the one a brig, from which
all were saved, the other a large ship, in which all perished
except fourteen. I never mentioned it to you, but from the
moment those accounts arrived the safety of the Ariadne was
almost despaired of. If the accounts were correct, she was
the only vessel missing whose size and number of the crew
corresponded with those mentioned. These vessels have not
been accounted for, and we should be inclined to set it down as
entirely false, if any end could be assigned to so cruel a for-
gery. We have still a small vessel missing. We have no
apprehensions for her safety, but we fear that she has returned
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to England, so that the force with which we first left the
country is reduced from 1,000 to I fear less than 600. Ibe-
lieve I have already told you that my own company was on
board the Ariadne, and that I ought myself to have been with
it. How fortunate I am in escaping, if we are to be actively
employed here! We have saved the colours by a singular
good fortune. It is always customary to lodge them on board
the headquarter ship, and the Harriet happening to be so at
Falmouth, on account of Colonel de Berniere having left the
regiment for a few days, they were brought from the Ariadne,
and have remained on board our vessel ever since.

< 8th.—1I have just been reading the Hambro’ papers which
arrived here this day. They bring intelligence of a cessation
of arms having been agreed upon for the space of three
months, during which time no alterations or reinforcements are
to be made in the armies on either side. We are all included
in this treaty. It is supposed that it will terminate in a
general or at least a continental peace. I hope not, for the
sake of England and of Europe. There can surely be no
peace at this crisis which has not universal slavery for its
basis. It seems probable that we shall remain as we are until
something fresh transpires, which we may with great reason
expect before the three months have passed over our heads.
I very much fear that we shall, from these circumstances, re-
main in our present quarters much longer than we wish. Not
that they are by any means bad—very far from it; but we can
scarcely call ourselves in the country, and it would be shocking
to return home without having had an opportunity of seeing
more of it. This place is called Lehe only upon the map; it
is a large village; we find everything in it that we require
for convenience, and even sometimes for luxury, although we
have long ago renounced all pretensions to the latter. The
people are subject to the King, and therefore well disposed to
us. We are here at present without any money, and the
Commander-in-Chief has in consequence issued orders that the
soldiers should be supplied by the people, until money can be
had, with a certain allowance of provisions, for which they will
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be repaid by the heads of the department. However, you will
easily understand that the people will not be gainers by this
system, which, at the same time, is the best possible to be
adopted; not that they can suffer much by it, but there will
always be little excesses committed among soldiers as well as
other people on these occasions. The people are perfectly
good-humoured, and they have been so schooled in hardships
during the last few years that what might be termed delicacy
in us in a saucy country is only decency here. The French
were in this town for two years and a half, during which
time the inhabitants were forced to supply them with every-
thing they required at free cost; and as it was here that the
English were expected to land whenever they thought proper
to send a force into this country, the requisitions they made
were in proportion heavier than in most other parts. We are,
however, always inclined to search after something that can
merit our approbation in the midst. of all the excesses the
French have been guilty of throughout Europe, and it gives
us pleasure to find the people unanimous in their accounts,
that setting aside their extortions their behaviour was for the
most part decent and becoming. The people talk very little
English in this town, which I am glad of. I am endeavouring
to learn whether their German is good; otherwise it is dan-
gerous. The master of our vessel amused us highly in the
report he gave us of the inhabitants the day before we landed.
He had come on shore for provisions, and being neither a wit
nor a linguist, he began by addressing them in plain English,
but he found them all so sulky and ill-disposed to the cause
that not one of them would speak a word of English for him,
and he was obliged to return as empty as he went. When first
we arrived, the snow was deep on the ground. Several days
after it thawed, and we have had neither snow nor frost since,
which we are told is, and should naturally conceive to be, un-
common at this season. We have reason to regret this circum-
stance, for you have no conception of the state of the roads in
this temper of the weather. We landed at the village of
Giesendorf, at the opening of the creek which you will find
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marked upon the map, about. four miles from hence, b}xt our
march to this place was really an undertaking. .It is not
sloppy mud, but a sort of clay, which, I am convinced, has
something to do with the powers of the loadstone, for I was
often in danger of leaving my boots behind me. I am sure
Mr. Bolt would agree with me upon this subject. We are
told the country is equally bad further on. The part we are
in is a perfect plain, and the water is only retained by dykes. -
However, bad as the road is, I would willingly undergo a long
march if it could be allowed us. Horses are to be had very
cheap, and as forage will be allowed us, we all intend furnish-
ing ourselves if we move forward. Provisions of every descrip-
tion are cheaper than in England, though dearer beyond com-
parison than they were a short time back. I assure you I am
obliged to put my German to the proof in my own defence.
It is very seldom that I find French of use to me here; this I
am not surprised at. I am very much at a loss at present,
though perhaps not quite so much as some of my neighbours,
and this, I assure you, is no small encouragement to me. I
am determined to take every opportunity of exercising the
little T am in possession of, and as they are not so mal-honnéte
as our honest countrymen, who burst out into a hoarse laugh
whenever they hear a stranger talk English, I allow myself
more liberty than I probably should do were I in Mr. Becker-
dorff’s situation. I have as yet heard nothing of him. Tell
aunt I have found her map already of infinite use. I assure
you it shall not appear to disadvantage when you see it again.
At Deal I pasted it upon canvas, and made a case for it. It
is my constant companion when I read the Hambro’ paper,
which renders the latter as interesting as it is instructive, not
from its comments, for I believe it is wholly under French in-
fluence, but for the language. I have not told you, my dear
Sophy, how good a sailor I have become. I had no sea sick-
ness worthy beiug called so during the whole time I was on
board, and T assure you I have been fifty times indebted to
your little present and its contents for this ; it lends more
courage on such occasions than I could possibly have con-
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ceived. And now, my dear Sophis, I must leave off, for I
have already squeezed so much into this unfortunate sheet of
paper, that whenever I open it I despair of your ever being
able to make head or tail of it. Indeed, I scarcely hope to be
forgiven by aunt after all her admonitions, particularly as I
recollect hearing her express her disapprobation at all criss-
crossing. I hope when you write you will say something of
Henry, though I cannot hope that he has yet arrived in Eng-
land. The post leaves here only twice a week, which is the
_ reason of my detaining this. I have just room to beg my best
- duty to aunt,and everything you can say kind from me to our
dear Miss G. Compliments to Mademoiselle de Montmolin.
Your very affectionate brother, ‘W. M. Gomm.’

¢ Bremen : January 24, 1806.

¢ MY pEAR SoPHIA,—Before I attempt to account to you
for my being here, I must acquaint you with the joyful news
we received yesterday by express to Lord Cathcart, that the
French had broken through the conditions of the treaty with
Austria, and that hostilities had again commenced.

¢ It is supposed that the King of Prussia has, therefore,
declared himself. Heaven grant it may be so! The people
here - are as much pleased with this news as ourselves. I
dined yesterday at the table d’hite; the intelligence arrived
“during dinner, and was most welcomely received on all sides.
1 assure you it is not altogether self with us, although I con-
fess this had no inconsiderable share in our well-wishes. There
is also another report here, which it is unnecessary to tell you
we all hope may be true. It is, that the Brest fleet have
ventured out and have been completely defeated—or rather
exterminated, if the report be true. I am afraid to think of
the number said to have been taken or destroyed, it gives the
whole such an air of improbability. I daresay you are anxious
to hear how I got here. I got leave to accompany our pay-
master, who has been obliged to come here on business. . . .
It really was not a trifling undertaking, both on account of
the dreadful state of the roads, which are almost equally bad
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the whole way ; and, more than all, the wretched horses they
furnish us with on the road—having none of our own, from
the too great probability hitherto of our returning home. We
are obliged to make the road considerably longer, in order to
supply ourselves with horses and guides, which are stationed
at regular posts, though their attendance is not so regular,
being obliged to wait one or two hours always at these places.
We arrived here yesterday afternoon, and I fear my * knight’s ”
business will admit of his returning so soon as to-morrow. 1
shall, therefore, run about the town all day, particularly as we
are obliged to dine at half-past two; and, of course, nothing
can be done after that at this season of the year, except the
play, which I went to last night and was much pleased with,
particularly the music. . . .’

The next letter to his sister is dated Yarmouth, February 8,
1806. It announces their arrival there that afternoon. Their
destination from the Weser was the Downs, but the wind did
not permit of their getting there. They were met on landing
by the news of the death of Mr. Pitt, which had occurred on
the 23rd ult. This letter is interesting as showing the differ-
ence of the old days of slow posts and sailing vessels, as con-
trasted with our present frequent posts, telegraphs, and steam
vessels.

Captain Gomm says to his sister that he had not received
a single letter from home since he left; but, he adds, ‘I am
not surprised at it. About three letters have been received
by the whole regiment since we have been out; they must
have been all detained in England, under the supposition that
we should be upon the return before they could reach us.’

The troops had to remain on board several days, crowded
as the ships were, awaiting orders from headquarters. Fancy
troops now going across to the mouths of the Elbe and W. eser,
and in an absence of six weeks no letter being received from
home. They seem seventy years ago to have been about on
a par, as far as means of transport and communication were
concerned, with the Romans when they came over to England
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eighteen centuries ago. The want of regular continental
‘posts, the absence of telegraphic communication, the fleet
waiting about for a favourable wind to come over the Channel,
and then not being able to make its destined harbour,
seem to take us back into another age as we read these
letters.

Captain Gomm soon returned again to his studies at High
Wycombe, and many of his letters to his sister at this time
were written in French, in a style which shows that he was
completely at home in the language. He passed his final
examination at the College in November, and obtained his
certificate.

(Certificate.)
‘Royal Military College: November 28, 1806.

¢ At a half-yearly examination, held this day, Captain William Gomm, of
the 9th Regiment of Foot, a student at the Senior Department from Febru-
ary 1, 1805, appeared before a board assembled for that purpose, and having
after a strict examination in the different branches of study, acquitted him-
self to the perfect satisfaction of the Board; and the Lieut.-Governor and
the Commandant having reported satisfactorily as to his general conduct, we
the Commissioners and Members of the Collegiate Board present, certify that
Captain Gomm is qualified to serve on the General Staff of the Army.
(Signed) ‘ Epwarbp, Field-Marshal,
¢Wirriax Harcourr, General.
¢ AporrHUS FREDERICH, Lieut.-General.
‘RoBERT BrROWNRIGE, Quarter-Master General.
«J. G. LE MarcHANT, Colonel, Lieut.-Governor
Royal Military College.
*W. BorLER, Commandant, -Jur. Department
Royal Military College.
¢« H. DoveLas, Major, Commandant Senior De-
partment.’

After Captain Gomm left the College there is a break in
his correspondence with his sister for-a few months, and his
next letter shows that he has again proceeded with his regi-
ment on active service to Denmark.

Mr. Canning had at this time been placed in the Foreign
Office, and he desired to assist Russia and Prussia against
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France ; but Napoleon had been too quick for him, and in
June 1807, after the battle of Friedland, the Emperors met
at Tilsit, on the Niemen, and concluded the Treaty of Tilsit.
One of the main though concealed objects of Napoleon in con-
cluding this treaty was to paralyse the trade of England.
Mr. Canning learnt that, by a secret article in this treaty, the
Danish fleet was to be seized for the war by France, and all
the ports of Prussia, as well as of Duntzic, were to be shut
against the vessels and trade of Great Britain. The English
therefore directed the force which had been sent out under
Admiral Gambier and Lord Cathcart to bombard Copenhagen.

From this time forward Captain Gomm appéars to have
served continuously upon the Staff of the Quartermaster-
General, until the close of the great war, except during the
retreat of Sir John Moore in the Peninsula, when for a short
time he rejoined his old regiment.

¢ Philipshagen, Island of Rugen: July 16, 1807.

My DEAREST SorHIA,—By the greatest good luck I
have this moment met with a messenger charged with de-
spatches from Mr. Pierrepoint in England, and cannot lose so
good an opportunity of giving you news of our arrival at last.
Indeed, we only reached our destination this morning. We
have had contrary winds continually, but no bad weather.
We land here because the vessels cannot go up to Stralsund,
from whence this place is about thirty miles. Lord Catheart
set off this morning for Stralsund: the King of Sweden is
there ; the French are without the gates of the town at a short
distance, but it is rendered so strong by inundations and other-
wise that it is not expected they will be able to take it. All
our German legion, amounting to about 18,000, have marched
there ; the King, they say, has about 12,000. They all regret
our not arriving sooner. What we are to do now that can
retrieve all that is passed we have no conception. Unless the
armistice between the grand army and the French is broken
off, we can surely do nothing, although their numbers can do



=T, 22, Sty William Maynard Gomun. ey

us little injury in our present situation. The King, they say,
and the Swedes have been doing deeds of romance, and he has
exposed himself whenever it was possible. It is to be hoped
that all his generous efforts will not be frustrated, however
much it is to be feared, by the conclusion of a peace. The
conduct of the Russians appears to us very extraordinary ; it
is certain they have suffered immense loss in the late battles,
but they have by no means been desten into a peace, and it is
the general opinion that the Emperor was disgusted with the
dilatory measures of our Cabinet; indeed, Sophia, this is a
sad disappointment to us all. It is the second time that poor
Lord Catheart has had all his measures, and 1 all my castles,
frustrated and tumbled to the ground. You see we talk quite
despondingly, and I really fear we shall return very soon. I
am left at this place to wait for orders from Stralsund of any
description that may arrive. You see they are determined to
take good care of me, but I hope to Heaven they will let me
go on to Stralsund and see the little there will be to be seen
before I show my face in England again. You shall hear
from me, depend upon it, by every opportunity. I suppose it
is to forward the stores, etc., that I am left here, as this duty
belongs to my department. Another is gone to remain at
Bergen. I confess to you it is not a small disappointment to
me; but we must only hope for a change of luck. I have no
horse at present, and I should find a difficulty in doing any-
thing required of me till I can get one; a few days will deter-
mine whether this will be necessary. Heaven send it may!
for certainly the safety of the whole civilised world may be
said to depend upon the conduct of the Russians and Prussians
at this moment. I am greatly hurried, and have written
almost unintelligibly ; but you, I know, will decipher it if it
is possible. . . . I must tell you that all our troops are in
the best health possible.

¢P.S.—If you direct to me as Assistant Quartermaster-
General, serving with Lord Cathcart’s army, it will find me;
don’t send anything under cover to Lord Cathcart, because it
will be giving him trouble to no purpose.’
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¢« Dramendorf, Island of Rugen: August 1, 1807.

¢ My DEAR SopHIA,—]I am afraid you will be surprised
at not having received a second letter from me earlier, but I
have not had any opportunity of sending off a letter sinc? the
day 1 landed, when I was so fortunate in meeting w1th.a,
messenger. We are as yet very inconveniently situated in
this particular; for although there must undoubtedly have
been several opportunities of sending letters by ship sailing
hence to England, there have as yet been no steps taken to
give us notice.

¢I was placed the other day in a situation that was the most
tantalising that can possibly be imagined; for in one of my
rambles round this part of the country upon duty, whom
should I meet upon the high-road but another messenger, who
was making the best of his way with despatches for England,
and could not wait a moment; so that in future I mean to
carry in my pocket, whenever I go out, a letter ready sealed
and directed, to pop into the hands of the first gentleman of
this description that I may chance to meet. We are equally
ill off with regard to receiving letters. None of us, I
believe, have received any; so that, although I feel very
anxious to hear from you, I am not at all surprised at its being
otherwise. . . . I am very glad I have had an opportunity
of going into Stralsund, and I have been very much gratified
with all I have seen there. I had a great curiosity to see the
King of Sweden. I arrived too late to be introduced to him,
as most of Lord Cathcart’s staff were ; but I saw him on the
parade afterwards. From all that has passed, it appears that
he means seriously to defend Stralsund to the last. Lord
Cathcart and the whole staff are in this island; only three
battalions of the German legion are in Stralsund, and as a
reinforcement has just arrived to the King from Finland, it is
supposed that those three battalions will also join the camp
which is now assembled at Gmnatz. They marched upon the
ground that very day, and your humble servant has had the
supreme felicity of sketching the encampment and the ground
above it, under a broiling sun the whole day. The weather
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has really been hotter here ever since our arrival than I ever
felt it in England. 'We have certainly been more exposed.
1 assure you we have a very busy time of it here, and there
have literally been very few moments in which I could find
time to write to you, had fifty opportunities offered of my
sending a letter. The French have not yet begun the siege-—
that is to say, they have not yet opened their fire upon the
town. It is said they expect a large train of artillery from
Liibeck. It is the opinion of every one that Stralsund may
hold out, if the King chooses to defend it—as he has hitherto
given us reason to suppose he does—until the winter sets in,
and then it will be difficult to keep the ice constantly broke,
and the enemy may take the place by storm; but it is so sur-
rounded by water, and of such an extent, that at this season of
the year it is considered impregnable. I dare say you will
recollect it is the town which the famous Wallenstein, the
Austrian general in the Thirty Years’ war, declared he would
take, although it were bound with chains to heaven. He was
forced, notwithstanding, to raise the siege, and the day is still
kept. as a day of rejoicing. I happened to be in Stralsund
the very day of the anniversary, and I scarcely spoke to a
person belonging to the town who did not immediately give
me to understand that this was “ Wallenstein’s Day.” It
likewise stood a famous siege when defended by Charles XII.
against the three crowns, and its gates have many a proud
inscription in consequence.

¢ The Swedes have taken my fancy very much. It is said
their dress is very nearly the same that was worn in the time
of Gustavus Adolphus. This, you may naturally suppose,
forms a very striking contrast with our fancy dresses and
fashions of the day ; and, to tell you the truth, I think the
comparison is far from being to their disadvantage. Some of
them look as if they were setting out for the wars in Pales-
tine. Their soldiers appear highly respectable, and their
officers—those we have had to do with—are men of education
and excellent manners. We have certainly seen the best of
the flock, as they are those who are always about the King.
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<1 long very much to have an opportunity of giving
Colonel Douglas an account of all I have seen that .could
interest him, although as yet I have very little information f)f
any description to communicate. I am at present so busy in
sketching the country that I have not a mo.ment to s?ttend to
anything else. Will you, however, mention to him, with
remembrance frorm me, that I shall take the first oppor-
tunity of writing him the little information I can at present
give him? and pray tell him, too, that with the best inclina-
tion in the world, had I even had all my time to myself, 1
should scarcely have had an opportunity yet of sending a
single letter off.

¢4 ¢h.— Still we have no intelligence of a conveyance of letters
to England. In the meantime we find you have sent us a most
formidable fleet into the Baltic, and the latest papers mention
that a very strong force is upon the point of sailing from
England ; we almost begin to hope there is something more in
this than we are aware of. It would give me very great plea-
sure if, before I return home, I could have it in my power to
pay my aunt Briihl a visit, but I am afraid the thought
itself is almost romantic. I certainly should like to see as
much of this part of the Continent before I return as possible,
and even to go as far as Petersburg, if the state of affairs
should unfortunately force us again to return to a state of
inactivity. We have learnt a great deal of the state of affairs
in Poland from a Colonel Bathurst, a son of the Bishop of
Norwich, who went out as a volunteer to the Russian army.
I find it is to be done with so little expense, and it is in every
respect so feasible, that if ever a war should break out again
upon the Continent, and we are not actively employed, I shall
dun you all for your voices in getting me leave to go over as a
volunteer. By-the-bye, I inquired from him about the young
Count Woronzow, and I was very glad to hear that he had
not been wounded at Eylau, as General Benson had reason to
fear, but that really he had received a kick from his horse.
Will you remember me very respectfully to the Count and
Countess when you see them? . .. Have you heard from
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Henry since he arrived at Gibraltar?  By-the-bye, some
letters arrived with all this news the other day—but only two
or three, so that I had plenty of disappointed ones to keep me
company.

¢ 6th.—1 have only a moment to spare, having just heard
that despatches are immediately going off to England. We
are told that we are all going to return; I know not what
truth there is in the report. . . .

It may be mentioned as a proof of the small and compact
character of Capt. Gomm’s handwriting at this time that the
whole of the above letter, and fully fifteen lines more which
are omitted as not being likely to be of general interest, are
written on three sides only of an ordinary square sheet of letter
paper. R
¢ Head Quarters before Copenhagen ; August 21, 1807.

‘ My pEAR SopHIA,—] hear there is a possibility of a
vessel sailing for England to-morrow. 1 shall not lose the
chance of letting you hear from me, more particularly as you
will probably be at a loss to imagine in what part of the world
we are, after my having said in my last letter that we ex-
pected immediately to return to England. Little did I think
when I wrote then that we were intended for this enterprise,
which is certainly finer, and meets our ideas more than
anything that we have yet been engaged in. We sailed from
Rugen about a week ago, and upon our arrival here we found
the English force disembarking. We of course knew before
we sailed that Copenhagen was our destination ; but whether
we were to come as friends or enemies remained a doubt,
which, however, was in part removed by the Crown Batteries
opening a fire upon us as we passed before the town to the
place of debarkation. But when in the morning we saw the
troops landing without any appearance of opposition, there
was a sort of contradiction in all this that we were at a loss to
account for. The truth of the business is that the Danes
have been taken so completely by surprise, and so little time
had they to prepare themselves for our reception, that literally

G
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the whole 17,000 men— which they say the English infantry
consists of—were on shore before they could bring down their
force to oppose them. They certainly were in the act of doing
this when we landed. It is said the garrison does not consist
of more than 5,000 or 6,000 men, but a very small number
are required to present a very formidable opposition to an
army in the act of landing. We disembarked at a village
near Charlottenbund, which is a palace belonging to the Queen,
about five English miles from the town towards Elsinore. I
think the landing began on the 15th, and the whole were on
shore in the course of the following day. T did not land till
the 16th. The six hattalions of the German Legion were
kept at anchor in Kjoge Bay, under Lord Rosslyn, to await
further orders. Of course Mr. Harrison is with them. Only
the light artillery and cavalry came with Lord Cathcart. The
army invested the town on the 16th, with very little oppo-
sition ; and the siege is now going on with all possible ex-
pedition.  All supplies are cut off from Holstein by means of
our fleet in the Belt. The passage is very well watched; as
an instance of it I shall only tell you that the Crown Prince
has been taken in crossing over from this island, but as it
happened before hostilities commenced he was not detained.
The Royal Family have all left the island. I am sure you
will all be very much pleased with the manmuer in which the
Princesses were treated the day after the town was invested.
Their Royal Highnesses applied to Lord Cathcart, requesting
he would grant them a passage through the lines, which was
of course granted them, but in the handsomest manner, and
the Guards paid them military honours as they passed along
their front. I am sure Miss Goldsworthy will say after this
that we shall one day become rivals of the Spaniards in gal-
lantry.  You must not forget either to tell Mdlle. Montmolin
this story, that she may entertain some hopes of our honest
countrymen in this respect; but, upon second thoughts, we
must not make too much of it, because it will appear such a
rarity, and we hope to have many opportunities of acting a
similar part before we see you again. You all know, of course,



&1, 22.] Str Wailliam Maynard Gomm. 83

the object Government had in view when they sent out this
force; but almost all pity the situation in which Denmark is
placed—the more resistance she makes, the more we must admire
her spirit. But we are at the same time convinced that, situ-
ated as we are with regard to France, the measure adopted by
our Government is most wise and politic. The country about
Copenhagen is beautiful. One naturally expects to find the
land in a high state of cultivation near the capital of a State,
but Nature has had a greater share in it. The whole island,
by all accounts, is equally beautiful. The weather is remark-
ably fine, and all the troops are in the best health possible.
We are quartered in villages and private houses—I mean
gentlemen’s seats, of which there are a great number in the
neighbourhood of Copenhagen, and all of which have been
deserted by the owners, who have all fled into Copenhagen.
Some of these houses are fitted up in the most elegant man-
ner, and the grounds about them in the highest order. The
officers are in general quartered in these houses, so that it is
to be hoped as little damage will be done as possible. Sir
George Ludlow is quartered in the Palace at Frederiksberg,
on the right of our line; but, strange to say, he is worse off
than any of us, for everything has been moved off, so that he
has nothing but the empty house left him, whereas in almost
all the private houses the whole of the furniture has been left.
And so little did they expect a visit of this sort from us, that
in many instances they appear to have left their houses with
as much as they could scrape together in the course of ten
minutes, leaving the rest to its fate. We understand the house
we are in belonged to a countess, but we have not yet been
able to learn the name. The house is called Tuborg: it is on
the high road from Charlottenbund to Copenhagen, about two
miles from the town. I do not know whether you have maps
upon a sufficiently large scale to enable you to find out my
quarters, but you will be very well able to judge where it is.
I have got my horse quite safe, I am happy to tell you. . . .
¢21st.—I have just heard that despatches went off for Eng-

land yesterday. It is a pity they do not give us some kind
¢ 2
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of notice when anything of this sort is to take place, but there
is certainly the most profound secrecy observed upon the
subject. However, as a fresh brigade arrived last night, under
General MacFarlane, they will of course send off intelligence
of it immediately. I shall, therefore, send this to head-
quarters to take its chance. 1 have dated my letter from
headquarters, but Lord Cathcart is at a short distance in our
rear. . . .

His next letter is a short one to his sister, dated ¢ Before
Copenhagen, September 2, 1807,” in which he speaks of having
to relate only the dry details of a siege in which are no great
risks or hardships to describe. He adds:—

¢We have been very fortunate in cutting off' supplies from
the town, and you may very soon expect to hear of its being
in our possession. . . . You have, of course, heard that Stral-
sund has been evacuated by the King of Sweden. He was
threatened by an insurrection among his own people after we
left him, which rendered it impossible for him to make longer
resistance, however it might have been before.’

¢ Camp before Copenhagen: September 7, 1807.

¢ My pgar Sopnia,—Copenhagen has capitulated. Our
Grenadiers marched into the citadel at five o’clock this morn-
ing. The terms of the capitulation are that the whole of the
fleet—consisting of twenty-two sail of the line and smaller
vessels, altogether forty in number—together with all the
naval stores in the arsenal, are to be surrendered to us as
prizes. Lord Cathcart’s son sets off to-morrow with the de-
spatches relating to this capture, and I could not let him go
without letting you into the secret, although I make no doubt
you will have heard the news—although possibly not the true
news—before this comes to your hands, for our good English
newspapers have been wonderfully beforehand with us
hitherto, having told us the other day that Copenhagen had
filready fallen; but we are not a little offended with their say-
ing that everything had been done by Admiral Gambier, and
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poor Lord Cathcart and the army were never once mentioned.
However, you will find we have all had a finger in the pie,
and 1 believe everything has been done that was required or
expected from us; and now that we have no further occasion
to steel our hearts against all the feelings of humanity, I think
it may be allowed us to reflect upon the scenes that have just
passed before our eyes, and indeed they have been most dis-
tressing. For three nights successively the town has been
bombarded without intermission ; it was in flames a quarter of
an hour after the bombardment began, and continued so in a
slight degree the whole of Thursday. But at night the
timber-yard took fire, and the conflagration became much more
general during the whole of Friday ; and the wind, which was
high during the whole of the time, carrying the flames directly
over the town, increased it to such a degree that on Friday
night the appearance was rather that of a volcano during a
violent eruption than anything I can conceive. The sight was
dreadful, but it was truly magnificent; the church of Notre
Dame, the cathedral and the church, which made the finest
appearance in the town, fell to the ground at five in the morn-
ing, and nothing is standing but the bare foundation. Do us
the justice to believe that we felt the horrors of this scene in
all its extent; and imagine us at the same time redoubling our
exertions as the calamity increased, and throwing showers of
shells towards the parts where the fire raged most to render
ineffectual the means employed to extinguish it. But now,
indeed, I believe all human efforts were vain had the wind
continued ; and setting this aside, the fire from our batteries
was 5o tremendous that no means could be employed towards
checking its progress. It was owing to these circumstances,
after more than one third of their town had been burnt, that
the Danes sent out a flag of truce offering terms of capitu-
lation, which the whole of yesterday and to-day have been
employed in arranging, and which are at length brought to a’
conclusion as I have stated to you. It will give you all
pleasure to learn that the women and children, and most
of those incapable of bearing arms, had flocked in great
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numbers to the island of Amager, on the other side of the
town, where our fire had no effect; but I am sorry to say
there are melancholy stories enough left to relate, which would
be as painful for me to recall to my recollection as for you to
hear told. We have not been able to learn what numbers
have fallen in the town—they must be considerable. While I
declared to you that we were not without feelings while we
were in the most vigorous discharge of those most painful
duties, I should not have forgot to mention our commander-in-
chief, for he little deserves to be omitted here. I believe he
has suffered more than any one man in the army. The idea of
a bombardment is shocking to humanity. It has been the prac-
tice among nations of late to open a siege by this measure; it
was done at Valenciennes ; it was done at Dantzic ; it is always
done. But though it is sanctioned by the laws of war, it is
always more becoming, and a measure of more enlightened war-
fare, to attack a town in any other way than by distressing the
inhabitants; and particularly in the instance of a capital which
is supposed to be the seat of everything that is worthy of being
respected. But in many instances the time and means neces-
sary for a regular attack are wanting, as in the present one,
where time is everything to us. The season is so far advanced
that the most speedy and effectual means of reducing the place
were necessary to be employed. Nothing could be a greater
proof of Lord Cathcart’s feelings on this occasion than his
having given orders before the bombardment commenced that
the firing should cease the moment a trumpet sounded from
the place, and from the moment the flag of truce appeared not
a shot was fired ; in short, he has taken every opportunity of
showing a moderation which would not have been practised in
a thousand instances of the same nature. And we rejoice that
it is so; for although our situation as a nation may be such as
to warrant strong and even violent measures, none can con-
template with indifference the situation of this country: they
have not lost their honour. Nor could we have done less than
we have done, considering our numbers and means. It might
have been more prudent in them could they have reconciled it
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to themselves to have submitted to the terms proposed before
the bombardment, which, I understand, were much more
favourable ; in which the fleet were only to be taken as a
pledge, and the damage done to the country by our army—
which is considerable—to be made gnod. But these terms
were rejected. Iam in hopes I shall soon be able to give you an
account of the town; at present I have only been as far as the
citadel. It was at once a fine and a distressing sight to see
our troops take possession of the citadel. We could not feel
proud of it, for no great difficulties had been encountered.
We certainly should have attempted everything immediately
if the bombardment had not succeeded in reducing the town.
Sir Home Popham has taken a very active part in the pro-
ceedings of the treaty.

‘I am almost afraid aunt and Miss Goldsworthy will have
nothing more to say to me after this account; but we must
endeavour to convince you when we meet that we were only
mischievous from a good principle.’

¢ Copenhagen : October 19, 1807.

¢‘My pEAR SoPHIA,—We are at this moment all embarked, -
and as the armistice is at an end this day we shall of course
move out as far as we can, although the wind is so contrary
that we can hardly expect to make much progress on our pas-
sage, so long as it continues in the same quarter. As you will
be expecting us all home immediately, I take advantage of the
best opportunity. I think often of letting you know that there
is a chance of my not paying you a visit so early as you may
have at first supposed. You have no doubt heard in England
of the intention of sending part of our army to Sweden. The
choice has been left me of remaining with this part, and I hope
you will not disapprove of my having accepted of the offer,
although we shall not meet quite so soon as we have hitherto
been led to expect. At the same time the sending this force to
Sweden is, I know from the best authority, not at all decided
upon at this moment. T believe it will depend upon the
humour in which we find the king when we arrive either at
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Malmé or Helsingor, for it is the intention that the whole
fleet should in the first instance proceed to the Swedish coast.
At all events if any force remains I shall be of the party. I
was this morning addressed in the kindest manner by General
Spencer; he told me he had received a letter from Windsor
mentioning me, and that it would at all times give him great
pleasure to be of any service to me. "This 1s particularly for-
tunate for me, as he is to be of the Swedish army, and to have
the command of the only brigade of British that remains; the
rest are all German. I confess I have been very idle in not
having written to you since we took possession of Copenhagen,
but I thought at that time there was a certainty of our meeting
so soon that I flattered myself it would be much more pleasing -
to you to receive an account of the town and our proceedings
from your humble servant in person than by writing. I had
likewise meant to bring you home, each of you, a few knick-
knacks, among the rest a little music for your ladyship which
is much admired here, which has never yet been published in
England—some operas of Pir, etc. I hope they will not be
out of date by the time I present them. I do not like sending
them in any other way, as there is still so great a_chance of
our meeting soon. . . .

¢ Thank Miss Goldsworthy a thousand times for her kind-
ness in mentioning me to General Spencer, for I am sure it hag
been through her means that he has been spoken to about

me, ...’

The diversion to Sweden evidently was not effected, since
his next letter shows their speedy arrival in England.

¢ Yarmouth : October 30, 1807.
¢ DEAR SorPuia,—We are again upon English ground,
after rather an unpleasant passage. We anchored here this
morning. Lord Catheart arrived last night, and proceeded to
town this morning before our arrival ; very few of the vessels
have arrived yet. I set off for town to-morrow morning, and
as there are four of us we propose posting it. I shall therefore
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not be in town till Saturday, and I cannot propose to pay my
respects to you at Windsor till Monday or Tuesday, as it will
be necessary for me to report myself to General Brownrigg and
Lord Cathcart. I will call immediately on General Benson.
I am in haste for fear of missing the post, so that I must only
beg of you to give my best love to aunt, and remember me
most kindly to Miss Goldsworthy.
¢ Your affectionate brother,
¢WiLLiam Gomm.’

Politically speaking, there are few chapters in our modern
history of which we as a nation have more need to be ashamed
than this wanton destruction of Copenhagen. It was no ex-
cuse that the conduct of Napoleon was a determined proscrip-
tion of England from the face of European society, so far as his
influence could extend ; although the ¢ frank exposition’ of their
motives which the ministry put forth in the name of the king, says
" that < His Majesty feels confident that, in the eyes of Europe
and of the world, the justification of his conduct will be found
in the commanding and indispensable duty paramount to all
others among the obligations of a sovereign of providing whi'e
there was yet time for the immediate security of his people.’
The exposition proceeds to say that intelligence had been re-
ceived that Napoleon was determined either to borrow or to
take the whole Danish fleet, and that Denmark would not be
sufficiently powerful even if willing to resist such a demand,
consequently his Majesty had proposed to take temporary
possession of that fleet, but as in the most unwarrantable way
Denmark had refused so kind an offer, ¢ His Majesty was re-
luctantly compelled to draw his sword’ (in other words to invade
the territory of a nation which was not our enemy, to kill its
subjects, to destroy its capital, and to seize its fleet), ¢ acting
solely upon a sense of what was due to the security of his own
dominions, and not desirous for any object of advantage or
aggrandisement to carry measures of hostility beyond the limits
of the necessity which has produced them.’

The reply of Denmark was most dignified. It speaks of the
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long-observed rigid neutrality of their conduct hitherto, and
comments with virtuous indignation on the unjustifiable and
sudden attack upon an undefended coast. It says: ¢ The
Danish Government saw the Inglish ships of war upon
their coast without even the conjecture that they were to
be employed against Denmark. The island of Zealand was
surrounded, the capital threatened, the Danish territory violated
and injured, before the Court of Liondon had made use of a
single word to express the hostility of its feelings. Europe
will with difficulty believe what it will hear. The barest, the
nmost violent and cruel object, has no other foundation than
some pretended information or rumour of an attempt, which
according to the English ministry was to have taken place in
order to draw Denmark into a hostile alliance against Great
Britain.

¢Upon these pretended grounds, which the least degree of
discussion would have removed, the English Government
declared to the Court of Denmark in the most imperious
manner, that in order to secure its own interests, and to pro-
vide for its own safety, it would leave Denmark no other choice
than a war or a close alliance with Great Britain. And what
kind of alliance did they offer ? ~An alliance the first guarantee
of which, as a pledge of submission, was that Denmark was to
deliver up all her ships of war to the British Government.
There could be no hesitation as to the alternative that was to
be adopted. Placed between danger and dishonour, the
Danish Government had no choice. Attacked in the most
unexpected and dishonourable manner, exposed in a separate
province, and in a manner cut off from all the means of defence,
and forced into an unequal contest, she could not flatter her-
self with escaping a very material injury.

¢ But let impartial critics judge whether England was
under the political necessity of sacrificing another State with-
out hesitation to her own safety, a State which had neither
offended nor provoked her.

‘ The Government of Denmark believes it has a right to
reckon upon the interest and Justice of the Cabinets of Europe,
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and hopes for the effects of the same on the part of those illus-
trious sovereigns whose objects and alliances have served the
English for a pretext to the most erying act of injustice and
violence which even in England every noble and generous
mind will disown, which deforms the character of a virtuous
sovereign, and will ever remain a scandal in the annalsof Great
Britain.’

It is fortunate for the English student that few such pages
of dishonour mar the annals of her history; and it is not till
seventy years have passed that a similarly disgraceful act has
been perpetrated in her name. The invasion of Afghanistan
in 1878-79 offers almost an exact parallel. Then, as now, the
only possible pretext for the invasion was ¢ the security of our
empire ;’ then, as now, we were really striking at the supposed
machinations of the powerful (French then, Russian now) by
crushing the weak, to whom then, as now, we offered the alter-
native of an alliance or a war; then, as now, we said we had
no objects of aggrandisement, while then we seized a fleet,
and now a frontier; then, as now, the enemy could do nothing
against us without the aid of the great foe behind, which in
neither case came to help its cat’s-paw ; then, as now, we tried
to make the success of our soldiers cast into oblivion the iniquity
of our cause, and by the praises of the army to drown the re-
mounstrances of outraged humanity; and lastly, when at the open-
ing of Parliament the question of our justification in their going
to war was brought on, then, as now, the ministry was supported
by large majorities in both Houses. The parallel indeed seems
most complete, with one important exception, viz. that in 1808
we were at war with the great foe behind Denmark, whereas in
1878 we were at peace and actually on a friendly footing with
Russia, the favourable reception of whose mission formed our
only possible complaint against Afghanistan.

From Captain Gomm’s letters from the spot we have seen
how thoroughly distasteful to our brave soldiers was the work
which had fallen to their lot, and it may readily be believed
with what astonishment they heard that the Government had at
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the opening of Parliament in 1808 proposed votes of thanks
to them from both Houses. It is no light compliment when
the rising ambition of a young soldier is flattered by such a

letter as the following :—
¢ Gloster Place: February 1, 1808.

¢ Sir,—1 take the earliest opportunity of transmitting to
you a copy of the resolution of the House of Liordsand of those
of the House of Commons dated January 28, 1808, which
contains the thanks of both Houses of Parliament to the army
lately employed in Zealand.
¢In communicating to you this most signal mark of the
approbation of the Parliament of the United Kingdoms of
Great Britain and Ireland, allow me to add my warmest con-
gratulations upon a distinction which you have had so import-
ant a share in obtaining for his Majesty’s forces, together
with the assurances of the truth and regard with which
‘I have the honour to be, Sir,
¢ Your most obedient humble servant,
¢ To Captain Gomm, ¢ Carucart, L.G.
Assist. Deputy Quartermaster-General
on the late expedition to the Baltic.’

Captain Gomm was, however, too honest and straightfor-
ward a man not to see through the gilding of the pill. He
writes thus to his sister when he is cautioning her not to give
him more credit than he deserves:—

¢ By-the-bye, my Lord Chancellor has done nearly the
same thing with a great many of us lately, and as I know how
dangerous the example of the great is, I think it necessary
to give you this warning. Now, after all, I think there must
have been something selfish in this proceeding of the Parlia-
ment of which I have already given you an account. I have
been considering a long time what could have possessed them
to sell their thanks so cheaply, and, indeed, I think it is only
doing justice to their understandings to suppose that they
mean to gain some credit to themselves in allowing us so much,
and that they are going upon the old principle ““ the less they
deserve the more merit is there in your bounty!”’
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CHAPTER V.
1808.

IRELAND—ALMOST JOINS SIR JOHN MOORE’S EXPEDITION TO SWEDEN-—
ASSISTANT QUARTERMASTER-GENERAL—EXPEDITION TO SPAIN UNDER
SIR A. WELLESLEY—LANDS AT MONDEGO BAY—BATTLE OF ROLIGA—
BATTLE OF VIMIERA—CONVENTION OF CINTRA—LISBON.

ON his return from Zealand Captain Gomm had to rejoin his
regiment, the 9th, which was then quartered at Mallow in
Ireland. His letters to his sister from the country which he
calls ¢the house of bondage’ are chiefly occupied with his
anticipations of getting his majority (which, however, he did
not get till three years later), and his anxiety again to proceed
on active service. In April 1808 his aunt, Miss Jane Gomm,
and her inseparable friend Miss Goldsworthy, appear to have
resigned their appointments at Court, and having so long
lived together at Lower Lodge, Windsor, wisely determined
not to separate, but took a house together at 11 Chapel Street,
South Audley Street, London, whither they moved before the
end of the month, bringing of course Captain Gomm’s sister
Sophia with them. Miss Goldsworthy had been at the Court
with the Princesses ever since 1774, and Miss Jane Gomm
from not long after ; it was quite natural, therefore, that after
so long a union they should decide on living together. From
the first every letter of William Gomm’s to his sister had
ended with affectionate messages to Miss Goldsworthy as well
as to his aunt. :

In his letter dated from Mallow, May 1, 1808, Captain
Gomm says: ‘It was only two or three days ago that we
heard Sir John Moore had sailed, or even that preparations
were carrying on for the embarkation of his force. It does
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infinite credit to the Ministry. General Brownrigg has
written to us to say that there is an idea of a reinforcement
chortly following this force, and that, should this be the case,
he wil'l endeavour to make room for us among the number.
I do not know how it is, but we always manage to come in
at the close of the hunt. .. . T have written-to Geneml
Brownrigg to request he will allow me to serve in this expe-
dition in some way or other, and to request his interest for
procuring for me an appointment on the Quartermaster-
General’s Staff, or on any other in which a vacancy may be
most conveniently found. I am principally afraid, however,
that T am too late in my application, for everything has been
done with such admirable secrecy that we were not aware of
any intention to send out a force to Sweden till within a very
few days, or rather we supposed that the project had been
abandoned altogether. There is no service I am more anxious
to be employed upon, and no general under whom 1 am so
desirous of serving, as Sir John Moore. However enterprising
the projects of Sweden and England may be thought in this
instance, I think they are far from being romantic, and if that
hireling Emperor of Russia and his banditti are made to starve
in Finland, I shall be much more gratified if T can be favoured
with a sight of it than by anything I can learn from hearsay.
At all events, I think we cannot go too far in assisting the
King of Sweden, while we provide at the same time for our
own security.’

It was a fortunate thing for Captain Gomm that his wish
to join Sir John Moore’s expedition to Sweden was not
fulfilled, for from beginning to end it was a most unsatisfactory
affair.  Sir John Moore was sent out in command of an army
which was to go to Gothenburg to aid the King of Sweden
against his enemies. No specific plans were made, but Sir
John was sent out to Gothenburg, 1ot exactly to be under the
King of Sweden, but to do whatever he was asked to do
by the king, <if Sir John thought proper, and if he was
ordered to do so from England.” Nothing could be more in-
definite, and a fiasco was inevitable. The army on arrival at
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Gothenburg was not permitted to land, and the King of
Sweden insisted positively that it should be absolutely under
his command. He then ordered Sir John Moore first to attack
Zealand, and then to land at Viborg to threaten St. Peters-
burg ; and, losing his temper when Sir John pointed out the
impossibility of the schemes proposed, the king finally placed
him in arrest, ordering him not to leave Stockholm without
his permission,

Sir John Moore was not, however, the man tamely to
submit to such indignity, and he accordingly at once, with the
connivance of the British Minister, Mr. Thornton, who had
immediately on hearing of the arrest remonstrated with the
Swedish Government, escaped from Stockholin to Gothenburg,
where he embarked ; and the wind fortunately proving favour-
able, at once set sail and brought the ships, from which the
troops had never disembarked for more than two months, back
to Iingland. Here Lord Castlereagh received him at first
coldly, but the King and the Duke of York approved highly
of his conduct.

That Sir John Moore was justified in resisting the demands
of the King of Sweden was soon made more clear by the in-
creasing insanity of that monarch, who, before another year
had passed, was deposed by his people, no hand being raised in
his defence.

It was not, however, for service in Sweden that the force
then assembling at Cork was destined, but for another part
of Europe and against another of the great Emperor’s machi-
nations. In the previous October, under a so-called treaty
with Spain for the partition of Portugal, the French army had
entered Spain en route for Portugal; but in the early months
of 1808 Spain found that Napoleou’s plans were directed more
against herself than against Portugal. But though deserted
and betrayed by their leaders, there still seemed some patriotism
in the Spaniards, who were against the French, although
Charles IV. and Ferdinand VIL had basely abdicated, and
had actually handed over the monarchy of Spain and the West
Indies for a home and a pension.
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Part, however, of the nation, beginning with the Asturians,
loyally rose against the Government of KFrance, and sent
deputies to England to ask for assistance.

In June, Napoleon brought over his elder brother Joseph,
who was a pliant tool in his hands, from Naples, and proclaimed
him King of Spain; and the English Government therefore
determined to despatch a force to the Peninsula to assist the
Spanish patriots.

Tt was this expedition that Captain Gomm was now about
to join, although no rumours of it had as yet reached the
regiment in their ¢ house of bondage.’

¢ Mallow : June 1, 1808.

¢« My pEAR SopHIA,—Qur destination is changed, and I
hope you will agree with us in thinking for the better, though
we shall probably not have an opportunity of meeting so soon
as we promised ourselves. General Brownrigg has written to
us to say that as soon as the transports arrive at Cork, we are
to sail in company with the 40th and 91st Regiments, now on
board at that port, in the first instance for Gibraltar. The
prospect of meeting Henry so unexpectedly, I assure you, 1s
not the least pleasing part to me in this arrangement. The
General further says that upon our arrival at Gibraltar we
may expect to be immediately employed upon active service ;
and some of us are romantic enough to flatter ourselves that
the coast of Spain is ultimately our point of destination. The
country is stated to be in a sad state of disorder, but unless we
are confident of being received @ bras ouverts, such an attempt
I should think would not be made. I am more glad than I
can express to you at the prospect of being employed in the
Mediterranean. If I meet with General Spencer, I shall <“boo”
very indefatigably for a staff appointment, or Miss Goldsworthy’s
kindness in procuring me an introduction to him, and so flatter-
ing a one, would be quite thrown away upon me. I have re-
ceived an answer to my application to General Brownrigg,
very civil, but as no reinforcement was for the present fitting
out for the army in Sweden, it was not in his power to comply
with my wishes immediately. I am sorry I did not bring my
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Spanish books with me when I left England. I would give
anything for them now. I do not think I have forgotten what
I had learnt of it, and the prospect before me would be an
additional inducement to improve.’
¢ Mallow: June 11, 1808.

¢ General Hill, who takes the command of the force going
from this country until they arrive at Gibraltar, has received
his final instructions from the Duke of York; and all are ready
but the ships.

¢ You have seen in the paper a list of the regiments under
orders from this country; they amount, I should think, to
about six thousand men. It is said Sir Arthur Wellesley is
to command (which, by the way, I am very glad of); but I
should think he would join us at Gibraltar.’

¢ Wedngsday morning, 8 o’clock.

¢ We have just had intelligence by express that the trans-
ports have arrived. 'We march to-morrow, and embark on
Friday.’

¢ Cork : June 19, 1808.

¢ The regiment embarked on Friday, and I go on board to-
day.

¢ We have three very fine transports allotted to us: the
Defence, Active, and Ouxford. The Defence is the headquarter
ship, and I am fortunate enough to be on board it; but they
are all remarkably fine vessels. We are all ready to sail im-
mediately, unless some alteration is made in the disposition.’

[Here follow great complaints of his having been deceived
and falsely promised a staff appointment. He is very indignant
at the dishonesty of this.]

¢ On board the Defence, Cove of Cork : June 25, 1808.

¢ My peEar SopHIA,—With great joy I bave it in my
power to tell you that I am appointed Assistant Quartermaster-
General to go with the expedition.
‘I received the notification of my appointment yesterday
from General Calvert, the Adjutant-General. I believe I am
it
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indebted to the Duke of York's goodness in this instance. 1
cannot express to you how happy I feel in going out as I do
with so many more advantages and with so much more ﬂatt.er-
ing prospects than in the last instanf:e, my regiment being
appointed to the same service, and being fortunate enough to
have made the acquaintance of several principal officers em-
ployed, General Hill in particular, who I am convinced will
show me every kindness. I am not acquainted with Sir
Arthur Wellesley. I dare say you recollect Captain Langton
and ——, who were examined at the same time as myself.
They have been appointed by General Brownrigg to serve on
the same staff, and Captain Campbell likewise.

¢ Of our destination I shall say nothing ; we all conclude it
is Spain, and I may add we fervently hope it. However,
should it even be for a longer voyage I shall scarcely feel less
happy. I believe we are as romantic in our expectations as
ever knight errant of the fifteenth century was. :

¢Sir Arthur is in Dublin, and is expected here every day ;
on his arrival we shall be able to form some idea of the time
we may expect to be detained here. There is a report that we
are to wait for more transports. I have been most fortunate
in meeting with a horse. . . .’ :
¢Cove : July 38, 1808.

¢ With regard to our destination I can say nothing more
with certainty; if the late important news from Spain and
the Mediterranean is confirmed, there is no doubt of our going
there. Heaven send it may be so !

¢ The Donegal, of 74 guns, is our convoy. The Resistance
and Crocodile frigates likewise accompany us; they are all
here, and we seem only to be waiting for Sir Arthur, who, we
understand, is waiting in Dublin, until he receives his final
orders. Indeed, reports are in every one’s mouth of his being
hourly expected ; but this has continued for the last ten days.

¢ My reliance on General Hill’s kindness was not ill-founded.
He commands the expedition, in the absence of Sir Arthur;
and the Crocodile has been allotted for him and his staff ; and
he has offered to take me in the same ship with him, provided
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there is room. There is the more kindness in this, because the
officers of the Quartermaster-General’s Department form no
part of his staff, and it is therefore quite voluntary.’

‘Cove: July 9, 1808.

‘I am now going to write to you, I think I may say,
positively for the last time previous to our sailing. Sir Arthur
Wellesley came down to Cork yesterday; he is now here, and
we are given to understand that everything is to he on board
to-night, and that to-morrow we shall sail. I think nothing
can detain us beyond Monday.

¢ The astonishing news we have lately received from Spain
has set us all agog; and I may safely venture to assure you
that Spain is going to import a whole family of Don Quixotes
with the English army. I have great hopes that General
Spencer has taken with him several regiments from Gibraltar,
among others the 6th; and in this case, I have no doubt, Sir
Hugh would allow Henry to go with him on the Cadiz ex-
pedition.

¢ Is not Miss Goldsworthy delighted with her Spaniards?
I do not know anything in the world that gives me so much
joy as the idea of going among them. It is the finest cause
we can be engaged in, and it is of all countries that which I
wish most to see next to Italy. Really, I don’t know what is
too extravagant to expect, if things go on as they have done
by the late accounts; it looks as if Europe was going to throw
off her ’'nighted colour while this extraordinary mortal was
hastening to his decline. When he once begins to fall he will
topple headlong. In case of separation our vessels have re-
ceived directions to rendezvous in Tangier Bay. I should
hope, however, that we shall be landed somewhere in the north
of Spain.’

¢ At anchor, Mondego Bay : July 28, 1808.

¢ We arrived here on the 26th; our passage was tedious,
but far from being a bad one; we did not experience one day’s
bad weather, in the language of sailors. The whole fleet have

arrived perfectly safe, and, I am happy to add, in perfect health.
H 2
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We are among friends ; nothing can exceed the joy the people
testify upon our airival. No French in our neighbourhood,
and we have reason to believe they have concentrated their
whole force in Lisbon; they are said to amount to 13,000 ; we
are upwards of 8,000. Sir John Moore is coming out imme-
diately with the whole Swedish army. There are said to be
8,000 Portuguese at Leyria, thirty miles from hence, waiting
to join us; regular troops they are called, but we are contented
if they are an armed mob ; they prove the disposition of the
country. Nothing can exceed the inveteracy they express
against the French; and the Portuguese are jealous of the
success that is attending the Spaniards. To detail to you the
numerous advantages that attend us at our setting out would
be to write you a long letter, and this I have not time to do.
It is reported Sir Hew Dalrymple will command in chief.
How fortunate for Henry, if it is so. Sir A. Wellesley went
several days ago to Lishon, to consult with Sir C. Cotton, who
commands the squadron off the port; he is expected hourly,
and our landing is expected to be the immediate consequence.
My horse is in better order than when it went on board. I
know not when this will reach you, or when it will leave this ;
I have ten minutes of idle time, and whenever you get it, it
will be a pleasure to hear that our undertaking is attended
with the most flattering prospects, and our cause the finest, I
believe, that ever employed English army before. General
Spencer does not join us here; they say he is off Lisbon with
his force; I will endeavour to learn something more about him
before I seal this. General Beresford with his army is coming
to join us from Madeira. The weather is delightful. I have
time to write to no one else now ; but you can communicate
with those I should write to, had T time.

€29th.—1 have just heard that General Spencer’s force is
expected to join us here immediately. Sir J. Moore’s force is
hourly expected. Lord Burghersh arrived here yesterday with
des.pa,t'ches (important ones, it is thought) for Sir A. Wellesley ;
he is likewise hourly expected from Lisbon. There is a packet
making up on board the Donegal, but it is by no means certain

.
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when it will leave this. It is confidently asserted that Sir H.
Dalrymple will command; I am delighted with the idea of
meeting Henry in this way. It is not certain whether we land
upon Sir Arthur’s return, or wait for the reinforcements that
are expected. Adieu.” -

¢ Camp before Vimiera: August 19, 1808.

¢ Despatches are this moment going off for England, and I
have only time to give you afew words; which, by-the-bye, it
would be unpardonable in me not to do, since we have had an
affaire' with a division of the French army ; and you will, of
course, be very anxious to learn how we all are.

‘They opposed us, in our march from Caldas and Obidos,
on the 16th. They were posted at first in the plain behind
Bombanal. On our advancing, they ascended the heights be-
hind the village, and waited our approach. They were attacked
in this position, and driven from it. They made several efforts
to regain what they had lost, but without success. They were
driven along the heights a distance of three or four miles, and
in the evening they were in full march for Lisbon. By all
accounts, their numbers did not exceed five thousand; our
whole army more than doubles their numbers, but we had not
an equal number engaged. We have suffered very severely.

I have this instant received an order to repair to head-
quarters, which prevents my saying ten words more. H. and
myself are quite safe and well. The 9th have behaved in the
most gallant manner. I fear we have lost our invaluable
colonel. Adieun.’

¢ Vimiera : August 22, 1808.

¢ The French attacked us yesterday with a force of 15,000
men, and were completely defeated. We have two generals
prisoners, with all their artillery. The numbers of killed
among them is great. I must refer you to the Gazette for all
the particulars of this business, in which, depend upon it, the
English have not only supported but added to their character.
Henry and myself are quite well. Colonel Walker is also

! The battle of Roliga.
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quite safe. His regiment distinguished itself principally. I
hope Henry has heard of this opportunity of writing.
¢P.S.—Sir Hew Dalrymple is arrived here.’

This arrival of Sir Hew Dalrymple was an instance of the
muddle then made in the military command by the supersession
of one officer by another. Sir John Moore, greatly to his
indignation, after his unfortunate affair in Sweden, had been
sent out with an expedition to the coast of Portugal, in which
he was second to Sir Harry Burrard. On arriving off the
coast;, Sir Harry Burrard landed, leaving Sir John Moore in
command of the force with directions to proceed to the south-
ward and to be at hand to support the advance.

Sir Harry Burrard arrived on the field at Vimiera, and,
taking the command from Sir Arthur Wellesley, prevented the
pursuit of the retiring enemy. The very day after the battle
Sir Hew Dalrymple, hastening from Gibraltar, superseded Sir
Harry. ¢

Immediately afterwards Sir John Moore arrived, and he,
waiving his pretensions as senior officer, stated that if active
hostilities recommenced, Sir Arthur Wellesley was the right
man from his knowledge and experience to have the command.

With such divided and constantly varying responsibilities,
it is hardly to be wondered at that confusion prevailed ; for-
tunately, however, for the English army, the defeated French
appeared more anxious to get safe back to France than to renew
hostilities, and it was under these circumstances that the con-
vention of Cintra was concluded.

By this treaty the French general Junot was allowed
with all his forces to evacuate Portugal. The English were
to transport them to France, and they were then to be free to
operate in whatever part of Europe their services were re-
quired. They were not allowed, however, to carry off the
immense amount of booty which they had collected in the
country, and which they had reluctantly to disgorge.

al 2 . . . . - . .
This convention was received with great dissatisfaction in
England.
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¢ Camp, Sobral de Monta Grago: September 1, 1808.

¢ The ship which brings you this letter will also bring you
the accounts of the conclusion of our campaign in this country ;
the treaty between the heads of the two armies was finally
settled, we understand, yesterday. The articles of the treaty
are not made known among us; and if they were, you will be
able to collect a more detailed and exact account of them from
the public prints than I could give you. I only hope you will
all be satisfied with them; if they are at all favourable to the
French, I think it serves to convince us that we are intended
for some other important service, because we are in a situation
now to dictate whatever terms wei please in this country, in a
very short time. I believe I have only written to you twice
since our landing, and at each of those times in such a hurry
that I barely gave you to understand Henry and myself were
well. This time they have given us a little longer notice. We
are to send in our letters at eight o’clock; it is now five, and
I have only this moment heard we have an opportunity of
sending letters. I. is at some distance from me, as he is in
camp, and I have no means of sending to him; but as the
notice is given in public orders, I think he will hear of it.
However, to make sure of your having recent information re-
specting him, I can assure you I saw. him two hours ago per-
fectly well, and not looking at all the worse for the fatigues
of the campaign.  Sir Hew Dalrymple” has not yet decided.
nor even hinted to him, what he means to do. Henry, how-
ever, called upon him the other day; he received him very
kindly, and has been very attentive to him several times since.
He has been refused by the Duke of Cumberland to have his
son with him as A.D.C., and it is not, I think, at all improbable
that he will take Henry into his family again. I think you
must by this time have received accounts of our second action
with the French, and I hope we have contrived to put John
Buli in good humour with ns as far as we went. However,
it is very probable he will expect that we should have gone
further; and I must confess that for once we cannot call him
unreasonable. 1 believe he will have the greater part of us on
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his side. Our success was certainly brilliant, but we lost the
opportunity of making it substantial ; and the opinion is almost
universal that it might have been decisive.

¢ Sir Arthur Wellesley had only to do with the favourable
side of the picture; but it has been sadly daubed. Sir John
Moore has joined us with his whole force; we have now an
army of 30,000 men in this country. Weare all praying that
Spain or Italy will be our next destination. We march from
hence to-morrow, but I believe we are not allowed to enter
Lisbon for some time. I dare say I shall have another oppor-
tunity of writing to you soon. I meant after I had finished
this to have written a long letter to Colonel Douglas, but I
have just received an order from headquarters to assist in
copying a plan of the country immediately.

‘I believe you will not find out where we are from the top
of my letter; we are about ten miles from Torres Vedras, and
about twenty from Lisbon.’ '

¢ Quetus: September 19, 1808.

‘I have never written to you yet since we landed that I
have not been hurried, and now that I have a little time
allowed me more than usual I find I have so much to say to
you that I scarcely know how to begin; and I shall not have
told you half of what I mean to do when I have ended. With
regard to the military part of our proceedings, I have this
afternoon for the first time got a peep at the despatches copied
from the ZLondon Gazette, and they give you a fuller
account of all that has passed than I should be able to give
you; and as I do flatter myself we have no character to clear
%n this instance, any illustration of these accounts would be
impertinent. Besides, though I allow you all credit for feeling
a sufficient interest in our public successes, I know you have
not quite so much of the Roman lady about you as to be en-
tirely dead to feelings of a more humble description ; and
therefore I think I cannot begin my history with a piece of
new's more acceptable to you—if I am not unfortunately the
reta}ller of it—than Henry’s appointment to the situation of
major of brigade. As you will in all probability not under-
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stand this rank, I must explain it to you. The pay and rani
are the same as those of aide-de-camp; the officer has the
rank of major during the time he holds the employment, and
he is not considered as generally belonging to the general’s
family so much as the aide-de-camp. The situation is more
independent. Henry is attached to General Acland, whom
neither he nor I knew before his appointment, but he is very
highly spoken of.

¢TI have not seen H. since his appointment; it is now, I
think, ten days; we have been with opposite parts of the army.
To-morrow I go into Lisbon, where I have every hope of see-
ing him. This appointment has lighted upon him in the nick
of time, for the day after it, I think, his regiment received
orders to march to Almeida, a garrison town on the fronmtier,
nearly 200 miles from hence, and they are now on their
march. G

¢TI have only passed through Lisbon once since we have had
possession of it. I regret very much not having been able to
be more in the way of seeing the French during their em-
barkation ; but I have lost no time, whenever I have had an
opportunity, of making whatever remarks I could upon them.
You will, T dare say, think me a curious being for making such
a confession; but I really cannot help telling you that the
lower orders of them (I mean the soldiers) appear to me very
amiable ; they are civil, obliging, and gallant to a degree, and
I don’t believe half the stories that are told of them. The
Portuguese are by no means favourites with us, I assure you;
nothing can exceed the joy they express at our being among
them, and their delivery from the French; but the homage they
pay us is of so abject a cast that we cannot help losing all re-
spect for them; and although it is only proper that they
should show every mark of respect to the English, since it is
to their exertions they owe everything, they do it in so shame-
less a manner, at the same time that they have shown so little
activity in the cause which should rouse all their energies,
that they give by this means the strongest proof of their being
a weak and degenerate people. They certainly are so in a
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very great degree, and they have many unamiable features in
their character into the bargain. You will say I am deter-
mined not to be the panegyrist of this people ; but be this as
it may, I must give you an account of an acquaintance I have
made here within these few days, which I think will serve to
convince you that my abuse is not altogether prejudice, or at
least that it has bounds. At Lumiar, the last quarters we were
in, about four miles from hence, myself et un de mes camarades,
nous sommes entrés en soldats, dans la maison du Comte de
Lenicho. We did not certainly lay siege to the sweetmeats all at
once, as I have already confessed to you was the case in a more
inhospitable climate; but nous nous sommes trés bien établis
before we learnt who our noble host was. However, we have
had no reason to regret this piece of decision on our part, as it
has been the means of securing us a most valuable acquaint-
ance; for although the household deities of the ancients were
not more honoured than we have been in every house we have
passed through, we have never fallen into such good hands
before. The Count is rather of an advanced age; he is tho-
roughly a gentleman. I cannot describe him to you by com-
paring him to any one you know, because I have seen nothing
m England like him. If you recollect having read the < Cid,”
he put me more in mind of the father of Rodrigue than any-
thing I have seeo or read of. He has a large family of six
daughters and two sons, all young. It is singular that neither
the Countess nor any of the family, except himself, speak
French; so that we had very little conversation with them,
except when we wanted to make them laugh, and we seldom
failed when we attempted to address them in Portuguese. 1
must tell you I have grown bolder with my French since I
saw you last, so that I found myself quite at home with the
Count. It was something very striking when he took us over
his house, and showed us those parts of it which had been
plundered by the French. It has contained some furniture
exceedingly rich, and some excellent paintings, of which they
have (deprived him. All this we cannot help regretting when
we witness it, but the tameness with which they submitted to all
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these indignities as a nation is almost a bar against every feel-
ing of regret even in these instances. We lived three days
with the Count, and when I was ordered to join the camp
forming here, he first of all told me he remembered when very
young having rode out on a little pony, under the care of a
servant, to see the English camp, formed upon the ground we
now occupy at Quetus, under the Count de Lippe, in the year
sixty-two ; which, he said, delighted him very much. And then,
he desired that whenever I went to Lisbon I should find him
out; as he was willing to show me a great deal of atten-
tion; for his public business keeps him in town during the
week, and Sunday is the only day he is allowed to spend with
his family. So much for our romance, and I hope I shall
shortly be able to give you the sequel to it.

¢ I believe we are to have a large camp formed here of five-
and-twenty thousand men; how long we are to stay hewg, or
anywhere, I know not; but something tells me, we have more
to see before we return home; and as we have not burnt our
fingers yet, I dare say you will all think it very excusable in
us that we should wish this to be the case. I am writing now
in the Palace of Quetus; the royal family used frequently to
reside here, and since their departure Junot has had it fitted
up in very superb style, for the reception of the Emperor, who
had been expected here. He has collected the plunder of
other of the palaces and principal houses, and assembled it here.
‘We have several of us been laughing together this evening at
the strange sort of life we have been leading lately ; sleeping
almost indifferently, under the roof of a palace, a shed, or a
bush, but I believe we never were happier. Sir Arthur
Wellesley has left us, to our infinite regret; I was with his
division of the army the whole campaign; his departure was
very sudden and unexpected.

¢ 21st, Lisbon.—I am writing at this moment in H.’s room ;
he has been obliged to go out very early this morning upon duty.

I shall write to you again soon; and 1 dare say we shall
be at rest, now the army is halted, but we have of late been
such perturbed spirits that the old maxim of there being a time
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CHAPTER VI.
1808-1809.

UNDER SIR JOHN MOORE—SENT ON TO BXAMINE ROADS INTO SPAIN--
ADVANCE—NO LETTERS —-RETREAT TO CORUNNA—DEATH OF SIR JOHN
MOORE—DANGEROUS VOYAGE HOME—CANTERBURY—COACH ACCIDENT.

SHoOrTLY after the Convention of Cintra, Sir Arthur
Wellesley sailed for Iingland ; and immediately after the news
of that convention reached England such a clamour arose that
Sir Hew Dalrymple was recalled, and the command of the
army was left in the hands of Sir Harry Burrard. At the
same time Sir John Moore was appointed to the chief com-
mand of an army to be employed in Spain. Lord Castlereagh
signified to Sir John that ¢the force placed under his com-
mand, amounting to 20,000, was to co-operate with the
Spanish armies in the expulsion of the French from that
kingdom.” A further force of 10,000 was sent under Sir D. ‘
Baird to Corunna. Napoleon was at the same time massing

an immense army to descend upon Spain to wipe out the
disgraceful defeat of Dupont’s army by the Spaniards at
Baylen, and that of Junot by the English at Vimiera. He
was then pouring 200,000 French troops past the Pyrenees,
and the disorganised Spanish Junta had nothing but raw
levies to oppose him. The task assigned to Sir John Moore
seemed hopeless in the extreme, but he laboured hard to over-
come the great difficulties of his position. He decided to
effect a junction with Baird’s army by land in preference to
taking his troops by sea to Corunna, chiefly because it was
known that in Galicia it would be impossible to procure
supplies and transport for so large a force. But the Portu-
guese were ignorant even of their own country, and no correct



110 The Eavlier Letters and Fournals of  [1808.

information could be obtained about the roads; and the army,
being new to regular campaigning, were quite unused to
contrive expedients for such a march—added to which was

reat want of ready money.
the . d i ¢ Lisbon : October 13, 1808.

¢ Sir John Moore marches immediately into Spain, at the
head of twenty thousand men, detached from this army ; and
H. and myself are both fortunate enough to be among the
elect. H. some time ago (at least a fortnight) set out after
his brigade on the road to Elvas; and by the accounts I have
received of his progress, from different eye-witnesses, he must
have reached his point before this. He has been most fortun-
ate in his weather; he travelled alone—at least, accompanied
only by his servants and baggage. But he is experienced in
this sort of adventure, since you well know that he travelled
seven hundred miles, in the same manner, through the wilds
of Canada, and all for pleasure.

¢ I yesterday received instructions to proceed this morning on
the road towards Almeida ; a division of the army marches in
this direction, and they are not at all satisfied with the accounts
given them of this route. The high-road is through Leyria
and Coimbra, turning the chain of the Estrellas by the left,
but this road is too long to be undertaken by us at present, and
we expect to meet serious obstacles in the road we propose fol-
lowing. My directions are, therefore, to discover what means
there are on the road for the quartering of troops, so that they
may be under cover after each day’s march ; and how far the
country is practicable for the passage of artillery. The French
came with one column in this direction, but their artillery was
very light.  This is to be my route ; through Santarem, Torres
Novas, Thomar, Cardigio (making all inquiries respecting the
high-road through Abrantes to Cardigfio); from Cardigiio to
Castel Branco, Guarda, and Almeida, and return by Sabugal
and Pefiamacor to Castel Branco. From Cardigdo there is like-
wise a road more north, and passing over the ridge of the Estrel-
las ; about this I am to make all inquiries. From Castel Branco,
by a third route, crossing the Tagus twice, through Garvido to
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Abrantes, where I meet the division that is to undertake this
march., Now, I think you will allow that I have no small
work on hand, and as I am to be as quick as possible aboat it,
you need be under no apprehensions of my passing my time in
the mnountains of the Estrellas, @ la Quichotte in the Sierra
Morena. My equipment is as follows: I take two servants,
one for myself, the other for my horses ; and I have an interpre-
ter (a deserter from the French), an [talian, who speaks French,
Portuguese, and Spanish, so that we shall get cn fluently. I
take two horses, a Spaniard, and an English one ; fortunately,
they are both excellent. I have a mule for my baggage, so
that we are all mounted, and at seven o’clock this morning we
start. Adieu, therefore, for the present; you shall hear from
me in the course of my peregrinations. . . .’

The letters to his sister here break off, the next being a
short note dated from Portsmouth, January 26, 1809, after
the voyage from Corunna. It is only from scattered memo-
randa written on different occasions in later years that one can
gather what part Captain Gomm took in Sir John Moore’s
campaign. )

Owing to the wretched state of the roads and to the im-
poverished state of the country, Sir John had found himself
obliged to divide his forces, for it was not till after many of
the regiments were actually in movement that it was reported
that the Portuguese roads north of the Tagus were imprac-
ticable for artillery. Colonel Lopez, who had been sent by
the Spanish Government to assist Sir John Moore, confirmed
what Captain Gomm reported after he had examined the line.
It was this that compelled the despatch of the artillery by the
circuitous western road by Elvas to Salamanca, while the rest
of the army marched in three columns by the two banks of the
Tagus, and by the coast road to Coimbra. Sir John Moore
himself says, ¢ The army ran the risk of finding itself in front
of the enemy with no more ammunition than the men carried
in their pouches; but had I waited until everything was
forwarded the troops would not have been in Spain until
the spring, and I trust that the enemy will not find out
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our wants as soon as they will feel the effects of what we
have.’ ]

On November 13, when Sir John Moore reached Sala-
manca, news of the entire defeat of the Spanish armies by the
French were brought to him, and he found that instead of
having a victorious Spanish force to cover his advance there
was not a Spanish soldier in his front, and the enemy were
reported to be at hand in overwhelming numbers. The armies
with which he had been ordered to communicate had been
dispersed to the winds. He had no fresh orders from home,
and no communications from the Spanish Government, while
from the rumours which were prevalent it appeared as if the
different detachments of the British army were advancing into
the arms of the enemy. Under these circumstances Sir John
Moore sent out for information of the whereabouts of the
enemy’s forces at Valladolid. A memorandum inserted in Sir
William Gomm’s handwriting in Fullom’s ¢ Life of Sir Howard
Douglas’ shows the part he bore in this matter : —

¢ The measures in progress for assembling the British army
at Salamanca towards the close of the autumn of 1808 gave
occasion to a “raid ” of which I am tempted to insert a brief
account among these pages. :

¢ The principal column marched through central Portugal
to its point. . A second column took the route by the Tagus
and Madrid. A third (under Baird) landed at Corunna and
advanced by Lugo and Astorga.

¢ The first column was reaching its point, while the others
would require several weeks more for the completion of
their march. In the meantime the French had routed the Spanish
armies with which we were advancing to co-operate, and Sir
John Moore received intimation from the Supreme Junta
assembled at Aranjuez that they had broken up from Burgos,
and were advancing in force upon Valladolid and Salamanca.
This intelligence, if confirmed, would render imperative the
counter-march of the three British columns without a moment’s
delay into Portugal and Galicia,

¢ An officer of the Quartermaster-General’s Department



zr. 24.] Str William Maynard Gomm. 113

was called for to ride forth, not in quest of adventure, but
of reliable information on the momentous question mooted,
towards Valladolid, and the lot fell upon the reporter. A
Spanish officer was given me for companion, and in the grey
of a murky November morning we set out together courier-
wise upon post-horses, sadly jaded, poor fellows, by incessant
to-and-fro-ing of estafettes at that busy period.

¢ The distance from Salamanca to Valladolid is between
sixty and seventy English miles of perfectly flat, open country.
Something short of half the journey was thrown behind with-
out occurrence worthy of note, and then my Castilian comrade
was moved to cry, “Hold, enough!” and the route was
pursued by me alone.

¢ A flight of an unusual description soon arrested my atten-
tion, looming in the distance over the landscape without tree
or shrub. 'When neared it proved to be my Lady Prioress
and all her nuns escaping from French capture out of Valla-
dolid, and hastening to take refuge in Salamanca. A little
gentle parler ensued, in the course of which I was recom-
mended to turn and do likewise ; but the spirit of adventure,
or of curiosity, or of whatever else proved more potent, and it
was on, on for the next meeting. And this turned up in the
shape of the military governor of the city, vowing that the
French had entered en masse at one gate while he shot aut at
another, and that going further ahead would be a brainless
proceeding.

¢ This was the governor who was treated with such little
ceremony in poor Sir John Moore’s report home. The
general, however, prevailed no better than the nuns, and as
the shades of evening came on Valladolid was entered; the
whole city as silent and as empty as Pompeii at the same hour
till the Alameda was reached, and then a shadowy group was
descried, suddenly brought to a stand by my approach as by
that of a mounted apparition. These were the municipality
of the city, expecting another visit of a thousand French
cavalry levying contributions and requiring news of us.
When informed that I came from Sir John Moore, the corregi-

I
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dor instantly lifted me off my horse, threw his cloak round
me, and hurried me off to his house, where he boarded and
bedded me for four or five hours and packed me off on my
return before the dawn, very stiff, furnished with a written
report of the limited extent to which the Junta’s information
was confirmed. By evening I was entering Sir John Moore’s
quarters with the report. Colonel Colborne (now Lord
Seaton), then military secretary, looking half incredulous and
something more at first, of the fact of Valladolid having been
really reached, but hastening with the letter to his anxious
chief, secured him a balmier rest through its contents than he
had for many a night enjoyed. It is needless to add that its
information outweighed that furnished by nuns and captain-
general, and that the columns advancing vid Astorga and
Madrid were not precipitately thrown back, the one upon
Portugal, the other upon Corunna, nor the assembling of
the army at Salamanca frustrated through false or exaggerated
reports gathered from a distance.’

In the meantime, the French, although not actually occupy-
ing Valladolid and so threatening the English position at
Salamanca, had pushed on, led by Napoleon in person, to the
walls of Madrid, which surrendered to him on December 4.
This was unknown to Moore at the time, and it is not to be
wondered at that his information of the real position of
affairs was halting when we find that actually on the eve of
their unconditional surrender of the capital, Don Morla, the
Governor, sent messengers to Moore to ask him to advance to
Madrid to co-operate with the Spaniards, concealing from him
the numbers of the French and the utter inability of the
Spaniards to hold their own against them.

In order, therefore, to relieve Madrid, Sir John Moore
decided on attempting to cut the French communications
between Madrid and France, and about December 13 moved
northward to the Douro. When this information was com-
municated to Napoleon, he at onceappreciated the correctness
of the movement, and saying, < Moore is the only general now
fit to contend with me: I shall advance against him in person,’
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pushed on with his wonted impetuosity towards Benavente in
order to destroy him. In the face of Napoleon’s vastly superior
numbers Sir John Moore then commenced that most difficult
of all military manceuvres—a well-ordered retreat before a
superior force.

At Astorga, on January 1, Napoleon had to relinquish
the pursuit and hurry back to France, leaving the com-
mand to Soult, and till the middle of January the weary
retreat was continued up to Corunna. It is hard to imagine
a more miserable plight than the army was in; the men were
with the greatest difficulty kept in anything like order, many
straggled from the ranks, tarried behind, hid themselves in
houses, broke open wine cellars, and were left behind intoxi-
cated. The sick and wounded were also necessarily left
behind ; much of the baggage and stores had to be abandoned
or destroyed, and even the casks containing the money had to
share the same fate, as the means of transport were lamentably
insufficient, and even what they had was continually breaking
down. The whole army was dispirited, sullen, and despondent ;
while the reserve, which continued obedient and orderly, was
almost daily engaged sharply with the enemy. Under these
trying circumstances the conduct of the brave commander
shone forth with wonderful brilliancy; he was everywhere
encouraging his men, praising the gallant conduct of those
who so repeatedly repulsed the enemy, and did all that man
could do to maintain order, and to keep heart in the
men under such adverse circumstances, Captain Gomm
had been ordered to rejoin his own regiment, the 9th,
owing to the want of regimental officers, and it is to be
regretted that there are none of his graphic letters to his
sister describing this trying retreat, Before the middle of
January they arrived at Corunna, and Moore’s undaunted
soul, though the expected transports were not yet arrived,
rejected the counsels of those who proposed to open negotia-
tions with Soult. He determined to extricate his army from
its perilous position with honour, in spite of the enemy. On

the evening of January 14 the transports arrived, and during
12
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the 15th and 16th the troops were successfully embarked, after
repulsing the attacks of the enemy on the }5th, and in. the
fierce general battle of the 16th crowning their retreat with a
signal victory over the whole army of Soult, 20,000 strong.

The victory, however, was dearly won, for the heroic
Moore was killed. To the 9th Regiment was consigned the
sad though honourable duty of burying him on that fatal
evening.

It was they who ‘slowly and sadly laid him down, from
the field of his fame fresh and gory;’ and it was they who
were the last of the British force to embark in the darkness of
the night. Captain Gomm himself commanded the very last
picket. A memorandum in his own handwriting is inserted in
his copy of Fullom’s ¢ Life of Sir Howard Douglas,” p. 100,
against the remark about the embarkation that the movement
was covered by the rearguard which held the land fronts of
the fortifications across the isthmus, facing the enemy, who
watched for the moment when these should be evacuated
leaving the rearguard at his mercy. Colonel Douglas saw the
danger, and resolved to make an effort to ward it off, which he
did by making over the forts to the Spaniards. The arrange-
ment was carried out, but not unnoted by the French, who
brought up their field guns and opened fire on the transports.
The terrors of the scene were heightened by the darkness of
the night. The admiral signalled for the transports to make -
off, and more than a hundred slipped their cables, running
before the wind out of the bay, and heaving to in the offing,
while the rearguard mustered on the beach within the citadel.
A number of the transports ran foul of each other, entangling
their rigging, while some were wrecked.

Colonel Douglas waited to watch the embarkation of the
rearguard, as it threatened to be hazardous—the transports
being only accessible by a long pull to seaward ; and casualties
might have occurred if Sir Samuel Hood had not sent all his
boats to bring the troops to the Barfleur and Resolution lying
near the shore, which he turned into receiving ships.

‘The last fragment of rearguard withdrawn from the
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heights consisted of my own company of the 9th Regiment;
the regiment which had just

Buried him darkly at dead of night,
With his martial cloak around him.

We were thus the last British remnants (I believe I was the
last English fighting man) embarking, and were forced in
consequence to thread the whole fleet in the turbid dark in
quest of a berth. ¢ No room, three in a bed all round,” was
all the answer we got. In despair striking out largely we
made for a lone ship in the distance, outermost in the forest of
sea-craft, and at first thought they were cruelly joking us when
we got for reply, “Oh yes, plenty of room.” This was the
headquarter store-ship, which had been cannonaded in the
morning by the French from the heights, and when deserted
by its crew, compass and all, was carried out of harm’s way by
a mate and boat’s ecrew from the admiral’s ship, who had
witnessed the desertion. We sailed before dawn. Stormy
weather, but a fair wind, soon dispersed the fleet and bore us
independently into the chops of the channel. Then came on
a storm ahead, and tempested us about several dark days and
nights of blank uncertainty as to our whereabouts. The
stout mate who headed us came up to me saying, “ They have
left us no means of ascertaining where we are. I will keep
the best look-out I can, but I know as little as you do about
our actual whereabouts.” At last, on the fifth morning, the
miste rising in perfect calm, we recognised the point of St.
Helen’s abreast of us, and a dismasted frigate ahead of us
gliding softly into Spithead. Our worthy mate was presently
promoted by the Admiralty upon the report made to it of the
gallant and seamanlike care he had taken of his unlooked-for
charge.’
¢ Portsmouth : January 26, 1809.

¢ My pEAR SopHIA,—I lose not a moment in letting you
hear of my arrival at Spithead this morning in a very crazy
ship. However, I am very fortunate in being the first of the
regiment that has arrived; the rest, however, are on board
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ships of war and have put into Plymouth; no doubt we shall
have them round to-morrow. Henry is not here; but be
under no apprehensions about him, because he embarked at
Corunna in the Zealous, a ship of the line, and I have just
seen an officer arrived from Plymouth with the account of all
the ships of war with the fleet and a number of transports
having gone into Plymouth. He will most likely have an
opportunity of paying his respects to you before I shall, not
being immediately attached to his regiment. Through the
kind intercession of General Brownrigg, I have been obliged
to join mine ever since we left Salamanca, having become the
eldest captain of it.! General Brownrigg is here himself,
regulating the quarters of the troops. The 9th go to Canter-
bury ; write to me there. T dare say we shall reach it in five
days. Henry and myself are both perfectly well. I am
writing in a great hurry, as the general has given me a job
which requires that I should set about it immediately. My
very best love to aunt and Miss Goldsworthy,
‘Your ever affectionate brother,
‘Wu. Gomm’

After their return from Corunna the 9th Regiment remained
at Canterbury, but in the middle of the year it became rumoured
that they were to be sent out somewhere again. Speaking of
the operations in Portugal, in a letter to his sister in June 1809,
Captain Gomm says: < We are certainly making a very grand
display in that quarter, but it can only be compared, I think,
to our playing the pawn game successfully in one corner of
the chess-board while we are receiving checkmate in another;
and as to our sending a flimsy force to gain a footing in Ger-

many, which they seem to talk of at present, we may as well
send them to Brobdingnag.’

! At the end of the year the regiment stood as follows. Colonel Robert
Brownrigg ; Lieut.-Col. Henry de Berniere; Lieut.- Col. John Cameron; Lieut.-
Col. George Molle; Major Henry Crawfurd; Major David Campbell; Major
Thomas Aylmer; Captain Peter Lambert; Captain William M. Gomm ; and 19
other captains; 46 Lieutenants; 19 Ensigns.
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‘When the expedition for Walcheren was being got ready in
July 1809 Captain Gomm had been up to town, and on being
ordered to join the staff which was to embark at Ramsgate he
went down by coach. On the way they met with a mishap,
which he describes in a note to his sister.

¢ Canterbury : July 20, 1809.

‘MY DEAR SopHIA,—As I may not chance to have an
opportunity of writing before the post leaves Ramsgate this
evening if I wait till I arrive there, I think I had better take
advantage of a few spare moments, and give you my history so
far.

“The fact is I was overturned about six o’clock this
morning, and have gained a black eye by the bargain. If you
had seen the vehicle before it started you would only have
wondered how such an occurrence should have been put off till
we nearly reached Ospringe. I should be happy if I could
finish as little tragically as I have begun; but I have it left to
tell you of one poor man who was killed on the spot, and two
others whose legs were broken; these were all on the outside.
The coachman is likewise much hurt, but I cannot feel the
smallest regret at this; I am only sorry he was not a greater
sufferer in the place of one of those I have mentioned, for the
whole was owing to his own carelessness, or rather mischievous
indifference : for he was aware when we left Sittingbourne that
one of the springs had given way, but thought it too much
trouble either to make an attempt at repairing it or to warn us
of our situation. The consequence was that the whole weight
of the carriage falling upon the fore wheels, one of these shortly
gave way, and the whole came down on its side on the finest
road possible, and in broad daylight. In fact, I am positive
that the owners of this rotten concern were only waiting for an
event of this sort to close their account with it; for on examin-
ing it there was scarcely a part either of the tackling (as the
sailors call it) or body of the carriage that was not completely
worn out, and from this circumstance it is reduced to a wreck.
I think little short of transportation should follow such be-
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haviour. We did all we could to find out who the poor young
man was that it proved so fatal to; but in vain. As itis
attended with so many melancholy circumstances, it would be
indelicate in me to suppose that the idea of my getting a black
eye in this way should amuse you, as I am confident it would
under other circumstances. I must, however, assure you I
never took an insult of the sort with so much good humour ; for
to make my luck the greater there were five persons inside the
coach, and I was under the whole of them till we made use of
the window to extricate ourselves. To tell you the truth, I
believe Ishall passfor a day or two as having been engaged in
an “elegant little row,” as we say in Ireland; for nobody will
dream, nor shall T be able to insist upon it with a sufficient
degree of solemnity, that I.got it in fighting with a stage
coach.’
‘ Ramsgate: July 25, 1809.

¢ When I last wrote you from Canterbury I thought there
was little chance of our remaining here till this time. Here we
are, however, still, and I see no chance of our sailing for some
days, for the wind is directly against the fleet coming round
from Portsmouth ; and the naval people assure us it is not likely
to change till Wednesday or Thursday, when the moon like-
wise changes. As this delay, therefore, has taken place to such
an extent, and is likely to be continued, I cannot help thinking
we are very fortunate in putting up here in preference to going
with the rest of the army to Deal. 1 have not been over there
yet, but you may imagine what it must be—a dirty hole at
best, with very little accommodation of any kind, and filled at
this moment like a beehive, although, I am afraid, with a less
industrious population. Here we have only three or four
general officers with their staff. Lords Chatham and Huntly
are both here.

‘My black eye, I am happy to tell you, is disappearing
very graciously. I do not know whether you are much
acquainted with the nature of its progress in the human coun-
tenance; but this much I may tell you, that it is more easily
got than got rid of. Tts retreat always is very solemn and
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CHAPTER VIL
1809.
WALCHEREN EXPEDITION.
‘ Middelburg : August 2, 1809.

¢ As this is the first opportunity that has been offered to us
of writing since our landing, I shall not have kept you longer
than it was possible to help, and this is certainly a pleasing
reflection to me. Our passage from the Downs was something
like one of the excursions the royal family used to take from
‘Weymouth.

¢We weighed anchor at four in the morning, and were off
the coast of Walcheren at three in the afternoon of the 29th.
On the 30th, in the afternoon, we landed on the Bree Sands;
you will see it on the map, between West Capel and the town
of Vere. Itwas the finest thing of the kind, perhaps, that ever
was witnessed, whether we consider the force of the fleet that was
collected, the judgment and good order with which the whole
was planned by the navy, or the spirit and national character
that was so admirably supported by the troops. It is not fair to
take into consideration that no opposition was offered, because,
at the time of landing, we had every reason to expect from the
nature of the shore, and from other circumstances, that it
would have been disputed; and it was under this idea that,
when the troops were all in the boats, and rowed off from the
shipping to gain the shore, they sent up a general and continued
shout, that came nearer to the idea of Milton, when he de-
scribes the exultation of the fallen angels at the uprearing of
their standard, than anything I can conceive. The fort of
Haak, which you will see on the map, and the batteries at Vere
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fired some round shot and shell, which were returned from the
frigates and gunboats anchored in shore to cover the landing.
The whole made up the most animating scene I ever witnessed,
and nothing was wanting but some opposition at the point of
landing to render it perfect in its kind.
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